### **University of Alberta**

Hippocampal neuroplasticity and neurogenesis in major depressive disorder: a high field MRI study

by

Yushan Yu Xiang Huang

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

Centre for Neuroscience

©Yushan Yu Xiang Huang Fall 2012 Edmonton, Alberta

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Libraries to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only. Where the thesis is converted to, or otherwise made available in digital form, the University of Alberta will advise potential users of the thesis of these terms.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis and, except as herein before provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatsoever without the author's prior written permission.

## Dedication

To my parents, who have made many sacrifices for me to be where I am today, your care throughout a lifetime's journey across the globe, constant support for my endeavours and faith in my decisions even from over a thousand miles away has fueled my motivation to push myself to persevere and continue aiming higher.

And to my friends and colleagues, both locally in the university and afar, who have been another source of constant moral support for continuously encouraging me and not giving up hope in me.

## Abstract

The hippocampus is a brain structure responsible for memory, learning, and the stress response; it is also used as a model for major depressive disorder (MDD) in preclinical studies. Preclinical models have shown that the hippocampal subfields are differentially affected by chronic stress. Studies using magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) have shown reductions in hippocampal volumes MDD.

With the high-field 4.7 Tesla MRI, we have for the first time analyzed the hippocampal subfields *in vivo* in patients with MDD and healthy controls. Our data suggest that MDD patients had smaller volumes of the cornu ammonis (CA) and dentate gyrus (DG) subfields of the hippocampus, which contributed to an overall reduction in the total volume of the hippocampus and its subregions. Our results also suggested that antidepressant treatment might reverse these volumetric reductions in the CA and DG subfields as suggested previously in preclinical studies.

## Acknowledgements

Thanks first and foremost goes to my supervisor, Dr. Nikolai Malykhin, for providing the unique privilege for me to be a part of this exciting project and being such a big part of this challenging scientific adventure by providing invaluable guidance throughout the years. Thanks for the countless patience, time, resources, and effort you put into this constant support.

Special thanks go to our clinical collaborators – Dr. Nick Coupland and Rawle Carter who were key contributors to this project in the recruitment, clinical assessment, and treatment of the patients who participated in the study.

I would also like to thank my co-supervisor Dr. Glen Baker for helping me with my courses, including the opportunity for me to participate in a research project that opened new perspectives for me, and of course always spending so much time to generously help me with my writing and presentations.

Additional thanks to Dr. Alan Wilman, Dr. Marc Lebel, and Peter Seres from the department of biomedical engineering for their contributions to the development of the MRI methods employed in this study.

I would also like to thank the Centre for Neuroscience for the support, as a great interdisciplinary academic society formed by great administrative staff, professors, and students that I'm proud of being part of. The other regulars at the Research Transition Facility have also been a great community that I am grateful for - our geographic proximity has allowed us to share many interdisciplinary ideas from neuroscience, biomedical engineering, and physics and fostered great friendships between all of us. This research was funded by University of Alberta Hospital Foundation (PI - N. Malykhin) and a stipend from the Centre of Neuroscience in the University of Alberta. The results have been presented in part at the 34<sup>th</sup> and 35<sup>th</sup> Annual Meetings of the Canadian College of Neuropsychopharmacology (CCNP) in Montréal, Québec and Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada, in 2011 and 2012, respectively.

# Table of Contents

Chapter 1: Hippocampal Anatomy1
1.1 Introduction to the Hippocampus2
1.2 Hippocampal Divisions4
1.2.1 Longitudinal Divisions (Hippocampal Subregions)4
1.2.2 The Cornu Ammonis6
1.2.3 The Dentate Gyrus11
1.2.4 The Subiculum13
1.2.5 Adjacent Structures14
1.2.6 Connections to Other Structures17
1.3 Magnetic Resonance Imaging of the Hippocampus
Chapter 2: Functions of the Hippocampus25
2.1 Overview
2.2 Learning and Memory26
2.3 Spatial Navigation
2.4 Functions of the Hippocampal Subregions and Subfields
2.5 Conditions with Altered Hippocampal Volumes
Chapter 3: Major Depressive Disorder, Stress, and the Hippocampus: from Preclinical Models of Stress to Clinical MRI Studies in MDD
3.1 Overview of Major Depressive Disorder
3.2 Stress and the Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Adrenal Axis
3.3 Preclinical Models of Stress and Effects of Stress on the Hippocampus45
3.4 Changes in the Hippocampus in Major Depression: Clinical Studies52

## (Chapter 3)

3.5 Other Structural Brain Changes Associated with Major Depression56
3.6 Postmortem Studies of the Hippocampus in MDD patients
3.7 Changes in Hippocampal Neurogenesis in Preclinical Models of Stress60
3.8 The Effect of Antidepressants on Hippocampal Neuroplasticity and Neurogenesis64
Chapter 4: Objectives and Hypotheses71
4.1 Objectives
4.2 Hypotheses
Chapter 5: Methods74
5.1 Recruitment of Subjects75
5.1.1 Recruitment and Assessment75
5.1.2 Inclusion Criteria75
5.1.3 Exclusion Criteria76
5.2 MRI Data Acquisition and Analysis77
5.2.1 Image Acquisition77
5.2.2 Contrast Adjustment78
5.3 Image Analysis80
5.3.1 Image Processing and Segmentation80
5.3.2 Tracing Protocol80
5.3.3 Reliability Testing90
5.4 Statistical Analyses

Chapter 6: Results94
6.1 Demographic Statistics95
6.2 Hippocampal Subregional Volumes97
6.3 Hippocampal Subfield Volumes101
Chapter 7: Discussion106
7.1 General Finding107
7.2 Differences in the Global Volume of the Hippocampus and its Subregions Associated with MDD and Antidepressant Treatment108
7.3 Differences Amongst Hippocampal Subfields in MD111
7.4 Postmortem Studies in MDD and Animal Studies of Stress115
7.5 Limitations
7.6 Conclusions124
References125
Appendices
Appendix A: More Images Illustrating Hippocampal Anatomy161
Appendix B: Permission for the Use of Copyrighted Material168

# List of Tables

5.1: Relative Shading Levels of Grey Matter, White Matter, and CSF (in MRI)	79
5.2: Reliability for Tracing the Hippocampus	91
6.1: Subject Characteristics	96
6.2: P-values of Demographic Variables and ICV	96
6.3: Comparison of Volumes Between the Controls and MDD Groups	98
6.4: Comparison of Volumes Between the Controls and Unmedicated and Medicated MDD Groups	99

# List of Figures

1.1: Subfields of the Hippocampus and Surrounding Structures	3
1.2: A Sagittal View of the Hippocampus	5
1.3: The Hippocampus and its Subfields	8
1.4: Cellular Differences Between Neurons in the Regions of the CA	10
1.5: The layers of the DG	12
1.6: The Hippocampus and its Surrounding Structures	15
1.7: Anatomical Section of the Hippocampus and its Surrounding Structures.	16
3.1: The HPA Axis	40
3.2: Neurotransmitter and Glucocorticoid Action (in Regulating Cellular Changes)	49
5.1: Comparisons of Grey Matter, White Matter, and CSF (in MRI)	79
5.2: Full-Brain Manual Segmentation of MPRAGE Scans to Calculate ICV Values	81
5.3: The Hippocampal Body (Anatomical Boundaries)	83
5.4: The Hippocampal Tail	85
5.5: The Hippocampal Head	87
5.6: A 3-Dimensional Reconstruction of the Right Hippocampus	89
6.1: Total Mean Volumes for the Hippocampal Subregions	100
6.2: Mean Volumes for the Cornu Ammonis in Hippocampal Subregions	103
6.3: Mean Volumes for the Dentate Gyrus in the Various Subregions	104
6.4: Mean Volumes for the Subiculum in the Various Subregions	105

<b>Figures</b> in A	Appendix A	(More	Images	Illustrating	Hip	pocampa	l Anatomy):
I ISUI OD III I	-ppontanz 11	(111010	mages	mashamb	mp	pocumpe	in r macomy).

A.1: Differences Between the Rat and Human Hippocampi	.162
A.2: Layers of the Hippocampus	.163
A.3: The Direct Intrahippocampal Pathway	.165
A.4: Cortical Connections to and from the Direct Intrahippocampal Pathway	.166
A.5: The Polysynaptic Intrahippocampal Pathway	.167
A.6: Cortical Connections to and from the Polysynaptic Intrahippocampal Pathway	.168

## List of Abbreviations

- 2-D Two-Dimensional
- 3-D Three-Dimensional
- 5-HT 5 Hydroxytryptamine (also: serotonin)
- 5-HT1A 5 Hydroxytryptamine Receptor, Subtype 1A
- 5-HT2A 5 Hydroxytryptamine Receptor, Subtype 2A
- 5-HTT 5 Hydroxytryptamine Transporter
- ACTH Adrenocorticotropic Hormone (also: corticotrophin)
- ANCOVA Analysis of Covariance
- BDNF Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor
- BOLD Blood Oxygen Level Dependent
- BrdU Bromodeoxyuridine
- BZ Benzodiazepine
- CA (1-4) Cornu Ammonis (Areas 1-4)
- CIS Chronic Immobilization Stress
- cm Centimetre(s)
- CREB Cyclic Adenosine Monophosphate Response Element Binding
- CRH Corticotrophin-Releasing Hormone
- CT (CAT) Computed (Axial) Tomography
- CTQ Childhood Trauma Questionnaire
- CSF Cerebrospinal Fluid
- CV Coefficient of Variation
- d.f. Degrees of Freedom

- DG Dentate Gyrus
- Diag. Diagnosis
- DSM (IV) Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (fourth edition)
- DTM Diffusion Tensor Microscopy
- ECS Electroconvulsive Shock
- ECT Electroconvulsive Therapy
- fMRI Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging
- FOV Field of View
- FSE Fast Spin Echo (sequence)
- GABA γ-Aminobutyric Acid
- GR Glucocorticoid Receptor
- GRE Gradient-Recalled Echo (sequence)
- HC Hippocampus
- HDRS Hamilton Depression Rating Scale
- HIOC N-[2-(5-hydroxy-1H-indol-3-yl)ethyl]-2-oxopiperidine-3-carboxamide
- HPA Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Adrenal (axis)
- ICC Intraclass Correlation Coefficient
- ICV Intracranial Volume
- MAO Monoamine Oxidase
- MAOI Monoamine Oxidase Inhibitor
- MASQ Mood and Anxiety Symptom Questionnaire
- MCI Mild Cognitive Impairment
- MDD Major Depressive Disorder

- MDE Major Depressive Episode
- mm Millimetre(s)
- MNI Montreal Neurological Institute

MPRAGE Magnetization Prepared Rapid Acquisition Gradient Echo (sequence)

- MR Mineralocorticoid Receptor
- MRI Magnetic Resonance Imaging
- MRM Magnetic Resonance Microscopy
- ms Millisecond(s)
- MTL Medial Temporal Lobe
- NAS N-Acetylserotonin
- NERI Norepinephrine Reuptake Inhibitor
- NMDA N-Methyl-D-aspartic acid
- NPC Neural Progenitor Cell
- PASW Predictive Analytics Software
- PET Positron Emission Tomography
- PTSD Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder
- SAR Specific Absorption Rate
- SD Standard Deviation
- SE Spin Echo
- SGZ Subgranular Zone
- SNR Signal-to-Noise Ratio
- SNRI Serotonin-Norepinephrine Reuptake Inhibitor
- SPECT Single Photon Emission Computed Tomography

SPSS	Statistical Package for the Social Sciences		
SSRE	Selective Serotonin Reuptake Enhancer		
SSRI	Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitor		
Sub	Subiculum		
SVZ	Subventricular Zone		
Т	Tesla		
$T_1$	Longitudinal Relaxation Time		
$T_2$	Transverse Relaxation Time		
TCA	Tricyclic Antidepressant		
TE	Echo Time		
TI	Inversion Recovery Time		
TLE	Temporal Lobe Epilepsy		
TR	Repetition Time		
tx.	Treatment		
VBM	Voxel-Based Morphometry		
WMS (IV) Wechsler Memory Scale (Fourth Edition)			

# Chapter 1

# Hippocampal Anatomy



### 1.1 Introduction to the Hippocampus

The hippocampus (HC) is a structure in the medial temporal lobe (MTL), located at the inferior-medial terminal of the cerebral cortex in humans and other primates. Although research on the cortex proper and the HC have a sociological divide in the scientific community with little overlap, the HC is still very anatomically similar to the cortex proper, as it is a continuation of its grey matter (Braitenberg & Schuz, 1991). The brain has two hippocampi, mirrored in each hemisphere. The name for the HC comes from its curved shape, which is similar to that of a seahorse.

Across its transverse plane, the HC is composed of various subfields named the cornu ammonis (CA), dentate gyrus (DG), and subiculum (Sub) (see Figure 1.1), extending laterally from the Sub to the CA while curving back medially from the CA to the DG, similar to a ram's horn. The CA, also considered the "HC proper", is composed of pyramidal neurons which differ from area to area, and thus is divided into four different areas, CA1-4. The DG, or fascia dentata, located in the centre of the human HC, is composed of granular neurons. Finally, the Sub, contiguous with the CA1 and also composed of pyramidal neurons, is an anatomical transition between the HC and the entorhinal cortex (Duvernoy, 2005).

Among different mammalian model organisms, the hippocampal subfields are oriented in different positions. In the rat HC, the CA1 is superior (dorsal) to the CA3, whereas in humans the inverse is true. This is due to differences in the formation of the structure during development (see Figure A.1 in Appendix A).



Figure 1.1: Subfields of the HC and surrounding structures

1: DG (Latin: "toothed" ridge), 2: Last dentes of margo denticulatus (Latin: last "tooth" of the DG), 3: Fimbriodentate sulcus (the sulcus between fimbria and the DG), 4: Fimbria (a white matter tract extending across the HC), 5: Alveus ("hollow cavity"), 6: Sub

CA1: CA region 1 (Latin: "Amun's (ram-like) horn"), CA3: CA region 3 (Duvernoy, 2005) (Appendix B)

### 1.2 Hippocampal Divisions

#### 1.2.1 Longitudinal Divisions (Hippocampal Subregions)

Across the hippocampal longitudinal axis, the HC can be divided into three subregions: the head, body and tail. All three of these subregions contain all three of the subfields which will be discussed below: the CA1-4, DG, and Sub (see Figure 1.2). In humans, the transversely-oriented HC tail (curving medially from the body), is the most superior and posterior part of the HC. The HC body, oriented sagittally, connects the HC tail and the anterior and slightly inferior HC head. The HC head, oriented transversely, curves medially from the HC body while widening in diameter and showing digitations in the boundaries between the subfields .



Figure 1.2: A sagittal view of the HC (A) with its location in the brain, (B1) divided into its longitudinal divisions, or hippocampal subregions, along with coronal cross-sections of each subregion: the hippocampal (B2) tail, (B3) body, (B4) head. A 3-D reconstruction taking into account voxels from each slice is also shown in (C).

#### 1.2.2 The Cornu Ammonis

The CA, considered by many neuroanatomists as the "HC proper", envelopes the DG. It is divided into three layers: the cellular elements align in a single, narrow, and dense layer of pyramidal neurons, which are seen after Nissl staining as one dark band flanked on its two sides by lighter bands. On the contrary, the cortex proper has the aforementioned elements scattered throughout the layers into two fainter lines, even though it has very similar neurons - also named pyramidal neurons (Braitenberg & Schuz, 1991) (see Figure 1.3). The three layers of the CA together could be subdivided into six layers: the alveus and stratum oriens as the first light band following Nissl staining, the stratum pyramidale (dark after Nissl staining), and the strata radiatum, lacunosum and moleculare as the other light band (Duvernoy, 2005) (see Figure A.2 top in Appendix A). The pyramidal cells have their soma, which are triangular in the CA1 (with the triangles' bases facing the intraventricular side and apices facing the DG) and ovoid in the CA2, CA3 and CA4, located in the stratum pyramidale. Further toward the ventricular or exterior side of the HC, two more layers lie atop the stratum pyramidale: the stratum oriens and the alveus. In the stratum oriens and pyramidale, soma of basket cells lay scattered while sending arborizations to pyramidal soma, providing inhibitory  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid (GABA) inputs to modulate the pyramidal neurons (Olbrich & Braak, 1985). An apical dendrite extends from the pointed end, or apex, of each pyramidal neuron, until it reaches the hippocampal sulcus (a vestigial structure between the CA and DG formed during development and often disappears thereafter) at the end of the stratum

moleculare on the CA side. These apical dendrites, lined parallel to each other, give the stratum radiatum a striated texture. Septal and commissural fibres run along the strata radiatum and lacunosum, the latter stratum also containing perforant fibres from the entorhinal cortex. The strata radiatum and lacunosum, collectively known as the strata lacunosum-moleculare, mark the boundary between the DG and the CA / Sub; they do not technically belong to any single hippocampal subfield as they consist of layers of white matter tracts as opposed to the grey matter of the subfields. The stratum moleculare, also known as the molecular zone, does not contain many neurons aside from the ends of the apical dendrites of the pyramidal neurons and a few interneurons (Duvernoy, 2005). On the other side of the pyramidal soma, many dendrites arborize in the stratum oriens. The neural axon from the soma's basal side crosses the stratum oriens to the alveus, eventually projecting to the septal nuclei in the rostral corpus callosum. These axons also have Schaffer collaterals, which curve back to the other layers to connect with other pyramidal neurons' apical dendrites via the stratum radiatum (Duvernoy, 2005).





Although pyramidal neurons exist throughout the regions of the CA (CA1, CA2, CA3, and CA4, there are inter-regional differences in cell morphology and organization (see Figure 1.4) (Duvernoy, 2005). The pyramidal neurons of the CA1 tend to be small and scattered with triangular cells (Dam, 1979), while their counterparts in the CA2 and CA3 tend to have rounder, large, ovoid, and densely packed somata (relatively more dense in the CA2). The neurons in the CA1 are most affected in hypoxia, in comparison with the more hypoxia-resistant CA3 cells (Spielmeyer, 1927). The CA3's pyramidal somata, in the curve or genu of the CA, are surrounded by fine, unmyelinated mossy fibres compressed in the stratum lucidum, which is between the strata radiatum and pyramidale (Duvernoy, 2005). A smaller number of CA4 somata are also large and ovoid, scattered among large and myelinated fibres. Since the CA4 is enclosed by the DG, anatomists either include the former as part of the latter by many anatomists, or include both the CA4 and DG as part of the "area dentata" (Blackstad, 1956).



Figure 1.4: Cellular differences between neurons in the regions of the CA. Top-left – CA1 Top-right – CA2 Bottom-left – CA3 Bottom-right – CA4 (Duvernoy, 2005) (Appendix B)

#### 1.2.3 The Dentate Gyrus

The DG, across the vestigial hippocampal sulcus from the CA, consists of granular neurons with somata in the prominent stratum granulosum, the main layer of this subfield (see Figure A.2 bottom in Appendix A); the prominence of this layer is due to these neurons' densely packed, small, and round somata (see Figure 1.5). The granular neurons receive inputs from neurons from the perforant pathway, coming from the entorhinal cortex, and from commissural and septal fibres, coming from other granular neurons in the stratum granulosum. These inputs all come from the DG's own stratum moleculare, separated from the CA's thinner stratum moleculare by the vestigial hippocampal sulcus. The fibres from the perforant pathway run along the region of the stratum moleculare closer to the hippocampal sulcus (more apically along the granular axon), whereas the fibres from the commissural and septal fibres cross closer to the stratum granulosum (closer to the granular soma) (Cerbone et al., 1993). These fibres connect to a granular neuron via the latter's apical dendrite. On the opposite side of the DG, axons of the granular neurons extend as mossy fibres through the polymorphic, or plexiform, layer onto the CA4 and CA3 (Duvernoy, 2005).



Figure 1.5: The layers of the DG

- 1. The external / apical third of the stratum moleculare
- 2. The internal / basal third of the stratum moleculare
- 3. The stratum granulosum
- 4. The polymorphic layer

(Duvernoy, 2005) (Appendix B)

#### 1.2.4 The Subiculum

Medially from the CA1, the HC is joined to the Sub, which forms part of the parahippocampal gyrus. The Sub, which extends medially, is divided into the Sub proper, presubiculum, and parasubiculum. The presubiculum is packed with spotted clusters of small pyramidal neurons on its surface (Amaral et al., 1984; Braak & Braak, 1983). The Sub acts as a transitional layer between the sixlayered neocortex and the three-layered HC in the CA3 (Kiernan & Barr, 2005). Anatomically, it contains features of both areas. Similar to the cortex proper, the Sub's pyramidal neurons are arranged more diffusely than the CA's, but similar to the CA, the Sub has one layer of pyramidal neurons rather than two, making three total layers rather than five in the entorhinal cortex starting from the presubiculum (see Figure 1.3) (Braitenberg & Schuz, 1991).

Overall, the CA has the largest average area within the HC, while the DG has the second largest. Within the hippocampal tail, the CA's volume tends to predominate, while the volume of the Sub is lowest among the subfields. In the hippocampal body, the volume of the DG is highest, while the volume of the Sub is lowest again. Finally, in the hippocampal head, the CA is larger than the similarly sized DG and Sub (Malykhin et al., 2010a).

### 1.2.5 Adjacent Structures

Past the Sub, the entorhinal cortex continues along the cortex bilaterally, extending in the inferior direction. The two amygdalas, also functionally related to the HC as part of the limbic system, include grey matter that lies just anterior and superior to the hippocampal head of both hippocampi. Amygdalar connections are involved in olfactory and limbic functions (Aggleton, 1992; Duvernoy, 2005) (see Figures 1.6 and 1.7).



Figure 1.6: The HC and its surrounding structures

Top: Histological staining (intravascular India staining)

Bottom: Sketch of the boundaries (hippocampal head) with the various subfields.

1. CA, 2. Sub, 3. Uncal Sulcus, 4. Parahippocampal gyrus, 5. Uncal notch, 6. Ambient gyrus and entorhinal area, 7-13. Amygdala

(7. Cortical nucleus, 7'. Semilunar gyrus, 7" Semianular sulcus,

8. Entorhinal sulcus, 9. Medial nucleus, 10. Central nucleus,

11. Accessory basal nucleus, 12. Basal nucleus, 13. Lateral nucleus), 14. Lateral ventricle (temporal horn)

(Duvernoy, 2005) (Appendix B)



Figure 1.7: Anatomical section of the HC and its surrounding structures
1. Hippocampal head, 2. Lateral ventricle (inferior temporal horn),
3-5. Amygdala: 3. Lateral nucleus, 4. Basal nucleus, 5. Cortical nucleus
6. Ambient gyrus, 7. Parahippocampal gyrus, 9. Fusiform gyrus, 13. Temporal stem, 31. Anterior commissure (lateral part), 32. Optic tract
(Duvernoy, 2005) (Appendix B)

#### 1.2.6 Connections to Other Structures

In the direct pathway, signals originally from the visual system directly reach the apical dendrites of CA1 pyramidal neurons from the entorhinal cortex via the perforant path through the stratum lacunosum. These pyramidal neurons then send signals via the axons on their basal side, which project to the Sub, in turn projecting to the entorhinal area (Duvernoy, 2005) (see Figure A.3 in Appendix A). This path ultimately connects to the inferior temporal association cortex, which is connected with the inferior visual system. The inferior visual system is responsible for the recognition and description of objects, which implies that this path is involved with semantic memory of the HC (Duvernoy, 2005) (see Figure A.4 in Appendix A).

Another pathway originates in a large cortical area in the temporal and occipital cortices around and including the posterior parietal association cortex (see Figure A.6 in Appendix A) and eventually travels through a path called the polysynaptic intrahippocampal pathway through the HC. The polysynaptic pathway originates at the connection from the entorhinal cortex to the DG via glutamatergic excitatory perforant fibres passing through the Sub (see Figure A.5 in Appendix A). The perforant path's fibres, along with the mossy fibres of the granular cells that they are afferent to and the Schaffer collaterals (projecting from the CA3 to the CA1), form a unidirectional three-link chain unique to the cortex (Braitenberg & Schuz, 1991). The polysynaptic pathway is more complex than the direct pathway, as it involves many neurons in different sub-regions of the HC. The fibres of this pathway cross the hippocampal sulcus and travel through

the stratum moleculare of the DG to connect with the apical dendrites of the granular neurons (Cerbone et al., 1993). The granular neurons' mossy fibres, also with glutamatergic outputs, cross the polymorphic layer to stimulate the CA3 and CA4. The CA3 and CA4 send signals through their basal axons in the alveus to both the CA1 neurons and the fimbria. Their connections to the CA1 project via Schaffer collaterals to the apical dendrites in the strata radiatum and lacunosum. Aside from sending more projections to the fimbria through its axons in the alveus, the CA1 also produces glutamatergic collaterals to the Sub. The Sub's pyramidal neurons, finally, send the remainder of the signals through the alveus to the fimbria. At the end of the intrahippocampal pathway, the fimbria extends to the crus, or "leg" of the fornix, to later reach the anterior thalamic nucleus (to targets such as the intralaminar nuclei and hypothalamus) and then to various parts of the cingulate cortex (see Figure A.6 in Appendix A) (Duvernoy, 2005; Teyler & DiScenna, 1984).

### 1.3 Magnetic Resonance Imaging of the Hippocampus

Traditionally, neuroscientists could only obtain information on the human brain surgically, either in post-mortem studies, which could not provide information on the ongoing progression of changes in any individual *per se*, or in *in vivo* neurosurgery, which could not look into any brain structures without damaging them in a live subject. The advent of neuroimaging adds tremendously to our knowledge of the human brain by allowing us to visualize many of these structures non-invasively *in vivo*. The past few decades have seen a dramatic rise in the development of brain imaging techniques for visualizing brain structure (e.g. computed tomography (CT) or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI)) and activity (e.g. single photon emission computed tomography (SPECT), positron emission tomography (PET) and functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) (Andreasen, 1988)).

Thanks to the non-invasiveness of MRI studies, which lack ionizing radiation (used in CT scans), MRI has become an increasingly preferred method for the study of many anatomical features in the brain, including the HC (Geuze et al., 2005a). MRI methods have been shown to be very sensitive, precise, and reproducible when quantifying hippocampal volumetrics (Jack et al., 1990; Pantel et al., 2000), and have been utilized in recent decades to study many disorders.

Protocols in the literature include many different sequences for acquiring images, including the three-dimensional magnetization prepared rapid acquisition gradient echo (3D-MPRAGE) and the fast spin echo (FSE) sequence. The 3D-MPRAGE sequence uses an inversion pulse followed by an inversion recovery time (TI) to yield image contrast based on the longitudinal relaxation time ( $T_1$ ) with a short repetition time ( $T_R$ ). When optimized, it can yield relatively good white to grey matter contrast-to-noise ratios and is favoured over the steady-state gradient-recalled echo (GRE) sequence (Deichmann et al., 2000). The FSE sequence uses spin echo refocusing to minimize signal loss and allows for a contrast no worse than conventional spin echo (SE) sequences while taking a fraction of their time, allowing the extra time to be used to acquire higher spatial resolution images with excellent signal-to-noise ratios (SNRs) (Jackson et al.,

1997). This FSE method can produce excellent grey-white matter contrast based on differences in transverse relaxation times ( $T_2$ ). Although there is good reliability between scanners with field strengths of 0.5 Tesla (T) and 1.5T using  $T_2$  weighted imaging (Bartzokis et al., 1993a),  $T_2$  relaxation times and quality differ between the two magnet strengths (Bartzokis et al., 1993b). A comparison of measurements between the 1.5T and 4T also showed that imaging at a higher resolution allowed for superior visualization of hippocampal detail (Mueller et al., 2007) at a higher field.

Less than two decades ago, studies of the HC used slices 5 millimetres (mm) thick, allowing for very few slices per HC (Geuze et al., 2005a; Jack, 1994), but now, slices thinner than 1.5 mm are obtainable thanks to advances in MRI technology that have allowed for better resolution and faster scanning to provide the extra time to be used in obtaining more slices. Even though thicker slices may not result in systematically biased measurements and, through a fewer total number of slices, shorten the time required for manual tracing, the thinner slices reduce the error potentially due to single mistakes made on individual slices (Laakso et al., 1997).

Protocols for tracing the HC have also been constantly evolving. For early studies, researchers measured only the body of the HC as the easiest location to trace and used its volume with the assumption that it was a representative measure of total hippocampal volume (Bremner et al., 1995; Kaye et al., 1997; Kim et al., 1994). Other studies' measurements have included the hippocampal tail along with the body but not the head (Ashtari et al., 1991; O'Driscoll et al., 2001), or the

hippocampal head and body (Jack et al., 1989). Due to its proximity, the amygdala has often been included in measurements of the hippocampal head (Shenton et al., 1992). Even acquiring the image at a different angle can result in statistically significant differences in volumetric measurements (Hasboun et al., 1996). Protocols also vary in their inclusion of diagrams to support descriptions of borders defining the HC (Geuze et al., 2005a; Malykhin et al., 2007), which may be necessary due to the difficulty of separating the HC from the amygdala, especially under lower resolutions (Soinien et al., 1994; Watson et al., 1992). Finally, other studies included the entire HC in their measurements but leave it undivided (Cook et al., 1992; Soininen et al., 1994). More recent studies provided the volumetric protocols for all hippocampal subregions (Malykhin et al., 2007).

Consistency among measurements in each study is necessary to obtain valid results regarding hippocampal differences between scans, especially if a novel protocol is used. One important factor in the reproducibility and accuracy of measurements is the consistency of individuals performing said measurements, measured by intra-rater reliability measurements. Studies have demonstrated that good intra-rater consistency can be achieved for hippocampal measurements (Jack et al., 1990), but even when the same protocols with the same anatomical criterion are used, inter-rater reliability, or reliability of measurements between observers, is more difficult to achieve (Achten et al., 1998). Unfortunately, despite its importance, many protocols did not include reliability tests (Geuze et al., 2005a).

Since the size of the ventricles has been known to correlate with the volume of cranial structures in normal adults, normalizing the volumes of brain
structures to control for intersubject variations seems to be appropriate (Synek & Reuben, 1976; Zatz & Jernigan, 1983) to minimize the assignment of larger structural sizes to individuals with naturally larger cranial volumes. Although introducing another variable to correct for head or brain size variations may lower reliability (Arndt et al., 1991), it often permits better criterion validity, allowing for better association with age and diagnosis than raw, absolute volumes (Mathalon et al., 1993). While some studies do not use any correction factors (Geuze et al., 2005a), others have normalized their hippocampal volumes to intracranial volumes (ICVs) (Jack et al., 1992) or whole brain volumes (Soininen et al., 1994). A few studies have used a regressional formula to correct for this as well (Colchester et al., 2001; Jack et al., 1989; Kopelman et al., 2001).

Although some automatic segmentation methods are constantly being developed based on existing knowledge of hippocampal anatomy (Cardenas et al., 2003; Gosche et al., 2001; Hu et al., 2011), most protocols have used manual tracing on hippocampal volumetrics, while the protocols using automatic techniques such as thresholding and region growing still use them in conjunction with manual tracing (Geuze et al., 2005a; 2005b). Even current studies using protocols involving automatic segmentations sometimes use them in conjunction with manual tracing to verify measurements (Doring et al., 2011). Due to the variability of the shape of HC, possibly leading to only some of the subjects' hippocampi being recognized by an automatic method, manual tracing is still commonly used among researchers as the gold standard of volumetric MRI. This is true especially when the subfields of the HC are measured, as even recent automatic methods have only been at best able to measure the more uniform regions of the HC, such as the hippocampal body, rather than its entirety (Yushkevich et al., 2010).

A major limitation of hippocampal 1.5T MRI studies is that they have not resolved the inner structure of the HC (Geuze et al., 2005a). More recent studies have aimed to improve the spatial resolution of hippocampal MRI by using gains in SNR at high fields: 7.0 - 14.1T in ex vivo studies and 3.0 - 7.0T in vivo (Malykhin et al., 2010a). Ex vivo approaches have included magnetic resonance microscopy (MRM) and diffusion tensor microscopy (DTM) at resolutions of to 0.06\*0.06\*0.3 to 0.08\*0.08\*0.05 mm<sup>3</sup> (1-3 nanolitres) within short sections of the HC (Fatterpekar et al., 2002; Shepherd et al., 2007) and mapping of subfields in entire hippocampi at a resolution of 12 nanolitres (Yushkevich et al., 2009), using small bore magnets and very long acquisition times in each case. Chakeres et al. (2005) examined excised hippocampi in a 80 centimetre (cm) whole-body magnet with relatively short acquisition times, but examined single slices using a transverse electromagnetic resonator coil which was narrower (12.5 cm) than suitable for *in vivo* acquisitions. MRI studies at higher fields (7T) can even allow the visualization of distinct hippocampal layers, albeit still ex vivo (Wieshmann et al., 1999).

For *in vivo* studies, FSE sequences can generate high resolution images with variable contrast weightings and low sensitivity to static magnetic field inhomogeneities, but their use at high fields has been limited by the high specific absorption rate (SAR) deposition caused by their high energy radiofrequency

pulses (Lebel & Wilman 2007; 2009). For this reason, in vivo applications to date have utilized relatively thick slices (2-5 mm), with inter-slice gaps or either interleaved or packaged acquisitions to reduce the SAR deposition (Mueller et al., 2007; 2008; Nakada et al., 2005; Thomas et al., 2008). Even with these ameliorations, only one study imaged the full longitudinal range of the HC (Theysohn et al., 2009). High resolution gradient-echo images of the HC have been obtained at 4.1T (Pan et al., 1995) and 7.0T (Theysohn et al., 2009) and with multiple signal averaging at 3.0T (van Leemput et al., 2008), but still require steps to reduce artifacts in proximity to sinuses. With the exception of studies of normal aging and Alzheimer's Disease, which examined subfield volumes within 10 mm segments of HC (Mueller et al., 2007; 2008), studies to date have either focused on feasibility, using imaging metrics and image samples (Nakada et al., 2005; Pan et al., 1995; Theysohn et al., 2009; Thomas et al., 2008), and/or qualitative reports of abnormalities in individual patients (Eriksson et al., 2008) rather than the volumetrics of the subfields. The FSE tracing methods developed by our research group have enabled the first volumetric measures of entire hippocampal subfield volumes in vivo (Malykhin et al., 2010a).

# Chapter 2

# Functions of the Hippocampus



#### 2.1 Overview

As it is a part of the limbic system and involved in memory, cognition, and the regulation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis, the HC has been extensively studied in individuals with Major Depressive Disorder (MDD), as will be discussed in this section and the next. This region has been found to be important for declarative, spatial and contextual memory formation, mood, and nociception (McEwen, 2001; Nakamura et al., 2010).

The HC interacts with a distinct system of structures involved in storing and processing specific types of memory including the amygdala, neostriatum, and cerebellum (Squire, 2004). It also is important in general cognition, spatial navigation, mood regulation, and the response to stress, as a structure that combines the links to all those functions (Bast, 2007; DeCarolis & Eisch, 2010; Fuchs & Flugge, 1998; Woollett et al., 2009). The HC helps in the recollection of past events and can even help predict events in the future (Eichenbaum & Fortin, 2009). As a part of the limbic system, it also is heavily involved in emotion and emotional behaviour (Price & Drevets, 2010). Some of these many functions will be discussed in more detail below.

## 2.2 Learning and Memory

Perhaps the most well-known function of the HC is learning and memory. Adult-born hippocampal neurons as the result of neurogenesis in the HC have been shown to aid in the flexibility of cognitive functions (Burghardt et al., 2012).

As described in the two pathways in Section 1.2.6 (Connections to Other Structures), the HC is involved in multiple pathways responsible for the storage of semantic (memory of details about particular facts), episodic (memory of timeand location-specific events), and spatial (memory of the environment's spatial orientation) memories. The right HC is responsible for remembering locations within a spatial environment and the left HC for context-dependent episodic and autobiographical memory (Burgess et al., 2002). Although, as shown in the famous study by Scoville and Milner (1957), many of these memories are stored outside of the HC itself and the HC may not play a vital role the retrieval of some of them, the HC still plays a major role in the process of their storage. The pivotal role that the HC plays in this storage involves the conversion of newly acquired short-term memories, which can be formed without it, into long-term memories. The spatial component of these short-term memories also relies on the HC (Duvernoy, 2005). Without the HC, this conversion is substantially hindered and newly acquired short-term memories do not get converted into long-term memories, resulting in anterograde amnesia. Other findings have also shown that lesions to the HC also lead to retrograde amnesia over time, suggesting that there is still some involvement of the HC in either or both the direct storage or retrieval of long-term memories (Nadel & Moscovitch, 1997).

The HC is not homogeneous in its functionality as segregation of functions across hemispheres and even within the same HC have been observed. Aside from the aforementioned functional segregation across hemispheres in spatial and episodic memories, novel and familiar information also is segregated.

- 27 -

The left anterior HC is involved in the processing of novel information both relevant and irrelevant to behaviour, while the posterior HC, bilaterally, is involved in the processing of familiar information with behavioural relevance (Strange & Dolan, 1999). During memory recollection, the activity of the hippocampal head in healthy individuals also increases relative to baseline levels, while in the hippocampal body and tail both healthy controls and MDD patients show higher levels of activation during learning than their respectively normal levels (Milne et al., 2012).

Positive correlations between hippocampal volume and memory have been frequently reported in Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease, and Mild Cognitive Impairment (MCI) (van Petten et al., 2004a), however, in healthy aging, hippocampal volumes usually have been found to correlate less highly with memory (Rodrigue & Raz, 2004; van Petten, 2004b). Although age-related atrophy in the HC might be detectable in individuals with significant cognitive decline or even in the healthy aging process, the relationship between HC structural integrity and memory functions in younger populations is not well understood.

The input from the posterior parietal association cortex that eventually reaches the HC is involved in the perception of the position of an object in space (Andersen et al., 1990; Mountcastle, 1995). This also possibly contributes to the HC's role in the memory of facts in relation to one another, or the combination of episodic memory and spatial memory (Duvernoy, 2005).

# 2.3 Spatial Navigation

In animal studies, lesions to the HC have been shown to impair navigation (Morris et al., 1982). Neurons inside the HC create a cognitive map of the surroundings by exhibiting location-specific firing (O'Keefe & Dostrovsky, 1971). Food-storing non-human species have been shown to have larger hippocampal volumes compared to those who do not, and perform better on tasks that involve memory persistence (Biegler et al., 2001; Volman et al., 1997).

fMRI assesses activity of the brain by measuring oxygen delivery to its various regions. On fMRI, the right HC in humans has been shown to be active during the acquisition of new spatial information used for navigational tasks (Hirshhorn et al., 2011), particularly during the encoding of navigational information gained from both route (ground-level perspective) and survey (global perspective or view from the top) perspectives (Shelton & Gabrieli, 2002). This lateral activation occurs for learned environments, while for route imagery the parahippocampal gyrus is activated bilaterally (Mellet et al., 2000).

Different areas of the brain, including the parietal cortex and posterior HC, show anatomical changes in grey matter months after the learning of highly abstract information (Dragnaski et al., 2004; 2006). Cab drivers in London, England have been interesting subjects in this study due to their known ability to retain vast amounts of geographic memory of the complex city through years of course training along with years of study. These drivers must learn thousands of places of interest in London, woven within layouts of 25,000 streets, over the course of 2-4 years and pass stringent examinations by the Public Carriage Office

in order to obtain an operating license (Woollett et al., 2009). PET, another technique to image brain activity, showed with these taxi drivers that right hippocampal activation occurs also in the processing of spatial layouts formed over long periods in already well known areas (Maguire et al., 1997); the HC here is activated as a part of a vast, distributed network of active areas in the brain in response to navigation (Spiers & Maguire, 2007). On fMRI, hippocampal activation was seen in other drivers even while simply imagining themselves navigating between houses of friends in virtual reality environments (Hartley et al., 2003; Iaria et al., 2003; Maguire et al., 1998). The preferential activation of the HC along with the brain network involved in navigating between friends' homes, as opposed to a separate brain network involved in social connections, was observed in response to spatial relational processing, suggesting the preferential role of the HC in the development of a cognitive map on a large-scale space over connecting social networks (Kumaran & Maguire, 2005).

Medical doctors' training also involves a great deal of knowledge acquisition, but much of medical expertise is less spatial. A voxel-based morphometry (VBM) study on medical doctors who were IQ-controlled showed that the amount of medical expertise was not associated with any differences in grey matter volumes in the different structures of the brain, including the HC. For these doctors, the amount of medical expertise also did not correlate with grey matter volume in the HC or elsewhere (Woollett et al., 2008). Participants in the World Memory Championships, an annual competition in London, U.K. requiring participants to memorize much information not laid out in a complex spatial map, such as numerous decks of playing cards and long lists of random digits, also were found to lack significant associations with higher IQ or any differences in brain structure relative to control participants despite the skills of memorization these contestants possess (Maguire et al., 2003). Structural changes associated with learning over many years seems to be limited to taxi drivers and their acquisition of a large, integrated complex spatial layout, such as the layout of London, U.K. (Woollett et al., 2008). These results suggest that rather than any type of memorized information, the hippocampal grey matter volume changes observed in the taxi drivers were more associated with acquired knowledge involving spatially oriented information in a complex and detailed layout.

#### 2.4 Functions of the Hippocampal Subregions and Subfields

Selective lesion studies in rats showed that the HC is functionally subdivided along the septotemporal axis (head to tail) into dorsal and ventral regions, each associated with a distinct set of behaviours (Bannerman et al., 2004). It has been suggested that the dorsal HC, sometimes referred to as the posterior HC in primates, has a larger role in the aforementioned preferential role in certain forms of learning and memory, notably spatial learning, while the ventral HC, likewise at times referred to as the anterior HC in primates, may have a preferential role in anxiety-related behaviours (Bannerman et al., 2004). Several MRI studies have been conducted in order to replicate these findings in humans. Using fMRI, Preston et al. (2010) suggested that a gradient of content sensitivity existed from the posterior (parahippocampal) to anterior (perirhinal) MTL cortex,

with the anterior MTL cortical regions contributing to successful encoding in a domain-general manner and the posterior regions differentially contributing to successful encoding based on memory content (faces versus scenes). Chen et al. (2010a) found that the right hippocampal tail volume correlated with spatial memory, while the left hippocampal body volume was associated with delayed verbal memory. Szeszko et al. (2006) found that in healthy subjects stress correlated more strongly with the HC's anterior than posterior volume. This is consistent with another study examining hippocampal subregional volumes that reported that in young adults both hippocampal body and head volumes predicted temporal context retrieval performance while hippocampal head volume predicted spatial context retrieval (Rajah et al., 2010). Recently, Poppenk and Moscovitch (2011) reported that better recollection memory was associated with larger posterior and smaller anterior segments, as evaluated relative to the uncal apex, while overall hippocampal volume did not predict recollection memory. These studies suggest a differential specialization of various sections of the HC and therefore the importance of separating the global volume of the HC into subregions and subfields in studies of relationships between hippocampal volume and function.

Human studies of functional specialization of hippocampal subfields are limited to a few recent high resolution (< 2 mm in-plane) fMRI studies (Bakker et al., 2008; Das et al., 2011; Preston et al., 2010; Suthana et al., 2011; Yassa et al., 2011) and ultra-high resolution (< 1 mm in-plane) high field structural MRI studies (Mueller et al., 2011) that have made it possible for the first time to

demonstrate the specialization of hippocampal subfields in different memory tasks. For instance, Bakker et al. (2008) found that a pattern completion task (the ability to recall a stored memory pattern in response to a degraded observation of elements of the stored pattern) elicited a blood-oxygen-level-dependent (BOLD) response in the CA1 and Sub, and that CA3/DG activity was associated with pattern separation (the ability to keep distinct memory patterns separate). More recently, this group reported an age-related reduction in the human CA3/DG hippocampal subfields, pointing to structural and functional deficits in the perforant path along with the DG and CA3 subfields as potential contributors to the shift in memory performance throughout aging (Yassa et al., 2011). Preston et al. (2010) observed functional activation in response to both novel faces and scenes in all MTL regions. While similar percentages of voxels were sensitive to novel faces and scenes in the perirhinal and entorhinal cortices and a combined region comprising the DG and CA2-3 subfields, the parahippocampal cortex, CA1, and Sub demonstrated greater sensitivity to novel scenes than to face stimuli. Suthana et al. (2011) reported increased activity within the right CA2-3/DG subregions during encoding compared to retrieval of spatial associations. In contrast, right subicular activation increased during retrieval compared to encoding. Group differences in the activation of hippocampal subfields were also detected in Temporal Lobe Epilepsy (TLE) patients, with the DG and the anterior hippocampal region showing the greatest activation differences to controls (Das et al., 2011).

#### 2.5 Conditions with Altered Hippocampal Volumes

Several differing conditions have been linked in the literature with lower volumes, including normal and pathological aging (Shing et al., 2011) and different neurological and psychiatric disorders, suggesting the importance of the HC in many different functions and/or its vulnerability. Among these conditions are epilepsy (Berg et al., 2011), aging (Shing et al., 2011), Alzheimer's disease (Bralten et al., 2011; Kong et al., 2012), dementia (Yin et al., 2011), MCI (Atienza et al., 2011), traumatic brain injury (Arciniegas et al., 2001), Parkinson's disease (Messina et al., 2011), Huntington's disease (van den Bogaard et al., 2011), Cushing's disease (Tata & Anderson, 2010), schizophrenia (Adriano et al., 2011; Frith & Done, 1988), post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) (Zhang et al., 2011), chronic alcoholism (Sullivan et al., 1995), borderline personality disorder (Tebartz van Elst et al., 2003), obsessive-compulsive disorder (Kwon et al., 2003), antisocial personality disorder (Barkataki et al., 2006), and MDD (DeCarolis & Eisch, 2010; Holsboer, 1988).

Due to the differences in cellular compositions, functions, and molecular receptors in the different subfields in the HC, the subfields are affected differently in certain conditions. The CA1 field, along with the adjacent Sub, has been shown to be relatively more vulnerable to hypoxia than the CA3, possibly due to differences in vascular connections (Duvernoy, 2005). Kainic acid produces selective CA3 lesions, possibly due to dysfunction of mossy-pyramidal synapses here (Collins, 1986), while the DG on the other hand seems to be vulnerable to hypoglycemia (Collins, 1986). During aging, the CA1 seems to have some

neuronal loss along with other affected areas as well such as the CA4 and Sub (Mani et al., 1986; Simic et al., 1997; West, 1993). In Alzheimer's, the apical neuropil of the CA1 subfield, the region where neuronal cell bodies are located and which is one of the earliest sites of damage due to tau aggregates, undergoes localized thinning due to atrophy (Kerchner et al., 2010). In addition, the Sub consistently suffers from lesions. Other areas including the CA1 and DG are damaged sometimes, while the CA2 is more resistant to damage (Bell & Ball, 1981; Doebler et al., 1987; Haigler et al., 1985; Simic et al., 1997).

Chapter 3

Major Depressive Disorder, Stress, and the Hippocampus: from Preclinical Models of Stress to Clinical MRI Studies in MDD



# 3.1 Overview of Major Depressive Disorder

More than 25% of adult Americans live with at least one diagnosed mental disorder (Kessler et al., 2005a; 2005b). MDD is a commonly occurring disorder affecting significant numbers of individuals worldwide, with varying rates from country to country. It is one of the top ten causes of disability and affects from 2-5% (Murray & Lopez, 1996) to 6.7% (Kessler et al., 2005a; 2005b) of the American population. In Canada, there has been a dramatic increase in antidepressant use, with up to 3 million users in 2004, approximately 10% of the population (Picard, 2004). The diagnosis of MDD requires at least two major depressive episodes (MDEs), defined as either depressed mood and/or loss of interest or pleasure in daily activities for at least two weeks, along with a number of other symptoms causing clinically significant impairment in the individual's daily functioning, according to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, fourth edition (DSM-IV). The symptoms of a MDE include depressed mood for the majority of the day, diminished interest or enjoyment in all or most activities, an unintentional significant weight change, disturbance in sleep patterns through insomnia or oversleeping, visible psychomotor retardation or agitation, fatigue or the loss of energy, feelings of worthlessness or excessive amounts of guilt, the inability to concentrate or make decisions, and recurrent thoughts of death (American Psychiatric Association, 1994).

With a median age of onset in the early 20s for most patients, MDD affects individuals of many ages, has a 40% to 55% 12-month/lifetime prevalence, and has a high rate of recurrence (people who have suffered an MDE

- 37 -

are likely to suffer another in the future). Although it affects both sexes and people of all marital statuses, MDD disproportionately tends to affect female and unmarried individuals. Often, MDD is also co-morbid with other psychiatric conditions such as anxiety disorders (Andrade et al., 2003; Grunhaus et al., 1994). Although considered an illness with a good prognosis, among the patients suffering from depression, 30% fail to achieve remission (Warden et al., 2007), and a diagnosis of MDD is strongly associated with elevated mortality rates (Patten et al., 2011). Additionally, depression also significantly increases the risk for cognitive impairment (Wongpakaran & Wongpakaran, 2012), with over a twofold increase in the risk for dementia with individuals suffering from early-onset depression (Byers & Yaffe, 2011). These statistics highlight the need to research depression further in order to understand its pathophysiology, in the hope of using this knowledge for its treatment in the future.

In MDD, the HPA axis for many patients is chronically turned on, with chronically high cortisol levels in many patients (Holsboer, 2000), possibly due to dysfunction in the glucocorticoid receptor (GR) system (Barden, 1999). The negative feedback of the HPA axis to suppress cortisol does not work well in many of these subjects, as seen when dexamethasone, an artificial glucocorticoid similar to cortisol, fails to induce the body to reduce cortisol levels when administered in some subjects with MDD (Carroll, 1982). In contrast, dexamethasone usually activates the negative feedback loops in the HPA axis in controls by acting as an analogue to cortisol, reducing the upstream secretion of adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) and therefore cortisol production and

secretion by the adrenal cortex (Foutoulakis et al., 2008). These increased glucocorticoid levels in stress due to HPA dysregulation is a key trait not only of MDD, but common in many neuropsychiatric disorders and illnesses with depressive symptoms (Holsboer & Ising, 2010; McEwen, 2007).

# 3.2 Stress and the Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Adrenal Axis

The HPA axis (see Figure 3.1) is a system consisting of multiple interacting areas in the body (mainly three endocrine glands – the hypothalamus, pituitary, and adrenal cortex) activated during chronic stress. The HPA axis allows the body to physiologically adapt to stressful events by ultimately releasing glucocorticoids, which allow the body to perform various actions to permit individuals to react to stress such as, but not limited to, mobilizing glucose via gluconeogenesis and glycolysis for the skeletal muscles, vasodilatation and vasoconstriction in different blood vessels to divert resources to cope with stress, and modifying the immune system.



Figure 3.1: The HPA axis

This system is initially activated in response to stress when parvocellular neurosecretory neurons of the paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus release, among other peptide hormones, corticotrophin-releasing hormone (CRH) into blood vessels that project into the anterior pituitary via the hypothalamopituitary portal system. CRH reaches the anterior pituitary, signaling it to release ACTH, also known as corticotrophin, which increases the production and release of glucocorticoids, a class of corticosteroid molecules (cortisol in humans, corticosterone in some other animals such as rodents). Glucocorticoids are lipophilic hormones produced mainly in the adrenal cortex, an endocrine structure superior to both kidneys. These hormones can cross cell membranes to bind to receptors in the nucleus, sometimes inducing long-term changes in the transcription of genes. These hormones can bind to both GRs and mineralocorticoid receptors (MRs) in the nucleus, the latter due to the glucocorticoids' structural similarities to mineralocorticoids (De Kloet et al., 1998). Glucocorticoids themselves are involved in a negative feedback loop, inhibiting the hypothalamic release of CRH and also the release of ACTH from the anterior pituitary. They are released to perform many roles following stress in conjunction with other hormones such as epinephrine and norepinephrine to allow the body to mobilize metabolic resources through mechanisms such as gluconeogenesis and divert them toward the muscles in response to stress via actions such as selectively manipulating blood flow through vasodilatation and vasoconstriction. Adrenaline (epinephrine) and noradrenaline (norepinephrine) (tyrosine derivatives responsible for the more acute stress responses such as "fight or flight", a system used to activate certain parts of the body for defense against an external agent to promote survival (Ranabir & Reetu, 2011) and to divert resources away from parasympathetic functions such as digestion in the gastrointestinal tract) levels become elevated in response to internally or externally caused disturbances of bodily functions may be interpreted by the brain as stress. Glucocorticoid levels are also increased in these stressful situations and trigger similar physiological responses (glucocorticoids are responsible for the more chronic stress responses such as decreases in the amount of resources related to long-term development and adjustments to the immune system); some responses such as gluconeogenesis are triggered by both epinephrine / norepinephrine and glucocorticoids. Epinephrine and norepinephrine released from the adrenal medulla are usually part of a more rapid and acute response to stress whereas glucocorticoids are part of a chronic or slower response. Aside from being released in response to obvious sources of stress such as a dramatic fight-or-flight response, glucocorticoids are also released periodically to control circadian rhythms which regulate metabolic, cardiovascular, and immune functions, potentially along with other biological clocks daily (Son et al., 2011).

In addition to the neuronal connections linking it to other parts of the central nervous system, the HC is also closely integrated with the endocrine system. In fact, it was the first receptor-expressing target of steroid hormones from the adrenal cortex that was found in the higher brain centres (McEwen et al., 1968). In the brain, MRs are enriched in many limbic regions – including all hippocampal subfields (along with the central amygdala, lateral septum and the

brainstem's motor nuclei); these receptors are activated by low levels of glucocorticoids (Joels, 2008). GRs are enriched in the CA1 area and the DG (together with the hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus), and despite their name, these receptors have an affinity for glucocorticoids that's ten-fold lower than the MRs, so they are typically only activated after stress or at high secretion periods during the circadian rhythm cycle (Klerman et al., 2002), in contrast to the MRs, which are normally active at rest. These properties allow the body to switch between two states: when both the GRs and MRs are activated (e.g. during stress), and when only the MRs are activated (e.g. during rest in a trough in the circadian cycle) (Joels, 2008). These receptors then in turn allow the adrenal steroids to change the excitability of hippocampal neurons by tuning the long-term potentiation (Pavlides et al., 1994; 1995a; 1995b) and primed burst potentiation (Diamond et al., 1988; 1992), in turn affecting the functions of these neurons such as memory.

Between individuals, HPA activation will vary, but in most healthy individuals, as previously mentioned, components of the HPA axis inhibit each other via negative feedback to allow the system to turn itself off when not used. This termination occurs as adrenal steroids bind to the aforementioned MRs and GRs in the pituitary, hypothalamus, and limbic system (including the HC and amygdala) (Barden, 2004). An ideal amount of glucocorticoids required for a healthy homeostatic balance exists where a large deviation to either extreme could result in pathology, similar to corticosterone's effects on burst potentiation (Diamond et al., 1992). This creates a hypothetical U-shaped curve (Sapolsky,

1997) for a healthy homeostatic system which has its peak representing the optimal response and neural survival rate created with an ideal concentration of circulating glucocorticoids. A potential mechanism for this to occur is with multiple receptors with differential binding affinities to glucocorticoids. The HC contains multiple receptors for these molecules, with the optimal response generated when a select group of receptors is activated while the rest are not (Sapolsky, 1997). Glucocorticoids are part of a stress response initiated through two-way communication between the brain and various organs regulating physiological and behavioural responses. The system is potentially adaptive, but long-term activation of it under chronic stress causes dysregulation that can be maladaptive. The adaptive part comes from the short-run restoration of allostasis, an active maintenance of homeostasis under stress, while the maladaptive part comes from allostatic load, the wear-and-tear caused on the body by chronic stress constantly putting pressure on allostasis to reach a state of homeostasis that constantly differs from the body. This glucocorticoid-mediated allostasis is achieved through dendritic remodelling and neuronal death in the limbic system, including the HC (McEwen & Gianaros, 2010).

# 3.3 Preclinical Models of Stress and Effects of Stress on the Hippocampus

Since depression in humans is often related to various stressful life events (such as childhood abuse and trauma, which are risk factors for depression), animal models of depression where animals are exposed to various paradigms involving chronic stress have been used to study changes in hippocampi. Additionally, some MDD symptoms resemble traits seen in animal models under chronic stress, making chronic stress a model of depression in preclinical studies. The glucocorticoids cause atrophy of hippocampal neurons' dendrites, neuronal death, and increased susceptibility to damage from other insults such as strokes or seizures (Sapolsky, 1996). Among the rodent models of depression and PTSD are models simulating chronic unpredictable stress, social defeat, and social isolation. When experienced without control and predictability over the situation, repeated stress has been shown to result in the prominent and specific altering of dendrite and spine morphology and inhibition of adult neurogenesis, along with inappropriate neuronal responses in response to brief exposure to stress (Joels et al., 2007). In these models, hippocampal neurogenesis is abated specifically in certain steps rather than homogenously throughout the entire process, particularly at the level of the type-2 amplifying progenitor cells (progenitors without axons or dendrites). The maturation into and the survival of mature neurons are shown to decrease *in vivo*, while *in vitro*, the proliferation of neuronal cells is decreased (DeCarolis & Eisch, 2010).

The HC has a dense distribution of receptors for stress hormones including glucocorticoids (Mirescu & Gould, 2006a). As stated earlier, stress activates the HPA axis, resulting in the release of corticosteroid hormones. Preclinical studies predict many mechanisms linked to the hyper-concentration of glucocorticoids in humans that might cause damage to the HC in MDD, ultimately having large effects on the architecture of the HC as a whole. These mechanisms include dendritic retraction (Czeh & Lucassen, 2007), neuronal death, and suppressed neurogenesis (Duman, 2004). Glucocorticoids originate from the stress-activated HPA axis, which is consistently overactive in many MDD subjects as seen repeatedly in studies showing increased basal cortisol levels, impairments in dexamethasone suppression, and exaggerated responses to the exposure of combined dexamethasone and CRH (Barden, 2004). As with the stress models discussed previously, while the normal, transient activation of the HPA axis in response to an acutely stressful circumstance is key to an optimal response, constant hyperactivation of the axis can be maladaptive, eventually risking the continuation into a diseased state (Joels, 2008; Krugers et al., 2000). These effects presumably result in the reduced hippocampal volumes observed in people with MDD both in vivo and ex vivo (Stockmeier et al., 2004). For a normal stress response's endocrine and behavioural aspects, newly generated hippocampal neurons in adults are needed (Jankord & Herman, 2008), along with neurons in the CA3 region; the removal of the latter disrupts spatial memory retrieval and dysregulates HPA axis activity, increasing plasma levels of ACTH and glucocorticoids (Roozendaal et al., 2001).

The reversible retraction of the dendritic tree that occurs primarily in the CA3 subfield and is caused by stress (McLaughlin et al., 2007) occurs with an accelerated rate of cell loss with increased glucocorticoid levels. This takes place along with a loss of GRs, and in chronic depression, of glucocorticoidconcentrating neurons, which also occurs in the HC during aging (Sapolsky et al., 1985). As the HC also regulates glucocorticoid levels, a loss in GRs due to damaging glucocorticoids could also create a cycle of glucocorticoid dysregulation and damage. Chronic stress for weeks also induces atrophy in the apical (but not basal) dendrites of the CA3 pyramidal neurons in the HC (Watanabe et al., 1992). Chronic restraint stress every day for 3 weeks has been shown to cause dendritic atrophy, retraction, and simplification in this subregion (McEwen, 1999). As glucocorticoids bind directly to GRs and MRs on pyramidal neurons and also to many other targets in indirect pathways, eventually reaching the CA3, these hormones, along with serotonin (also known as 5 hydroxytryptamine (5-HT), a monoamine neurotransmitter that plays an important role in depression) and excitatory amino acids such as glutamate contribute to N-Methyl-D-aspartic acid (NMDA) receptor activity. Mossy fibres from the DG also are either directly connected via excitatory inputs to the CA3 pyramidal neurons or indirectly connected via inhibitory interneurons in the hilus synapsing onto GABA-benzodiazepine (GABA-BZ) receptors. These excitatory and inhibitory inputs are thought to normally be at a balance, as both over-reduced inhibitory activity or abnormally increased excitatory activity could contribute to atrophy (see Figure 3.2) (McEwen, 1999).

The hippocampal CA3 pyramidal cells have also been found to be most susceptible to neuronal damage and cell loss associated with prolonged social stress and glucocorticoid overexposure, in both rats and primates (Sapolsky, 2000). The total CA3 volume in the rat HC has been reported to be significantly reduced following stress, and even after a three-week recovery period the volume did not return to control values (Joels et al., 2004).

Reversible retraction of the dendritic tree occurs with some of the pyramidal neurons in the CA1 (Czeh & Lucassen, 2007). Pyramidal neurons in the CA1 of rats were observed to atrophy following treatment with corticosterone (the rat's stress glucocorticoid) (Sousa et al., 2000). NMDA glutamate receptors, which respond to estrogen, are also thought to be involved in the atrophy of CA1 neurons, as blocking them blocks atrophy (Gazzaley et al., 1996; Weiland, 1992). Biomarkers of hippocampal aging, such as the increased excitability of CA1 pyramidal neurons, are also accelerated by long-term stress (Kerr et al., 1991).



Figure 3.2: Neurotransmitter and glucocorticoid action in regulating atrophy, neurogenesis, and apoptosis in the DG and CA3 regions. MRs and GRs among other receptors in these subfields interact with glucocorticoids released by stress. Granule neurons, which are replaced in adulthood, connect via mossy fibres to the CA3 and to inhibitory interneurons in the hilus (synapsing onto GABA-BZ receptors on the CA3), providing both excitatory and inhibitory inputs. NMDA receptors could be triggered by glucocorticoids, serotonin, and/or excitatory amino acids such as glutamate, which are all present during stress to provide excitatory inputs to the CA3. The entorhinal cortex also sends excitatory signals through NMDA receptors to the DG to regulate rates of neurogenesis and apoptosis (McEwen, 1999)

Along with excitatory amino acid neurotransmitters such as glutamate, adrenal steroids such as glucocorticoids could also cause reversible stress-induced atrophy (Magarinos et al., 1996). All of these activities at abnormal rates could result in dendritic atrophy, which was observed in the CA3 region of chronically stressed rats (Sousa et al., 2000) and of tree shrews even with the absence of a decrease in neuronal count (Vollmann-Honsdorf et al., 1997).

Decreased neurogenesis seems to be involved in both anxiety and depression (Drew & Hen, 2007; Sapolsky, 2004), but as this is a relatively new research direction, evidence for the direct role of neurogenesis is limited. In mice, the inhibition of adult neurogenesis has been associated with both slower post-moderate stress recoveries to normal glucocorticoid levels and the lack of dexamethasone-induced glucocorticoid suppression. Both preclinical and postmortem studies suggest that the hippocampal subfields are differentially affected by chronic stress – following chronic stress, retraction of dendrites occurs in the CA3 region (less frequently in the CA1 or DG regions) and suppression of neurogenesis in the DG (Czeh & Lucassen, 2007).

GRs and MRs both also exist in the DG, making it directly able to respond to increased glucocorticoid levels produced by stress (McEwen, 1999). Similar mechanisms as in the CA's response to glucocorticoids also take place in the DG, but there are also many notable differences such as control over the rate of neurogenesis, which does not normally occur in the adult CA. The number of generated cells in the hilus, subgranular zone and total DG of the adult HC was significantly decreased in stressed animals (Joels et al., 2004), along with enhanced glutamate transmission in the DG. Synaptic plasticity in both the DG and CA are severely impaired by chronic stress (Alfarez et al., 2003; Joels et al., 2004; McEwen, 2001), which can also inhibit hippocampal excitability (including primed-burst potentiation) in a path independent of endogenous opioids. The ongoing neurogenesis in the DG can be suppressed and stress-induced dendrite remodelling can occur in the CA3 of male rats and tree shrews, but these changes can be reversible if the stress does not continue past three weeks or if antidepressants are administered (McEwen, 2001). Astrocyte density has also been reported to be lower in stressed primates (Czeh et al., 2006). The ingestion of the glucocorticoid corticosterone alters serotonergic and catecholaminergic receptor activity in the DG in rats for weeks after treatment (Luine et al., 1993). Reversible retraction of the dendritic tree also occurs with granular neurons in the DG (Czeh & Lucassen, 2007). These neurons, which are replaced in adulthood and, as discussed previously, send mossy fibres to interneurons and directly to pyramidal neurons in the CA3, also have excitatory NMDA receptor inputs from the entorhinal cortex, which along with excitatory amino acids such as glutamate and adrenal steroids such as glucocorticoids regulate the neurons' rates of neurogenesis and apoptosis - making this system able to also suppress neurogenesis through acutely stressful experiences (Gould et al., 1997). Both acute and chronic forms of stress also suppress neurogenesis in the DG and increase apoptosis, while glutamate released during stress along with the glucocorticoids can lead to the reversible atrophy of the apical dendrites (in rats and tree shrews) (see Figure 3.2) (McEwen, 1999). One caveat is that these

observed changes in glucocorticoid-induced hippocampal morphology come mostly from animal experiments and have not been replicated in humans (there are no such methods to ethically replicate these types of post-mortem studies in animals where cells are visualized at precise times following controlled *in vivo* amino acid exposure), so applying this knowledge to humans requires some assumptions.

## 3.4 Changes in the Hippocampus in Major Depression:

## **Clinical Studies**

In clinical MRI studies, hippocampal volumes have consistently been shown to be smaller in patients with MDD compared to healthy controls (Arnone et al., 2012; Kempton et al., 2011; McKinnon et al., 2009; Videbech & Ravnkilde 2004). These reductions were found to be related to episode recurrence (MacQueen et al., 2003), duration of lifetime depression (Sheline et al., 1999) and past childhood maltreatment (Choi et al., 2009; Dannlowski et al., 2012; Frodl et al., 2010; Malykhin et al., 2010b; Vythilingam et al., 2002). Studies done more recently showed that the hippocampal subregions (head, body, and tail) are not uniformly affected in MDD (Maller et al., 2007; Malykhin et al., 2010b). Only a few MRI studies have analyzed the HC in medication-free MDD patients (Frodl et al., 2008a; MacQueen et al., 2003; Malykhin et al., 2010b; Posener et al., 2003; Vythilingam et al., 2004), while the majority of the studies included patients on antidepressant treatment (McKinnon et al., 2009; Videbech & Ravnkilde 2004).

Another limitation in these studies is the time that is required for structural changes to be detectable using volumetric MRI. For instance, increased global hippocampal volume during antidepressant treatment did not occur following a 1 year follow up, (MacQueen et al., 2003; Vythilingam et al., 2004) but only emerged following 3 years (Frodl et al., 2008a). In our recent cross-sectional study we demonstrated that MDD patients on long term antidepressant treatment (median 36 months) had larger HC body volumes than patients off antidepressants (median 12 months) (Malykhin et al., 2010b). Furthermore, lower HC volumes predicted a lower response rate to antidepressant treatment. MacQueen et al. (2008) reported that MDD patients who met the criteria for clinical remission at 8 weeks of treatment had larger pre-treatment hippocampal body/tail volumes bilaterally compared with those who were not in remission, but had no apparent difference in either the right or left hippocampal head. Furthermore, although functional and receptor measures show relatively short term changes with antidepressant treatment, PET studies in MDD revealed increased blood flow to the HC in unmedicated MDD patients and that HC metabolism, as measured via fluorodeoxyglucose using PET, was normalized after successful antidepressant treatment (Aihara et al., 2007; Videbech et al., 2002). Other studies (Drevets et al., 2007; Sheline et al., 2004) reported significant reductions in serotonin receptor binding potential for the 5-HT receptor subtypes 1A and 2A (5-HT1A/2A) in the HC that was more prominent in unmedicated MDD patients. Frodl et al. (2004) reported that MDD patients with the L/L homozygous

phenotype of the serotonin transporter gene had significantly smaller hippocampal grey matter volumes.

Along with smaller hippocampal volumes in patients with MDD compared with healthy controls, regional shape contractions have also been observed in the ambient gyrus, basal hippocampal head, posterior Sub, and dorsal HC of the hippocampi in both hemispheres (Tae et al., 2011). Another study reported that while both hippocampi were decreased in volume in a group including all of the study's depressed patients, only the right HC was shown to be smaller in a subgroup of first-episode depression patients when compared to healthy controls (Cole et al., 2010). Shape deformation in the left HC's CA3, ambient gyrus, posterior Sub, and gyrus fasciolaris also were negatively correlated with depression severity, as measured by the Hamilton Depression Rating Scale (HDRS) (Tae et al., 2011). The Sub and CA1 extending to CA2-3 also showed subregional shape deformations relative to healthy controls that were correlated with memory impairments (Cole et al., 2010).

Childhood maltreatment and abuse, itself a major risk factor for psychiatric disorders (Felitti, 2002), has been correlated with structural changes in depression, prompting many studies to investigate the relationship between them. Maltreatment and abuse has been related to reductions in the hippocampal volumes (Choi et al., 2009; Dannlowski et al., 2012; Frodl et al., 2010; Malykhin et al., 2010b; Vythilingam et al., 2002). Analysis of studies of hippocampal shape revealed that scores on the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (CTQ), although not associated with histories of MDD or PTSD, were most strongly correlated with maltreatment and average reductions of over 6% in the volumes of the left CA2 and CA4-DG subfields (Teicher et al., 2012). These reductions occurred along with over 4% in reductions to the left presubiculum and Sub, and other, smaller reductions in the CA1 (Teicher et al., 2012). A study of female subjects with physical and/or sexual abuse before puberty using MRI has also found that the left hippocampal volumes were 18% smaller in depressed subjects with a history of abuse than the depressed subjects without such a history and 15% smaller than healthy controls, suggesting the exacerbation of hippocampal changes by childhood abuse combined with depression.

Depression has been reported to correlate with poor performance on verbal memory, which involves tasks dependent on hippocampal performance, although no correlation was found between depression and general intellectual performance (Hickie et al., 2005; Sheline et al., 1999). Deficits in the visual memory performance in depressed subjects have also been observed (Hickie et al., 2005), as well as loss of autobiographical memory. Specifically, compared to healthy controls, MDD patients have fewer specific, positive, highly arousing and recent autobiographical memories, but more categorical autobiographical memories. These differences existed along with lower activity in the parahippocampal area and HC in MDD patients during memory recall (Young et al., 2011). The majority of the studies in MDD did not find any correlation between reductions in hippocampal volume and the severity of depression (Frodl et al., 2002; Hastings et al., 2004; Lange & Irle, 2004; Malykhin et al., 2010b). Another study did not find differences between MDD patients and controls' HC volumes, but found

smaller HC volumes in depressed patients than remitted MDD patients (Caetano et al., 2004).

# 3.5 Other Structural Brain Changes Associated with Major Depression

MDD is associated with fronto-limbic dysregulation through changes in amygdalar activation and prefrontal-amygdalar connectivity (Price & Drevets, 2010; Savitz & Drevets, 2009). In meta-analytic studies, anterior cingulate and orbitofrontal cortex volumes have been reported to be lower in MDD patients (Hajek et al., 2008; Hajek et al., 2009; Koolschijn et al., 2009). However, volumetric studies of the amygdala in MDD have been inconsistent in their findings (Hajek et al., 2009; Hamilton et al., 2008); some studies have found increased amygdalar volumes (Lange et al., 2004; Lorenzetti et al., 2010; Malykhin et al., 2012; Monkul et al., 2007; van Eijndhoven et al., 2009; Weniger et al., 2006), others found no difference between MDD patients and controls (Bremner et al., 2000; Mervaala et al., 2000), while others even found a volumetric decrease in patients (Caetano et al., 2004; Hasting et al., 2004; Kronenberg et al., 2009; Sheline et al., 1999; Tang et al., 2007). In contrast to the ambiguous results of the MRI volumetric studies, however, studies using both PET and fMRI have consistently found unilateral (Abercrombie et al., 1998; Drevets et al., 2002) and bilateral (Abler et al., 2007; Irwin et al., 2004; Ramel et al., 2007; Sheline et al., 2001; Siegle et al., 2002) overactivity of the amygdala in

MDD patients. These results suggest that higher neuronal activity of amygdala in MDD, along with enhanced metabolism and cerebral blood flow, might contribute to changes in the amygdala's structure.

The prefrontal cortex, a structure involved in regulating responses to stress, is linked to multiple networks involving cognitive control and mood, along with the default mode network. Altered connectivity in this structure was also observed in depressed subjects (Sheline et al., 2010). It is also involved in the stress response (Wilber et al., 2011) by being a target for glucocorticoids (Meaney & Aitken, 1985), while also showing lower levels, fewer receptors, and less binding of serotonin at multiple receptors along with lower norepinephrine receptor sites following corticosterone injection even weeks following treatment (Crayton et al., 1996; Luine et al., 1993; Takao et al., 1997). This cortical area has been shown to have lower grey matter volumes in subjects with MDD regardless of treatment or current mood state, possibly due to glial cell loss (Drevets et al., 1998). PET studies in MDD have also confirmed that MDD patients have altered cerebral blood flow in the prefrontal cortex; MDD patients also showed lower activity, as measured by glucose metabolism, in the subgenual prefrontal cortex (Drevets et al., 1997), while both lower activity level and cerebral blood flow bilaterally in the rostral prefrontal cortex were also observed (Walther et al., 2012). Decreased activation in the prefrontal cortex was observed in both medication-free and remitted subjects following a "mood challenge" involving the provocation of sadness; this was comparable to the decreased activation in medicated patients undergoing the mood challenge and acutely depressed
medication-free subjects (Gemar et al., 2007), and in contrast to never-depressed controls, who did not experience this decrease (Liotti et al., 2002; Mayberg et al., 1999). Previous studies have also shown that in response to mood provocation, unipolar depressed subjects have also shown reduced blood flow in the mediofrontal and orbitofrontal regions, areas involved in adapting and regulating stress, along with reductions of rostral cingulate blood flow compared to the lack of changes in bloodflow in these regions (Mayberg et al., 1999) and increases in the anterior cingulate activation for healthy volunteers (Liotti et al., 2002).

Lower left dorsolateral prefrontal cortex activation levels in emotional tasks in subjects with cognitive vulnerability to depression have also been observed (Zhong et al., 2011). In early-onset depression in adolescent and middle aged females, an often familial type of depression that may be genetic (Hajek et al., 2008; Hirayasu et al., 1999; Todd et al., 1993), lower left subgenual prefrontal cortex volumes have been found (Botteron et al., 2002; Drevets et al., 1997). Aside from its previously discussed associations with the HC, childhood emotional maltreatment, a risk factor for MDD (Widom et al., 2007), has also been associated with significant reductions in dorsal medial prefrontal cortex and anterior cingulate gyrus volumes (Malykhin et al., 2012; van Harmelen et al., 2010).

There are some data suggesting that other structures might also be involved in the pathophysiology of MDD, including smaller volumes for the thalamus and gyrus rectus (Kempton et al., 2011), smaller overall volumes of the frontal lobe (Kempton et al., 2011; Steingard et al., 1996), reduced frontal white matter (Steingard et al., 2002) and enlarged lateral ventricles in MDD patients (Kempton et al., 2011).

# 3.6 Postmortem Studies of the Hippocampus in MDD patients

Postmortem studies have reported thinner subfield layers for the CA and DG in MDD subjects (Stockmeier et al., 2004). This was seen together with increases in the cell body densities of the DG's granule cells and glia and of all the CA regions' pyramidal neurons and glia. There were also decreases in the average size of the pyramidal neurons' cell bodies (Stockmeier et al., 2004). Lucassen et al. (2001) reported that in human post-mortem tissue, hippocampal apoptosis in MDD was a minor event and was absent from the CA3 region of the hippocampal pyramidal cell layer. However, cells undergoing apoptotic cell death were localized in the hippocampal areas CA1, CA4 and the entorhinal cortex. Responses of subjects with MDD to treatment with selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) and tricyclic antidepressants (TCAs) has been shown to correlate with higher neural progenitor cell (NPC) numbers in the anterior DG (Boldrini & Arango, 2010). Experience with enriched environments, learning, and neurotrophins also were shown to increase the survival and differentiation of new NPCs (Boldrini & Arango, 2010). In MDD, lower amounts of growth factors (neurotrophins) that affect neurogenesis have been observed, which may hinder hippocampal plasticity by obstructing the formation and integration of cell

connections into brain circuits to regulate emotional responses triggered by the environment. Following treatment with antidepressants, increases in the number of NPCs and dividing cells were correlated with larger DG volumes (Boldrini et al., 2009). Mechanisms for this cell growth may involve the reversal of dendritic shrinkage, activation of anti-apoptotic proteins to enhance cell survival, and expression of brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) following treatment (Boldrini & Arango, 2010). The post-treatment BDNF expression may also be a reversal of MDD-induced changes, as MDD patients have been reported to have lower serum levels of BDNF than healthy controls and these serum BDNF levels are positively correlated with hippocampal volumes in untreated MDD subjects (Eker et al., 2010). Expression of glutamate receptor genes in the synapse was also found to be altered in post-mortem depressed subjects' hippocampi, in the DG and CA1 (Duric et al., 2012).

# 3.7 Changes in Hippocampal Neurogenesis in Preclinical Models of Stress

Neurogenesis is the process for the production of new neuronal cells from stem cells and progenitor cells, their precursors, in the nervous system. The only two regions in the adult human's central nervous system that have been shown with well-established, concrete evidence to undergo neurogenesis are the SGZ in the DG and the subventricular zone (SVZ). Postmortem studies have revealed progenitor cells replicating their DNA in adult human brain tissue (Eriksson et al., 1998); the newborn neurons produced here are thought to modify the neural circuitry to provide a unique processing capacity rather than simply restoring dead granule cells (Song et al., 2012). Besides neurogenesis, the plasticity of the HC also includes the potential for much modification in the connections of neurons such as long-term synaptic potentiation and depression, dendritic remodelling, and synaptic turnover (McEwen, 2001). Neurogenesis, along with the other mechanisms of hippocampal plasticity, makes the HC very dynamic and capable of learning and memory formation. This neural versatility also exposes the HC to damage from many of the psychiatric disorders discussed above, such as PTSD (Zhang et al., 2011) and depression (DeCarolis & Eisch, 2010), and neurological disorders, such as Alzheimer's (Bralten et al., 2011) and Parkinson's diseases (Messina et al., 2011).

Many preclinical studies using animal models of depression show that in both acute and chronic stress adult hippocampal neurogenesis is suppressed (Czeh et al., 2001; 2002; Pham et al., 2003). Using mechanisms of stress and its dysregulation as a valid, comprehensive model covering many aspects of depression (Gold & Chrousos, 2002), many different forms of stress have been confirmed as potential factors can affect hippocampal neurogenesis. Adult cell proliferation can be inhibited in rodents and other mammalian species by sleep deprivation due to the elevated levels of corticosterone (Mirescu et al., 2006b). Stress also decreases the expression of BDNF, while diminished BDNF levels along with reduced levels of other neurotrophic factors can contribute to hippocampal atrophy along with the atrophy of cells in other limbic regions such

as the amygdala and prefrontal cortex (Duman & Monteggia, 2006). In male adult rats, the smell of a predator such as the odor of fox feces also acts as a stressor, inhibiting the proliferation of granule neurons (Tanapat et al., 2001). Social subordination could also lead to a lower number of new neurons in the DG in male rats, even when the amounts of cells undergoing DG cell proliferation, levels of corticosterone under basal, stressed, and stress-recovered conditions across hierarchies, and weights of the thymus, adrenal gland, and bodies are all equal (Kozorovitskiy & Gould, 2004). Mice exposed to social defeat as a stressor were also shown to have transiently fewer proliferating neurons in the subgranular zone (SGZ) as measured by the number of cells synthesizing DNA (and thus dividing) via bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU), while in the long term, DG neuronal survival was positively associated with actions taken to minimize stress such as stress-induced social avoidance (Lagace et al., 2010). Social isolation can further worsen the effects of stress by exaggerating the levels of glucocorticoids released by the stress response, inhibiting neurogenesis (Stranahan et al., 2006). In women, the effects of depression seem more prominent, as seen with the increased baseline areas under the ACTH and cortisol curves (Young et al., 2001); even more profound variations in hippocampal anatomy were linked with childhood physical and/or sexual abuse on top of depression (Vythilingam et al., 2002). This neurogenesis-suppressing stress seems to be activated by the glucocorticoid corticosterone in rodent models of decreased neurogenesis (Brummelte & Galea, 2010; Cameron & Gould, 1994; Malberg & Duman, 2003), but the inhibition of neurogenesis is absent following the introduction of a GR antagonist (Oomen et al., 2007) or adrenalectomy (the removal of the glucocorticoid-producing adrenal glands) (Tanapat et al., 2001) even with the persistence of the stressful stimuli. Even baseline levels of glucocorticoids may inhibit neurogenesis, as adrenalectomy increases neurogenesis even in the absence of stress (Cameron & Gould, 1994). Increases in granule cell neurogenesis in the DG are also possible through exercise (Ernst et al., 2006), environmental enrichment (Nilsson et al., 1999), electroconvulsive therapy (ECT) (Madsen et al., 2000), and antidepressant medications (Boldrini et al., 2009; Malberg et al., 2000).

Not only does stress seem to hinder hippocampal neurogenesis, but evidence also exists pointing to the reverse – hippocampal neurogenesis being crucial to the recovery from stress. Inhibited neurogenesis via irradiation has been shown to block the behavioural effects of fluoxetine, an SSRI (Santarelli et al., 2003). The decrease in the rate of neurogenesis which occurs in the DG has also been suggested to play a role in the lower hippocampal volumes observed in patients with MDD (Jacobs et al., 2000). This suggests that a decrease in new neurons produced in the HC may play a role in the pathogenesis of depression, and its re-enhancement may be required for an effective antidepressant treatment (Kempermann & Kronenberg, 2003). Although the recovery from stress may depend on or at least be greatly aided by increased neurogenesis, decreased neurogenesis in one study on rodents did not seem to produce depression-like behaviours (David et al., 2010). Nevertheless, selectively removing granule cell progenitors in mice still does result in anxiety-like behaviours (Revest et al., 2009), which may be a risk factor for anxiety disorders and depression; another study also found that neurogenesis in adults' granule cells in the DG can modulate mood and affect to serve as an effective target for the treatment of some symptoms present in depression (Danzer, 2012). Due to the role of the HC in regulating stress with its glucocorticoid receptors (ter Horst et al., 2012), stressinduced damage in hippocampal cells may induce a pathological positive feedback loop leading to further dysregulation of stress, and in turn, further stressinduced damage.

# 3.8 The Effect of Antidepressants on Hippocampal Neuroplasticity and Neurogenesis

Chronic, but not acute, administration of antidepressants can increase the number of dividing cells in the DG of adult rats (Czeh et al., 2001; Malberg et al., 2000) and nonhuman primates (Perera et al., 2007), and increase the number of hippocampal synapses (Chen et al., 2010b), offsetting the decrease in proliferation, atrophy, and loss of hippocampal neurons caused by stress. As previously discussed, some of the behavioural activity such as social avoidance required for the recovery from stress (Lagace et al., 2010) may also depend at least partially on neurogenesis. Serotonin receptor agonists such as agonists for the 5-HT1A receptor, a serotonin receptor found with high or very high density over the CA1 subfield of the HC and raphe nuclei (Pazos et al., 1987), have demonstrated the ability to upregulate neurogenesis (Banasr et al., 2006), while antagonists of this receptor downregulated such effects (Radley & Jacobs, 2002).

This shows the importance of the serotonergic pathways in the restoration of neurogenesis in depression, and is consistent with the mechanism of antidepressants, as many antidepressant classes such as the MAOIs, SSRIs, and TCAs work directly or indirectly to modify the synaptic activity of serotonin and sometimes norepinephrine, and consequently, neurogenesis (Santarelli et al., 2003; Wong et al., 2005), sometimes also via BDNF (Balu et al., 2008; Duman & Monteggia, 2006; Li et al., 2004). These studies hint that neurogenesis is necessary for the clinical efficacy of antidepressants, on the molecular, cellular, and behavioural levels, although there is some evidence suggesting that neurogenesis per se may not be required for all the antidepressant effects of medications (Holick et al., 2008; Singer et al., 2009). Several studies suggested that the antidepressant-enhanced neuroplasticity's importance may depend on some mechanisms of action of these drugs (Bessa et al., 2009; Wang et al., 2008), some possibly requiring neurogenesis while others may not (David et al., 2009; Surget et al., 2008).

Antidepressants increase the number of cells undergoing mitosis across various age groups in the DG, but this increase is lower in magnitude for lower mammals of higher age, possibly accounting for the poorer antidepressant response in the elderly (Couillard-Despres et al., 2009). In rats, stress is correlated with a reduction of neurogenesis while neurogenesis is enhanced by environmental enrichment, exercise, and antidepressants. However, compromised neurogenesis does not induce depression-like behaviour (Boldrini & Arango, 2010). Neurogenic regions of the adult rodent brain experience an increase in cell proliferation (as detected by the administration of BrdU) in response to the administration of some antidepressants or atypical (second generation) antipsychotics, which could lead to either larger volume or mass for those areas. Those drugs also stimulate neurotrophic factor production, which could further stimulate increased neuronal survival rates or neurogenesis (Nasrallah et al., 2010).

Antidepressant drugs such as fluoxetine and imipramine have been shown to increase the proliferation of neurons *in vitro* and also to increase the number of maturing cells in MDD and PTSD *in vivo* at three stages (maturation into type-2 amplifying progenitors, post-mitotic neuroblasts, and mature neurons) while promoting the survival of mature neurons. Behavioural treatments such as exercise seem to have similar effects as antidepressants, increasing progenitor cells at the same stages and also increasing the survival of maturing cells (DeCarolis & Eisch, 2010).

Polymorphisms in the 5-HT transporter (5-HTT) gene have been found to be important in the link between early and adult stress models of depression in mice, with the HC also playing a crucial role in this interaction (Carola & Gross, 2012). Certain alleles for this gene also increase the risk for depression in humans when combined with environmental factors including childhood abuse (Caspi et al., 2003). The previously discussed studies on childhood abuse serve as important examples to show how environmental stressors can play a major role in depression, and their effects may linger from childhood into adulthood. Hippocampal neurogenesis seems to also depend on the serotonergic neurons originating in the raphe nuclei and innervating the DG, as the rates of neurogenesis decrease with lesions in these neurons and recover following neuronal implantation (Brezun & Daszuta, 2000). This is similarly true with parallel experiments with the locus ceruleus' noradrenergic connections to the DG subfield (Kulkarni et al., 2002), suggesting a link between the serotonergic and noradrenergic actions of antidepressants and neurogenesis in the treatment of depression (Santarelli et al., 2003).

Antidepressants act through serotonergic and noradrenergic mechanisms, and ultimately reverse the adverse changes in the plasticity and volume of the HC that are caused by stress (Czeh et al., 2001). With chronic administration in adult rats, the efficacy of different classes of antidepressants (SSRIs, norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors (NERIs), and monoamine oxidase inhibitors (MAOIs)) have been shown to be positively related to the number of dividing cells in the DG, showing a link between the therapeutic effects of antidepressants and the reversal in the stress-induced decrease in proliferation, atrophy, and loss of neurons in the HC (Malberg et al., 2000). Serotonin may itself play a neuroprotective role, as its N-acetyl derivatives N-acetylserotonin (NAS) and N-[2-(5-hydroxy-1H-indol-3yl)ethyl]-2-oxopiperidine-3-carboxamide (HIOC) have been shown to be potent neuroprotectants elsewhere (Shen et al., 2012). Antidepressants have also been shown to produce a recovery of the diminished BDNF levels commonly observed in depression, which along with the cyclic adenosine monophosphate response element binding (CREB) transcription factor, seem to be also be related to

neuroprotection (Chang et al., 2006); this upregulation of BDNF has been shown to play a role in the reversal of the neuronal atrophy and loss of cells caused by the BDNF shortage observed in depression (Duman & Monteggia, 2006). Bilateral human ECT is known to have antidepressant effects similar to pharmaceutical antidepressants, as demonstrated in adult nonhuman primates using electroconvulsive shock (ECS), the animal counterpart of ECT. ECS increases cell proliferation in the SGZ of the DG by increasing the proliferation of precursor cells and differentiated neurons (Perera et al., 2007). In functional tests using PET, ECT has been shown to be involved in the activity of important serotonergic pathways as well (Saijo et al., 2010).

TCAs inhibit the reuptake of norepinephrine and/or serotonin to increase their levels in the synaptic cleft and therefore activate more receptors in the postsynaptic membrane. The TCA clomipramine, a strong inhibitor of serotonin uptake, has been shown to increase the expression of four out of five genes that are underexpressed during stress (Alfonso et al., 2004) while another TCA, desipramine, a potent norepinephrine reuptake inhibitor, leads to recovery of the synapses lost during stress (Hajszan et al., 2010). TCAs can also continue to enhance neurogenesis even in 5-HT subtype 1A (5HT1A) receptor-knockout mice by acting on norepinephrine pathways as, unlike SSRIs, they inhibit the reuptake of norepinephrine into the presynaptic neuron as well (Santarelli et al., 2003).

MAOIs inhibit the mitochondrial enzyme monoamine oxidase (MAO), responsible for the presynaptic breakdown of monoamines such as serotonin and norepinephrine. Both nonselective irreversible MAOIs such as tranylcypromine

- 68 -

and phenelzine and reversible MAO-A inhibitors such as moclobemide have been shown to recover the BDNF levels in the brain that were lowered by chronic stress (Balu et al., 2008; Duman & Monteggia, 2006; Li et al., 2004). These drugs also promote the replication of progenitor cells, as measured by cells' synthesis of DNA.

SSRIs work at the synapse to inhibit the serotonin transporter, hindering the reuptake of serotonin into the cell to allow it to theoretically increase the duration of its activity in the synapse; examples of these drugs include citalopram and fluoxetine. This class of drugs is known to reverse the inhibition of hippocampal neurogenesis produced by stress (Wong et al., 2005) and also to reverse the behavioural effects of stress. Hippocampal volumes in PTSD have been shown to increase following treatment with sertraline, another SSRI (Bossini et al., 2007).

Serotonin-norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors (SNRIs), newer drugs than the TCAs that also inhibit the reuptake of both neurotransmitter amines, are also among the drugs used to treat MDD. *In vivo* evidence shows that the administration of duloxetine, an SNRI, results in significant volumetric increases in the HC along with increases in other structures such as the nucleus accumbens, putamen, and brainstem after just six weeks of treatment (Lai & Wu, 2011).

Selective serotonin reuptake enhancers (SSREs) have immediate mechanisms at the synapse that are opposite of those of SSRIs as they work by increasing the reuptake of serotonin into the presynaptic cell. Despite this mechanism being the reverse of that of SSRIs, SSREs have been shown to also

- 69 -

prevent the stress-induced atrophy in the CA3 pyramidal neurons' apical dendrites on top of stimulating neurogenesis at the DG. Tianeptine is the only currently available antidepressant of the SSRE category (Czeh et al., 2001; Magarinos et al., 1999).

Antidepressants may function by increasing the sensitivity of the HPA axis to glucocorticoids by increasing GR activity. This increase in receptor activity may increase the HPA axis' response to its own negative feedback, allowing it to eventually decrease its hormonal activity, putting an end to the exaggerated chronic stress response (Barden, 1999). A major problem with relating the neurogenesis antidepressants induce to MDD is that although adult neurogenesis has been demonstrated to be an important link to chronic stress in non-human species such as rodents, very few such studies to date have shown the same effects in humans (Balu & Lucki, 2009). Two postmortem studies have looked at the effects of antidepressants on adult human neurogenesis. One reported no effect of antidepressants on neurogenesis (Reif et al., 2006); the other found that both SSRIs and TCAs increased the number of NPCs while treatment with TCAs also increased proliferative cells (Boldrini et al., 2009). Chapter 4

# Objectives and Hypotheses



## 4.1 Objectives

The HC's neuroplasticity, although important in learning, memory, and spatial navigation, make it very vulnerable to stress at least partially due to its receptors for glucocorticoid stress hormones. The well-described effects of stress on the risk of developing MDD have been supported by the findings of abnormalities in the HPA axis in patients with depression.

One of the most interesting findings has been that hippocampal volume is decreased in patients with MDD; another area of growing importance is the increased understanding of the possible role of neuroplasticity in MDD. There is preclinical evidence that stress and glucocorticoids negatively impact hippocampal neuroplasticity, neuronal survival, and glial survival, while other pre-clinical studies have suggested that antidepressants have stress-protective effects on hippocampal neuroplasticity. As such effects also appear to occur in humans, if these mechanisms became better established, significant new possibilities for studying both the etiology and treatment of MDD could be unveiled.

A major research question is whether *in vivo* hippocampal subfield volumes are differentially affected by MDD or antidepressants, but this has not been tested to date due to the inadequate spatial resolution of conventional MRI. Newly developed applications on a high-field 4.7T MRI have allowed us to test this *in vivo* for the first time. With these applications available to us, the main objective of the present cross-sectional study was to investigate whether hippocampal subfields are differentially affected in MDD and whether those changes can be reversed by antidepressant treatment.

## 4.2 Hypotheses

Based on all the evidence that has been uncovered thus far about depression and antidepressant treatment, including the preclinical and postmortem studies discussed previously, we formulated two hypotheses regarding predicted differences in hippocampal subfields between different treatment and diagnosis groups. First, we hypothesized that the CA subfield would be smaller in MDD subjects compared to healthy controls due to its vulnerability to the stress response in the preclinical models of depression. Second, we hypothesized that the DG would be larger in medicated MDD patients and/or healthy controls compared to unmedicated MDD patients due to the aforementioned stresssuppressed and antidepressant-induced hippocampal neuroplasticity/neurogenesis.

# Chapter 5

# Methods



## 5.1 Recruitment of Subjects

#### 5.1.1 Recruitment and Assessment

Subjects for this study were recruited through notices in the community and around the University of Alberta campus, including the university hospital. They were assessed in the outpatient psychiatry department by Dr. Nick Coupland, a clinical psychiatrist. MDD patients' symptom severity was assessed via the HDRS (Hamilton, 1960) and the Mood and Anxiety Symptoms Questionnaire (MASQ) (Watson et al., 1995a; 1995b), and subjects were included if they had moderate or severe MDEs according to the DSM-IV criteria based on a full clinical assessment and the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV Axis I Disorders (SCID-I) (First et al., 1997).

#### 5.1.2 Inclusion Criteria

MDD patients in the unmedicated MDD group were free of medication for at least 6 months or more, and patients in the medicated MDD group had been continuously receiving antidepressant treatment for more than 12 months. As childhood maltreatment is an important factor in depression, it was also evaluated using the CTQ. With life chat methods and case records, the age of onset, number of episodes, illness duration, and treatment history were all assessed.

The control and MDD groups were matched for age, sex, education, and ICV following the measurements of brain structures. All subjects were right handed. The study was approved by the University of Alberta Health Research Ethics Board, and each subject signed an informed consent form. In total, 47 subjects aged between 18 and 49 were included: 9 unmedicated MDD subjects and 11 medicated MDD subjects for a total of 20 MDD subjects, along with 27 matched controls. See Table 6.1 for demographics.

#### 5.1.3 Exclusion Criteria

- 1. Mild depressive episodes, psychotic or atypical features, seasonal affective disorder
- 2. Lifetime schizophrenia, bipolar disorder
- 3. Alcohol or substance dependence, anorexia nervosa
- 4. Antisocial or borderline personality disorder, predominantly anxiety disorder
- 5. Systemic corticosteroid use and lithium or anticonvulsant mood stabilizer use
- 6. Significant medical or neurologic disease
- 7. Pregnancy, obesity

To control for genetic and other inheritable factors on morphology and possible susceptibility to MDD, only controls with no lifetime or first-degree relative history of psychiatric disorders or reported psychosis were used. To control for the different ages of MDD onset, elderly subjects aged 50 years and above were not included in any groups.

Due to recruitment restrictions, our unmedicated and medicated groups each had few subjects alone. For this reason, we decided to also combine the two groups into an MDD group and additionally look for common changes, as both groups have experienced MDD (see the left-most and right-most columns on Table 6.1 for the groups following amalgamation). This way, we conducted an analysis with a sample of 20 subjects (40 hippocampi from both hemispheres) with MDD, compared with 27 matched healthy controls. This particular analysis gave us more statistical power, as the group with the least number of subjects had a higher sample size, but did not allow us to observe the effects of medication.

## 5.2 MRI Data Acquisition and Analysis

#### 5.2.1 Image Acquisition

Images were acquired using the University of Alberta's Varian Inova 4.7T scanner. Two different types of images were collected for each subject:

T2-weighted two-dimensional (2-D) FSE images were acquired with a field of view (FOV) of 20 cm \* 20 cm to encompass the HC each containing 90 slices with an echo time (TE) of 39 milliseconds (ms), TR of 1.1 seconds, and total acquisition time of 13.5 minutes. The spatial resolution was 0.54 mm \* 0.68 mm \* 1.00 mm, which was then interpolated 2x in-plane.

T1-weighted 3-dimensional (3-D) MPRAGE images were acquired encompassing the entire brain in order to measure the ICV, later used as a covariate to control for varying brain sizes. This method used 256 slices with a TE of 5 ms, TR of 1.8 seconds, TI of 850 ms, isotropic resolution of 0.75 mm \* 0.75 mm \* 0.75 mm, and acquisition time of 15 minutes).

#### 5.2.2 Contrast Adjustment

Following the scan, both FSE and 3-D MPRAGE images were converted to MINC (.mnc) files, a format compatible with DISPLAY, our image processing software (*see Section 5.3 (Image Analysis)*). As the FSE scans were obtained via T2-weighted imaging (see Figure 5.1), the FSE images' contrast was inverted for the white matter to appear white/lightest, grey matter to appear grey/darker, and for cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) to appear black/darkest for processing (see Table 5.1).

This changes the FSE images to follow similar colour schemes as the T1weighted 3D-MPRAGE images for consistency during manual ICV/hippocampal subfield quantification later. The contrast during image processing was then finely adjusted before image analysis as discussed below.



Figure 5.1: Comparisons of grey matter, white matter, and CSF as viewed from three types of images: T2-weighted FSE (left); T2-weighted FSE with inverted contrast (centre); T1-weighted 3D-MPRAGE (right)

	T2-weighted FSE	T2-weighted FSE	T1-weighted	
		(Inverted contrast)	3-D MPRAGE	
White Matter (A)	Darker	Lightest	Lighter	
Grey Matter (B)	Dark	Darker	Darker	
CSF(C)	Lightest	Darkest	Darkest	

Table 5.1: Relative shading levels of grey matter, white matter, and CSF from the T2-weighted FSE, T2-weighted inverted FSE, and T1-weighted 3D-MPRAGE

## 5.3 Image Analysis

#### 5.3.1 Image Processing and Segmentation

The images were analyzed and quantified using the interactive public domain software DISPLAY, a program developed by the Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI). Using DISPLAY, measurements of the regions of interest, including the ICV from the T1-weighted 3-D MPRAGE and the hippocampal subfields from the T2-weighted 2-D FSE were obtained. The measurements of the HC separated by hippocampal head, body, and tail were measured *in vivo* and quantified using previously published methods (Malykhin et al., 2007; 2010a) (*see Section 5.3.2 (Tracing Protocol)*). These methods included the hippocampal tail, which is neglected by some other researchers due to the complexity of the HC in that area despite its importance for accurate volumetrics (Maller et al., 2007). ICV values were calculated using an estimation obtained by tracing every tenth sagittal slice on the T1-weighted 3-D MPRAGE and multiplying the volume traced by ten, which has been shown as an accurate method that does not compromise reliability (Eritaia et al., 2000).

#### 5.3.2 Tracing Protocol

The ICVs were measured using sagittal slices of the MPRAGE scan by tracing the ICV portion of the brain (including grey matter, white matter, and CSF) for every tenth slice (for approximately 27 slices if the slice width is 2mm) for an estimate of one-tenth of the ICV and multiplying the resulting volume by ten (see Figure 5.2).



Figure 5.2: Full-brain manual segmentation of MPRAGE scans to calculate ICV values

A. in sagittal, B. axial, and C. coronal views

All hippocampal tracings were done on coronal slices of the FSE scan, for every slice (typically approximately 16 slices for the hippocampal body, 9 for the tail, 19 for the head, depending on the individual subject) on which the HC was visible.

The hippocampal body (see Figure 5.3) appears in the middle of the HC immediately anterior to the hippocampal tail and posterior to the hippocampal head. The strata lacunosum and moleculare separate the DG from the Sub and CA. The boundary of the Sub and the CA is delineated as a linear lateral-inferior extension of the medial-inferior boundary of the DG. The hippocampal body continues until its most anterior slice, the slice immediately posterior to the most posterior slice of the hippocampal head, which is described below.



Figure 5.3: The hippocampal body

Top-left and top-centre: Inverted T2 4.7T FSE scan, without and with boundaries;

Top-right: Sketch of the boundaries shown on the scan.

(1) approximate location for the lateral geniculate body, 2. lateral ventricle (temporal horn), 3. fimbria, 4. parahippocampal gyrus, 5. presubiculum, 6. entorhinal cortex,

7. fusiform gyrus, 8. posterior cerebral artery

Bottom-left: vascular injection; Bottom-right: sketch of the boundaries.

1. CA, 2. DG, 3. Sub, 4. margo denticulatus (rounded protrusions superficial to DG), 5. transverse cerebral fissure (lateral part), 6. fimbria, 7. lateral geniculate body; 8. choroid plexuses in the lateral ventricle (temporal horn); 9. caudate nucleus

(Duvernoy, 2005) (Appendix B)

The hippocampal tail's (see Figure 5.4) most anterior slice is the more anterior of two slices (the respective properties of which may coincide to make them one slice) – either the slice of the temporal horn connecting with the rest of the lateral ventricle or the slice of the fornix appears in full profile. The hippocampal structure turns medially in each subsequently posterior slice, while the DG remains separated from the CA and the Sub by the strata lacunosummoleculare. The Sub in the tail's most anterior slice is first fully extended along the area of the HC inferior and medial to the DG, and in the subsequent posterior slice occupies the more superior-medial half of that area. Posterior to those two slices, the Sub is discontinued (leaving only the DG and the CA).



Figure 5.4: The hippocampal tail

Top-left and top-centre: Inverted T2 4.7T FSE scan, without and with boundaries;

Top-right: Sketch of the boundaries shown on the scan.

1. lateral ventricle (temporal horn), 2. fornix, 3. parahippocampal gyrus (grey matter in this area is isthmus of cingulate gyrus at more posterior slices), 4. presubiculum, 5. entorhinal cortex, 6. fusiform gyrus, 7. ambient cistern.

Bottom-left: vascular injection; Bottom-right: sketch of the boundaries 1. CA, 2. DG, 3. hippocampal sulcus (vestigial), 4. Sub,

5. transverse cerebral fissure (lateral part), 6. margo denticulatus (rounded protrusions superficial to DG), 7. fornix (crus), 8. lateral ventricle (temporal horn)

(Duvernoy, 2005) (Appendix B)

The hippocampal head (see Figure 5.5) starts with a prominent medial extension of the HC into the uncinate gyrus. The DG is still separated by the strata lacunosum and moleculare, and reaches its anterior end before the other subfields when its boundaries separate into individual digitations on its most anterior slices. The HC on its most anterior slices then becomes an increasingly smaller boundary as the amygdala takes up more of the grey matter superior to it in each subsequent slice is included as the amygdala superior to it.



Figure 5.5: The hippocampal head

Top-Left and top-centre: Inverted T2 4.7T FSE scan, without and with boundaries;

Top-right: Sketch of the boundaries shown on the scan.

(1) approximate location for the lateral geniculate body / optic tract [more anterior], 2. lateral ventricle (temporal horn; prominence depends on individual), 3. parahippocampal gyrus, 4. presubiculum,

5. entorhinal cortex, 6. fusiform gyrus, 7. posterior cerebral artery,

8. choroid plexus, 9. Amygdala

Bottom-left: vascular injection; Bottom-right: sketch of the boundaries.

1. CA, 1'. digitationes hippocampi (internal digitations) 2. Sub,

3. parahippocampal gyrus, 4. uncal sulcus, 5. Sub in uncinate gyrus,

6. amygdala (accessory basal nucleus), 7. amygdala (cortical nucleus);

8. lateral ventricle (temporal horn); 9. caudate nucleus (tail)

(Duvernoy, 2005) (Appendix B)

Although the sagittal plane is not used during tracing itself, it can be a good plane to illustrate how the various coronal slices anatomically are situated in the HC. 3-D recreations of the HC using our tracing method (see Figure 5.6) also help map the locations of the subfields relative to each other, and correspond similarly to anatomical landmarks.



Figure 5.6: A 3-D reconstruction of the right HC (with the anterior end on the bottom), segmented into its subfields, using our protocol, as seen from a superior perspective (top view).

Extreme left: Sub

Centre-left: Sub + DG

Centre-right: Sub + DG + CA

The CA is not shown in the extreme-left and centre-left pictures while the DG is not shown on the extreme-left to give more unobstructed views of the DG and Sub.

The picture on the extreme right shows the anatomical location and shape of the subfields, as drawn from studies on post-mortem hippocampi; A. hippocampal head, B. body, C. tail

(Duvernoy, 2005) (Appendix B)

#### 5.3.3 Reliability Testing

The reliability tests were done by applying our protocol to a sample of 6 brains (12 hippocampi) compared individually, with intra-rater reliability calculated using segmentations done twice by the same individual and inter-rater reliability calculated using segmentations done by two individuals. Volumes for each hippocampal subregion (hippocampal tail, body, and head) and subfield (CA, DG, Sub), along with total hippocampal volumes, were taken for each of the twelve hippocampi analyzed for this reliability test to obtain intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) and error as a coefficient of variation (CV) values of the log-transformed data for both intra- and inter- rater reliabilities (see Table 5.2).

Following the protocol yielded good intra- and inter-rater reliability results, showing consistency for each tracer and between different tracers, respectively. This consistency shows the tracers' reliable segmentation of the HC along its longitudinal axis into the hippocampal head, body, and tail, and also into its subfields – the CA, DG, and Sub, as the R-values for each of these sections is above 0.80. Raw volumes of the HC were used to assess this reliability.

Intra-rater reliability									
	Tail	Body	Head	CA	DG	Sub	HC		
Intraclass R	0.84	0.90	0.98	0.92	0.81	0.95	0.98		
Error as a CV	7.25	4.08	2.42	3.92	5.97	2.95	1.70		
(%)									
Inter-rater reliability									
	Tail	Body	Head	CA	DG	Sub	HC		
Intraclass R	0.83	0.82	0.88	0.92	0.81	0.87	0.95		
Error as a CV	6.83	6.24	6.59	4.56	6.07	6.50	2.78		
(%)									

Table 5.2: Reliability for tracing the HC

As ICVs were used to normalize all hippocampal volumes, reliable ICV tracing also had to be ensured. The reliability tests for ICV measurements were done in the same way as for the hippocampal regions but using the ICVs of 10 healthy controls for the intra-rater and 10 patients for inter-rater measurements instead, by following the protocols for ICV measurements. Both intra-rater and inter-rater reliabilities for ICV volumetrics, 0.996 and 0.999, were excellent, showing that this variable can also be very reliably measured.

### 5.4 Statistical Analyses

The demographic variables (age, sex ratio, education) along with ICV values were all tested for significance (see Table 6.1 in the Results section) to ensure that representative groups did not differ from each other in factors other than depression and antidepressant treatment that could contribute to different volumes in hippocampal subfields to potentially skew any part of the sample.

Volumes of all three subfield areas (CA, DG, and Sub) in all three subregions (hippocampal tail, body, and head) were statistically evaluated between groups, for a total of 9 sections for comparison per HC. Statistics were done using the software package Predictive Analytics Software (PASW), originally known as the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS). Groups were compared (with the volume in question as a dependent variable and hemisphere as a within-subject factor) using one-way analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) with ICV as a covariate to control for varying brain sizes. ANCOVA was done on both a two-group analysis (where MDD patients, both unmedicated and medicated, were combined into one group and compared with the healthy controls – forming the binary variable of "diagnosis", which was used as a fixed factor in the ANCOVA) and a three-group analysis (where the medicated and unmedicated subjects were separated and compared with the healthy controls as three distinct groups – forming the ternary variable of "treatment", which was used as a fixed factor in the ANCOVA). Diagnosis × hemisphere and group × hemisphere interactions for two-group and three-group analyses, respectively, were observed for any asymmetrical effects of depression on the two different hippocampi. The threshold for significance for the ANCOVA was set to p < 0.05. Values for the F-distribution were also calculated for each analysis' respective degrees of freedom (d.f.). Corrections for multiple comparisons was not necessary because our experiment involved an *a priori* hypothesis in respect to specific changes in hippocampal subfields.
## Chapter 6

### Results



#### 6.1 Demographic Statistics

Both unmedicated (n = 9) and medicated (n = 11) MDD groups, along with healthy controls (total n = 27) (see Tables 6.1 and 6.2) were all right handed and prospectively matched for demographic variables (age, sex, education) along with ICV. MDD patients did not differ in age, sex, education, and ICV from healthy subjects and between subgroups (medicated versus unmedicated). Diagnosis (MDD versus healthy controls) × hemisphere and treatment (unmedicated MDD versus medicated MDD versus or healthy controls) × hemisphere interactions were not significant for any hippocampal subregions or subfields (all p > 0.05) (see Tables 6.3 and 6.4). The absence of significant interhemispheric interactions suggests that all changes were present bilaterally.

	Healthy	Unmedicated	Medicated	Total
	Controls	MDD	MDD	MDD
Subjects (n):	27	9	11	20
Age (years):				
Mean $\pm$ SD	$32.8\pm9.9$	$32.7 \pm 11.6$	$36.9\pm9.6$	$35.0\pm10.5$
Male/female, n	8 /19	5/4	5/6	10/10
Female, %	70.4	44.4	54.5	50.0
Education:				
12 years:	1 (3.7%)	1 (11.1%)	0 (0.0%)	1 (5.0%)
13-15 years:	8 (29.6%)	2 (22.2%)	3 (27.3%)	5 (25.0%)
16 or more:	18 (66.7%)	6 (66.7%)	8 (72.7%)	14 (70.0%)
<b>ICV</b> (cm <sup><math>3</math></sup> ):				
Mean $\pm$ S.D.	$1576 \pm 163$	$1662 \pm 155$	$1583 \pm 89$	$1618 \pm 126$

Table 6.1: Subject characteristics. The "Total MDD" column is a group combining the unmedicated with medicated MDD patients together.

	Unmedicated MDD vs. controls	Medicated MDD vs. controls	Unmedicated MDD vs. medicated	Total MDD vs. controls
Age:	p = .978	p = .263	p = .359	p = .462
Sex:	p = .176	p = .372	p = .649	p = .162
<b>Education:</b>	p = .741	p = .639	p = .512	p = .905
ICV:	p = .141	p = .903	p = .241	p = .343

Table 6.2: P-values of demographic variables and ICV

#### 6.2 Hippocampal Subregional Volumes

ANCOVA revealed that MDD patients combined did not differ in total hippocampal subregion volumes from healthy controls (see Table 6.3). In spite of this lack of differences, after separating MDD patients into unmedicated and medicated groups, the medicated MDD patients had larger (p = 0.02) total hippocampal tail volumes than the unmedicated MDD patients (see Figure 6.1A and Table 6.4). The unmedicated MDD patients had smaller (p = 0.03) total hippocampal body volumes than healthy controls (see Figure 6.1B). In addition to the unmedicated MDD patients' smaller hippocampal tail volumes than medicated MDD patients, a trend was also observed toward smaller hippocampal tail volumes in the unmedicated MDD patients than healthy controls (p = 0.06). Furthermore, trends were also observed for smaller total volumes of the HC in unmedicated MDD patients compared to healthy controls and medicated MDD patients (p = 0.10 and p = 0.08, respectively) (see Figure 6.1D). In addition, a weak trend was observed for the medicated MDD patients having a larger hippocampal body volume than the unmedicated patients (p = 0.12). Medicated MDD patients did not differ from healthy controls for any total subregional volumes, and we did also not find significant differences in total hippocampal head volume between any of the groups we studied (see Figure 6.1C).

	Controls	Controls MDD Diagnosis <sup>a</sup>		10sis <sup>a</sup>	<sup>a</sup> Treatment <sup>b</sup>		
		(combined)	$F_{(d.f.=1)}$	р	F <sub>(d.f.=2)</sub>	р	
ICV	$1576 \pm 163$	$1618~\pm~126$	0.91	.34	1.16	.32	
ANCOVA (covari	iate: ICV)						
<b>Total subregion</b>							
HC tail	$579 \pm 141$	$568~\pm~157$	0.23	.63	3.33	.04*	
	(Diag./or/tx.)×	hemisphere	0.02	.86	0.11	.89	
HC body	$1263 \pm 176$	$1231 \pm 196$	0.85	.35	3.06	.05*	
•	(Diag./or/ tx.)×	hemisphere	0.43	.50	0.54	.58	
HC Head	$1848 \pm 322$	$1923 \pm 372$	0.07	.78	0.13	.87	
	(Diag./or/ tx.)×	hemisphere	0.02	.87	0.12	.87	
Total HC	3690 ± 396	$3\overline{7}22 \pm 503$	0.17	.67	2.84	.06	
	(Diag./or/ tx.)×	hemisphere	0.07	.79	0.43	.65	
CA							
HC tail	$221 \pm 68$	$231 \pm 65$	0.37	.54	1.75	.17	
	(Diag./or/ tx.)×	hemisphere	0.11	.73	0.23	.79	
HC body	$346 \pm 73$	$311 \pm 61$	5.60	.02*	3.45	.03*	
2	(Diag./or/ tx.)×	hemisphere	0.11	.74	0.44	.64	
HC head	$1051 \pm 81$	$1105 \pm 238$	0.04	.82	0.06	.93	
	(Diag./or/ tx.)×	hemisphere	0.14	.70	0.29	.74	
Total CA	$1618 \pm 282$	$1646 \pm 277$	0.11	.74	0.21	.80	
	(Diag./or/ tx.)×	hemisphere	0.10	.75	0.53	.58	
DG		Ĩ					
HC tail	$312 \pm 100$	$289 \pm 107$	1.56	.21	3.06	.05*	
	(Diag./or/ tx.)×	hemisphere	0.00	.99	0.04	.95	
HC body	$571 \pm 105$	$\frac{1}{564} \pm 111$	0.25	.61	2.03	.13	
·	(Diag./or/ tx.)×	hemisphere	0.28	.59	0.38	.67	
HC head	$399 \pm 63$	$409 \pm 99$	0.10	.75	2.67	.07	
	(Diag./or/ tx.)×	hemisphere	0.23	.63	0.17	.84	
Total DG	$1281 \pm 179$	$1261 \pm 244$	0.56	.45	4.82	.01*	
	(Diag./or/ tx.)×	hemisphere	0.00	.92	0.08	.92	
Sub		-					
HC tail	$46 \pm 15$	$49 \pm 16$	1.13	.28	3.25	.04*	
	(Diag./or/ tx.)×	hemisphere	0.02	.88	0.07	.93	
HC body	345 ± 74	$356 \pm 79$	0.42	.51	1.69	.19	
2	(Diag./or/ tx.)×	hemisphere	1.39	.24	0.70	.49	
HC head	$398 \pm 72$	$410 \pm 116$	0.00	.93	0.00	.99	
	(Diag./or/ tx.)×	hemisphere	0.95	.33	0.50	.60	
Total Sub	$790 \pm 108$	$\frac{1}{815} \pm 135$	0.35	.55	1.10	.33	
	(Diag./or/ tx.)×	hemisphere	0.00	.93	0.02	.97	

Table 6.3: Comparison of volumes between the controls and MDD groups. Volumes for ICV, the HC, its subfields and subregions are in mm<sup>3</sup>. Significant values (\*p < .05) and trends ( $p \le 0.10$ ) and are in **bold**. <sup>a</sup> Diagnosis (Diag.) compares controls vs. MDD. <sup>b</sup> Treatment (tx.) compared the controls vs. Unmedicated MDD vs. Medicated

MDD

	Unmedi- cated MDD	Medicated MDD	Unmedi- cated MDD vs. controls		Medicated MDD vs. controls		Medicated vs. unmedi- cated MDD	
			$F_{(d.f.=1)}$	р	$F_{(d.f.=1)}$	р	$F_{(d.f.=1)}$	р
ICV	$1662~\pm~155$	$1583 \pm 89$	1.89	.14	0.01	.90	2.03	.24
ANCOVA (co	ovariate: ICV)							
Total Subre								
Total HC	511 ± 145	$615 \pm 153$	3.62	.06	0.99	.32	5.44	.02*
tail	Group ×	hemisphere	0.02	.88	0.15	.69	0.18	.67
Total HC	$1163 \pm 190$	$1287 \pm 188$	4.78	.03*	0.23	.63	2.42	.12
body	Group ×	hemisphere	0.00	.99	1.08	.30	0.62	.43
Total HC	$1955 \pm 473$	$1896 \pm 272$	0.00	.99	0.29	.58	0.50	.48
head	Group ×	hemisphere	0.16	.68	0.02	.87	0.18	.66
Total HC	$3629 \pm 629$	$3798 \pm 369$	2.74	.10	1.44	.23	3.13	.08
10001110	Group ×	hemisphere	0.11	.73	0.86	.35	0.50	.48
CA	or oup to	nonnspirore	0111		0.00	100	0.00	
HC tail	$212 \pm 50$	$246 \pm 72$	0.30	.58	2.04	.15	3.48	.07
	Group ×	hemisphere	0.01	.91	0.34	.55	0.38	.54
HC body	$296 \pm 60$	$323 \pm 61$	5.41	.02*	1.74	.19	1.39	.24
110 0000	Group ×	hemisphere	0.64	.42	0.04	.83	0.98	.32
HC head	$1156 \pm 304$	$1063 \pm 163$	0.13	.72	0.00	.97	0.00	.99
	Group ×	hemisphere	0.01	.89	5.55	.46	0.53	.46
Total CA	$1664 \pm 337$	$1632 \pm 223$	0.22	.63	0.00	.96	0.61	.44
	Group ×	hemisphere	0.13	.71	0.77	.38	0.96	.33
DG								
HC tail	$257 \pm 97$	$314 \pm 110$	5.28	.02*	0.01	.91	3.61	.06
	Group ×	hemisphere	0.03	.84	0.02	.86	0.08	.77
HC body	532 ± 92	589 ± 120	2.87	.09	0.41	.52	1.69	.20
	Group ×	hemisphere	0.00	.97	0.69	.40	0.47	.49
HC head	$380 \pm 94$	$432 \pm 98$	1.61	.20	2.68	.10	3.48	.07
	Group ×	hemisphere	0.03	.85	0.39	.53	0.06	.79
Total DG	$1169 \pm 224$	$1336 \pm 241$	6.82	.01*	1.13	.29	4.79	.03*
	Group $\times$	hemisphere	0.03	.84	0.09	.75	0.10	.74
Sub	1	1						
HC tail	$42 \pm 14$	$54 \pm 16$	0.37	.54	4.57	.03*	4.93	.03*
	Group $\times$	hemisphere	0.12	.72	0.00	.94	0.11	.73
HC body	$335 \pm 70$	$374 \pm 82$	0.64	.42	2.13	.14	0.95	.33
5	Group $\times$	hemisphere	0.74	.39	1.02	.31	0.01	.91
HC head	$420 \pm 135$	$402 \pm 100$	0.01	.91	0.00	.92	0.13	.71
	Group $\times$	hemisphere	0.88	.35	0.52	.47	0.05	.82
Total Sub	$796 \pm 156$	$830 \pm 118$	0.24	.62	1.87	.17	1.00	.32
	Group $\times$	hemisphere	0.00	.93	0.04	.83	0.03	.85

Table 6.4: Comparison of volumes between the controls,unmedicated MDD, and medicated MDD groups. Volumes for ICV, the HC, its subfields and subregions are in mm<sup>3</sup>.Significant values (\* p < .05) and trends ( $p \le 0.10$ ) and are in **bold**.





#### 6.3 Hippocampal Subfield Volumes

MDD patients (as a combined group) had significantly smaller (p = 0.02) CA volumes in the hippocampal body, although no other differences were observed for other hippocampal subfields between these groups (see Table 6.3). ANCOVA revealed additional associations of treatment with hippocampal subfield volumes. The unmedicated MDD patients had significantly smaller (p = 0.02) hippocampal body CA volumes than the healthy controls (see Figure 6.2B and Table 6.4). This difference was more prominent than the weak trend seen in the CA of the hippocampal body of medicated patients being smaller than the healthy controls' (p = 0.19), while unmedicated and medicated MDD patients did not differ in this region (see Figure 6.2B and Table 6.4). Medicated MDD patients had a trend toward larger CA volumes in the hippocampal tail than unmedicated patients (p = 0.07), but unmedicated MDD patients did not show any differences from the healthy controls for this area (see Figure 6.2A). The CA volumes in the hippocampal head and total CA did not differ between the groups (see Figures 6.2C and 6.2D, respectively).

ANCOVA did not reveal any effect of diagnosis on DG volumes, either for the total DG or within hippocampal subregions (see Table 6.3). Notwithstanding, when the MDD patients were separated based on treatment, unmedicated MDD patients showed significantly smaller volumes of the total DG than both the healthy controls (p = 0.01) and the medicated MDD patients (p = 0.03) (see Figure 6.3D and Table 6.4). Smaller volumes of the DG in unmedicated MDD patients were observed in the hippocampal tail (p = 0.02), with trends toward smaller volumes in the hippocampal body (p = 0.09) and head (p = 0.20) (see Table 6.4). In addition, medicated MDD patients had trends toward larger DG volumes than unmedicated MDD patients in all hippocampal subregions: the hippocampal tail (p = 0.06), body (p = 0.20), and head (p = 0.07) (see Table 6.4).

Although MDD patients altogether did not differ from healthy controls for volumes of any areas in the Sub following an ANCOVA (see Table 6.3), we found that medicated MDD patients had a larger volume of the Sub in the hippocampal tail than either the unmedicated MDD patients (p = 0.03) or controls (p = 0.03) (see Figure 6.4A and Table 6.4). Further analysis did not reveal any other effects of diagnosis or treatment on the volumes of Sub (see Figures 6.4B-D).



Figure 6.2: Mean volumes for the CA in hippocampal subregions: (A) the hippocampal tail, (B) body, (C) head, and (D) total CA volume. P-values of  $p \le .10$  from an ANCOVA of the groups are shown. Error bars display SD from the mean.



Figure 6.3: Mean volumes for the DG in the various subregions: (A) the hippocampal tail, (B) body, (C) head, and (D) total DG volume. P-values of  $p \le .10$  from an ANCOVA of the groups are shown. Error bars display SD from the mean.



Figure 6.4: Mean volumes for the Sub in the various subregions: (A) the hippocampal tail, (B) body, (C) head, and (D) total Sub volume. P-values of  $p \le .10$  from an ANCOVA of the groups are shown. Error bars display SD from the mean.

# Chapter 7

### Discussion



#### 7.1 General Findings

To our knowledge, this was the first high field volumetric MRI study to examine hippocampal subfields in vivo in patients with MDD. Participants with MDD had smaller CA subfield volumes in the hippocampal body bilaterally compared with controls. Furthermore, unmedicated MDD patients had lower total DG volumes bilaterally compared to either medicated MDD patients or healthy controls. The smaller DG volumes in unmedicated patients were found in the total DG and hippocampal tail, with trends in the DG in the other subregions. We found that in unmedicated MD patients the smaller CA and DG subfields of the HC, but not in the Sub, contributed to overall smaller volume of the HC and its tail and body subregions compared to healthy controls and medicated MDD patients. Our results are in agreement with the preclinical studies of chronic stress in adult animals (Joels et al., 2004; Leuner & Gould, 2010; McEwen, 2001; Sapolsky, 2000) that showed significant decreases in CA3 volume, massive loss due to neuronal death of CA3 pyramidal cells in the HC of severely stressed animals, dendritic retraction in the CA (CA1-3) and DG, and suppressed DG neurogenesis and glial loss, all apparently involving elevated levels of glucocorticoids, and therefore suggested as possible causative factors in HC shrinkage (Czeh & Lucassen, 2007). In addition, our results suggest that antidepressant treatment can increase volumes of hippocampal subfields and subregions, which have been observed to be smaller in unmedicated MDD patients.

7.2 Differences in the Global Volume of the Hippocampusand its Subregions Associated with MDD and AntidepressantTreatment

Numerous, but not all, previous volumetric MRI studies have reported hippocampal volume reductions in MDD (McKinnon et al., 2009; Videbech & Ravnkilde 2004). More recent studies (MacQueen et al., 2008; Maller et al., 2007; 2012; Malykhin et al., 2010b) investigated changes in hippocampal subregions and reported that those subregions were not uniformly affected in MDD patients. For instance, several studies reported reductions in the volume of the hippocampal tail (Maller et al., 2007; 2012; Malykhin et al., 2010b; Neumeister et al., 2005). In addition, posterior (body + tail) hippocampal volumes increases were reported in every single MDD patient after antidepressant treatment (Schermuly et al., 2011) while remitted MDD patients had larger pretreatment hippocampal body-tail volumes at baseline (MacQueen et al., 2008). Additionally, in our recent crosssectional study in MDD patients, we demonstrated for the first time that individuals on long term antidepressant treatment (median 36 months) had larger hippocampal body volumes than patients off antidepressants (median 12 months) (Malykhin et al., 2010b). These findings suggested differential vulnerability of hippocampal subregions. The results of the present study are in agreement with the previous studies (Maller et al., 2007; 2012; Malykhin et al., 2010b; Neumeister et al., 2005) suggesting that the hippocampal tail might be particularly vulnerable in MDD patients. Also in agreement with our previous study, we found

that only unmedicated MDD patients tended to have smaller total volumes of the HC compared to controls, while medicated MDD subjects and controls did not differ (Malykhin et al., 2010b). In contrast to our previous study (Malykhin et al., 2010b), in the present study we also found that unmedicated MDD patients had smaller volumes of the hippocampal body compared to the healthy subjects. There are two possible factors in the methodology that could account for this discrepancy. First, half of the unmedicated patients in the present study were medication naïve compared to our previous study where the majority of unmedicated MDD patients were only medication free but not naïve. Second, in our previous volumetric study, the white matter of the fimbria was included in the volume of hippocampal body, since the resolution simply did not allow us to separate it reliably from grey matter of the HC, whereas this volumetric study's images had sufficient resolution to separate it. However, in agreement with our previous study, antidepressant treatment had a significant effect on volume of the hippocampal body. In addition, also in agreement with our previous study, medicated patients showed larger volumes of hippocampal tail and tended to have larger global hippocampal volumes compared to unmedicated patients. Overall, our data suggest that antidepressant treatment was associated with increases in volumes of the hippocampal tail, hippocampal body and global volume of the HC, but not the hippocampal head as we have also previously demonstrated (Malykhin et al., 2010b).

Despite the fact that the reduction of hippocampal volume in MDD has been confirmed in many MRI volumetric studies, there were too few longitudinal

studies to determine if hippocampal volume loss is progressive or influenced by antidepressants (Frodl et al., 2008a; 2008b; Schermuly et al., 2011; Vythilingam et al., 2004). Administration of antidepressants for less than one year did not increase the volume of the HC in MDD (Vythilingam et al., 2004), but did so in PTSD (Vermetten et al., 2003). Although a robust 3 year prospective study yielded negative results on hippocampal changes between depressed participants and healthy controls (Frodl et al., 2008a; 2008b), our results are still not conflicted because the results may have differed due to either the use of different methods of hippocampal tracing or the use of VBM by the 3 year prospective study. Tracing showed increased left hippocampal volumes with medication that were independent of clinical outcome, whereas VBM showed volume losses in MDD patients with a poor outcome, but no effect of antidepressant treatments. These discrepancies might be because VBM is sensitive to local rather than total volume differences: it does not co-register hippocampal boundaries (Amunts et al., 2005), possibly due to the HC being a structure that is highly polymorphic amongst the population with its highly variable boundaries (Pruessner et al., 2000).

Another longitudinal study that reported posterior hippocampal volume increases (Schermuly et al., 2011) also suggested that hippocampal growth occurs independently from behavioural and cognitive changes (e.g. depression severity or memory performance), confirming the evidence from animal studies that the specific suppression of hippocampal neurogenesis does not in itself produce depression-like behaviour in animals (Airan et al., 2007; Santarelli et al., 2003; Saxe et al., 2006; Shors et al., 2002), even though the recovery of neurogenesis still is likely required for the recovery from stress (Kempermann & Kronenberg, 2003; Santarelli et al., 2003).

The results of the present cross-sectional study provide evidence of possible neuroprotective effects of antidepressant treatment in MDD patients and could also explain the discrepancies between some previous volumetric MRI studies in MDD that did not find significant differences between controls and MDD patients (Caetano et al., 2004; Posener et al., 2003; Vakili et al., 2000; von Gunten et al., 2000), the majority of whom were on antidepressant treatment.

#### 7.3 Differences Amongst Hippocampal Subfields in MDD

MDD patients showed significantly smaller volumes than the healthy controls' bilaterally in their CA volumes within the hippocampal body. However, this difference was only in unmedicated patients (p = 0.02) and was only a weak trend in medicated patients (p = 0.19) compared to healthy controls. Although the CA subfield volumes within the hippocampal tail did not differ between MDD patients and controls, unmedicated MDD patients tended to have smaller volumes compared to medicated MDD (p = 0.07).

Antidepressant treatment showed a significant effect on the volume of the CA subfield in the hippocampal body but only a trend (p = 0.17) on the CA volume in the hippocampal tail. We found that overall, MDD patients did not differ from controls in either the total volumes of the DG or the DG volumes within hippocampal subregions. However, in unmedicated patients, lower DG volumes or trends toward lower volumes were found in all hippocampal subregions along with lower global DG volumes, in comparison to healthy subjects. Furthermore, antidepressant treatment was associated with significantly larger total volumes and trends for larger subregional volumes of the DG within the HC.

These observations on the changes in the DG of the HC are in line with the neurogenic hypothesis of depression suggesting that the reduction in the rate of neurogenesis during depression (i.e. a reduced production of new neurons) in the DG plays a role in low hippocampal volumes in MDD, and that successful antidepressant treatment requires an enhancement in hippocampal neurogenesis, which may involve the recovery of the DG volumes (Jacobs et al., 2000; Kempermann & Kronenberg, 2003). Preclinical studies have demonstrated that both acute and chronic stress paradigms and various animal models of MDD involve the suppression of adult HC neurogenesis (Czeh et al., 2001; 2002; Pham et al., 2003). However, our volumetric findings on the hippocampal subfields are limited since we were not able to evaluate the rate of neurogenesis within the DG directly or, as with post-mortem studies, use NPCs to estimate the level of production of new neurons in the HC (Boldrini et al., 2009). Therefore, our finding on the volumetric changes in the DG only indirectly provide evidence of hippocampal neurogenesis, suggesting that the relative size of the DG is related to the extent of this neurogenesis.

Our results suggest that antidepressant treatment in fact might have a direct *in vivo* effect on the neuroplasticity of the DG and CA, as has been suggested previously in preclinical studies (Czeh & Lucassen, 2007). Although the selective disruption of DG neurogenesis does not induce any depressive-like behaviours directly, it can block the behavioural effects of antidepressants (Santarelli et al., 2003). Chronic, but not acute, administration of several types of antidepressants can not only reverse the stress-induced suppression of neurogenesis, but also increase basal DG neurogenesis in the absence of experimental stressors (Czeh et al., 2001; Dranovsky & Hen, 2006; Malberg et al., 2000; Santarelli et al., 2003).

The results of the present study suggest that antidepressant treatments were associated with the increased volumes of all subfields and subregions that were found to be smaller in unmedicated MDD patients. Interestingly, the volume increases did not depend on sustained remission, which suggests that they could be a direct effect of the antidepressant treatment rather than the result of successful remission.

The only hippocampal subfield that did not differ between MDD patients and controls was the Sub. This finding is line with our initial hypotheses and the post-mortem and animal studies that showed that the CA and DG were more vulnerable to stress and depression. However, effects of antidepressants on the Sub subfield are understudied. In our study, antidepressant treatment was associated with a higher volume of Sub in the hippocampal tail compared to either the unmedicated or control groups. This finding might be explained by several factors. First, the only hippocampal subregion that was overall significantly smaller between unmedicated and medicated MDD patients was the hippocampal tail and its larger volume was associated with antidepressant treatment, which could be explained by the assumption that changes in neuroplasticity within the hippocampal tail associated with depression and treatment are more prominent than in other hippocampal subregions. Second, medicated MDD patients tended to have trends toward larger total volumes of Sub (p = 0.17) and also larger volumes for the subfield within the body (p = 0.14) and the tail (p = 0.03) that overall mirror the effects of treatment on global hippocampal volume and volume of the hippocampal tail and body. Although these findings did not reach significance at p < 0.05 except for at the tail, they could be an indication that the effects of antidepressant treatment are not limited to previously reduced hippocampal subfields (CA and DG), but might also involve neuroplastic changes in the Sub. Several preclinical studies have also confirmed that the Sub is likely to be the primary area of hippocampal interactions with the HPA axis (Herman & Mueller, 2006; O'Mara, 2006). The ventral Sub has also been shown to be critical for stress responsiveness (i.e. the inhibition of the HPA axis via negative feedback to heightened glucocorticoid release after psychogenic stress), whereas the dorsal component may gate information concerning basal secretory patterns and is also involved in the integration of information from body movements and memory (Herman & Mueller, 2006; O'Mara, 2006). Recent data from animal studies suggest that diurnal corticosterone rhythms, which are disrupted in depression, are necessary for antidepressants to stimulate neurogenesis (Huang & Herbert, 2006),

which may be relevant to the HPA axis dysregulation in MDD dependent on the ventral Sub. Increased volumes of the dorsal (i.e. posterior in our case) Sub in medicated MDD patients might correspond to a normalization of basal cortisol level; however we did not acquire any cortisol data in our patients in order to be able to answer this question directly.

# 7.4 Postmortem Studies in MDD and Animal Studies of Stress

Preclinical studies suggest that the CA subfields of the HC, particularly the CA3 pyramidal cells, are most vulnerable to neuronal changes and cell loss associated with prolonged social stress and glucocorticoid overexposure (Joels et al., 2004; Sapolsky, 2000). Additionally, following stress, retraction of dendrites occurs in the CA3 more commonly than in the CA1 or DG, along with the suppression of neurogenesis in the DG (Czeh & Lucassen, 2007). However, glucocorticoid-induced neuronal damage of the HC has not yet been confirmed in human post-mortem brain tissue of severely depressed patients.

A reduction in the rate of neurogenesis in the DG has been suggested to play a role in the low hippocampal volumes observed in MDD (Jacobs et al., 2000). In rodents, proliferative cells migrate from the SGZ into the granular layer, whereas in primates the SGZ is less easily defined and proliferative cells appear in the polymorphic and granular layers and hilus (Boldrini et al., 2009; Eriksson et al., 1998; Lavenex et al., 2009). Adult neurogenesis, a process with a declining rate throughout an individual's lifetime, has been shown to be suppressed by chronic stress (Balu & Lucki, 2009; Leuner & Gould, 2010). Whereas suppression in healthy adults is transient, early adversity leads to a developmental deficit in adult DG volume and consequently to a lasting suppression of the rate of neurogenesis (Lemaire et al., 2000; Lucassen et al., 2009; Mirescu et al., 2004). However, it is interesting that the specific suppression of hippocampal neurogenesis does not in itself produce depression-like behaviour in animals (Airan et al., 2007; Santarelli et al., 2003; Saxe et al., 2006; Shors et al., 2002). In addition, antidepressants, irrespective of their mechanisms of action, trigger neuronal remodeling and synaptic plasticity and also promote hippocampal neurogenesis but that might not be a critical event for their mood-rectifying actions (Bessa et al., 2009). Chronic stress may also reduce the number, size and processes of HC astrocytes, but this is understudied (Czeh et al., 2006).

In contrast to multiple MRI volumetric studies in MDD, a small number of human post-mortem studies in MDD has not shown sufficient evidence for neuronal death to be confirmed as a significant factor in hippocampal volume reduction in MDD (Lucassen et al., 2001; Muller et al., 2001). They also have limitations of sample power and medication history. In the study of Lucassen et al. (2001) (n = 15), the majority of the MDD patients had been previously treated with antidepressants and the HC proper was dissected at a mid-anteroposterior level (i.e. hippocampal body). The authors suggested that hippocampal apoptosis in MDD was a minor event and was absent from the CA3 region of the hippocampal pyramidal cell layer. However, they found that cells undergoing apoptotic cell death were localized in other hippocampal subfields such as the CA1, CA4, DG, Sub and entorhinal cortex.

Stockmeier et al. (2004), in their post-mortem MDD study (5 out of 19 MDD patients were unmedicated), examined sections of right HC at the level of the hippocampal body. The authors found a robust and significant difference between control and depressive patients in the thickness of the sections after histological processing. After histological processing, sections from depressive subjects shrank approximately 18% more than sections from control subjects. The authors speculated from this observation that tissue from depressed subjects contained more water (Stockmeier et al., 2004), implying the displacement of functional cellular structure that could have disappeared. Pyramidal neuron density in all CA subfields and granule cell density in the DG were significantly increased by 35% in MDD patients compared to controls. The average soma size of pyramidal neurons in the CA regions was significantly decreased by 17% - 21%in MDD patients. In addition, in the granule cell layer of the DG the neuronal soma size was decreased by 22% in MDD. In MDD, the glial cell density was significantly increased by about 30% across the hippocampal pyramidal subfields and granule cell layer of the DG. Neuropil consists of the lattice of glial cells and their processes, dendrites, and proximal axons surrounding neuron cell bodies. The increased cell density in the HC indicates a reduction of neuropil per cell, which may contribute to the volume reduction in the HC in MDD (Stockmeier et al., 2004). Based on the results of their study, it has been hypothesized that a loss in neuropil in processes which include the loss of dendritic branching, dendritic

spine complexity, and glial processes can be related to the decrease in hippocampal volume noted by structural imaging studies in MDD (Stockmeier et al., 2004). However, a recent animal study (Bessa et al., 2009) shows that even with this decrease in neutrophil and volume, antidepressants could still retain their therapeutic efficacy in reducing both measured indices of depression-like behaviour (learned helplessness and anhedonia), even when neurogenesis was blocked. The authors suggested that the reestablishment of other forms of neuronal plasticity (dendritic remodeling and synaptic contacts) in the HC and prefrontal cortex, rather than neurogenesis, was the basis for the restoration of behavioural allostasis by antidepressants.

A recent post-mortem study by Boldrini et al. (2009) revealed that treated MDD patients (n = 7) had larger volumes of DG compared to untreated MDD patients (n = 5) or controls (n = 7). Treated MDD patients also had more NPCs compared to untreated MDD patients and controls. The increase of NPCs and dividing cells in treated MDD patients was localized in the rostral part of the DG. In our study, larger volumes of the DG were observed in medicated MDD patients compared to the unmedicated, while medicated MDD patients did not differ from controls. However, there was a trend for a larger volume in the DG of the hippocampal head in medicated MDD patients (p = 0.1) compared to controls which did not reach the 0.05 level of significance. In addition, unmedicated MDD patients showed smaller volumes of the DG compared to both medicated MDD patients and controls, suggesting that an overall reduction in DG volume could be a marker of untreated MDD, while antidepressant treatment might restore these changes to normal volume similar to healthy subjects. The most intriguing finding of the present study is that antidepressant treatment was associated with larger volumes of both the DG and CA subfields of the HC, suggesting that the neuroplasticity of the HC is not limited to the DG but also occurs in other hippocampal subfields. This is in agreement with previous animal studies that found that antidepressant treatment can affect hippocampal structure by the prevention of CA and DG spine loss (Bessa et al., 2009; Hajszan et al., 2009; Norrholm & Ouimet, 2001), prevention of CA and DG dendritic retraction (Bessa et al., 2009; Magarinos et al., 1999) and prevention of astrocyte loss (Czeh et al., 2006). Our findings on the effects of antidepressants on volume of the CA subfield are also supported by the fact that the CA3 atrophy in rat and tree shrew hippocampi after chronic stress or excess glucocorticoid levels disappeared once the depressive-symptom-inducing treatment was stopped or antidepressant treatment commenced (Margarinos et al., 1996; 1999).

Only two postmortem MDD studies have investigated whether antidepressants affect neurogenesis. One using confirmed treatment with both prescription and toxicological data showed that treatment increased NPCs and that TCA treatment increased proliferative cells (Boldrini et al., 2009). The other did not find an effect, but was significantly weakened by the fact that they only used prescription data to determine diagnosis (Reif et al., 2006).

Since structural changes in individually separated hippocampal subfields have not been previously examined in volumetric MRI studies of MDD due to the limited spatial resolution of conventional MRI and the lack of a comprehensive

analysis of all hippocampal subregions in post-mortem MDD studies (only the hippocampal body was included), it is difficult to predict which different hippocampal subfields within different subregions of the HC are more or less vulnerable in MDD. Our previous study of hippocampal subfields in healthy subjects suggested that the differences in vulnerability of hippocampal parts might be explained by their different structural organization, such as distribution across different subfields (Malykhin et al., 2010a). We reported that the HC head and tail occupy the largest proportion of the CA, and therefore processes that preferentially affect the CA may have a greater impact on the hippocampal head and tail. This suggestion was only partially supported by the results of the present study where the reductions in the CA volumes associated with unmedicated MDD were found in the hippocampal tail and body, but not in the hippocampal head in MDD patients. In addition, since the HC tail has a larger DG/CA ratio than the hippocampal head (Malykhin et al., 2010a), we speculated that it also plays a major role in hippocampal neurogenesis. This hypothesis was supported by the results of the present study, where the hippocampal body and tail were the hippocampal subregions that showed significant association with antidepressant treatment. Furthermore, a trend toward larger volumes in the CA subfield in the hippocampal tail that was associated with treatment (i.e. larger volumes in medicated MDD patients vs. unmedicated patients) was observed only in the hippocampal body, providing more evidence of this hippocampal subfield playing an exceptionally critical role in the antidepressant-induced neuroplasticity. However, larger volumes in the DG of medicated than in unmedicated MDD

subjects were observed in all hippocampal subregions, suggesting that antidepressant-induced neuroplasticity in the DG is not limited to the hippocampal body and is rather manifested throughout the entire hippocampal structure.

Restoration of the volume of the DG in the HC could have a significant effect on the memory function in MDD patients. Although our study investigating how changes in hippocampal subfields are related to memory function in MDD patients is currently ongoing, we have preliminary data supporting this important link (Travis, S. G., Huang, Y., Fujiwara, E., Radomski, A., Carter, R., Seres, P., & Malykhin, N. V., under review). In healthy subjects, the volumes of the DG (especially in the hippocampal tail) were the strongest predictors of memory performance on the standardized tests of the fourth edition of the Wechsler Memory Scale (WMS-IV), a battery of tests on various aspects of memory such as auditory memory, visual memory, and visual working memory, in immediate and delayed settings. In addition, the volume of the CA subfield in the hippocampal body and tail correlated with memory performance in multiple domains. The volume of the hippocampal tail as a whole was strongly associated with memory performance across four out of five memory indices. Of note, global hippocampal volumes, volumes of the Sub, and volumes in the hippocampal head failed to significantly correlate with memory performance in any index of the WMS-IV. Our data suggest that even in healthy young adults, performance in a standard set of neuropsychological memory tests could have a relation to volumes of the DG and CA subfields in the HC. These findings have direct applicability to

the present study: as hippocampal tail volumes are correlated with healthy controls' memory performance and are affected in depression (Maller et al., 2007; Malykhin et al., 2010b); once this study is extended to MDD patients, a potential link might be found in the subregion's volumes, explaining some of the memory deficits seen in depression (Hickie et al., 2005). In the future, we may be able to also see whether the memory deficits in MDD patients are related to specific subfields with the help of these standardized memory scales.

#### 7.5 Limitations

As we were not able to view individual cells and the link between the neurogenesis and antidepressants is not completely clear (neurogenesis not being necessary for all the effects of antidepressants, and compromised neurogenesis not always able to induce the behavioural effects of depression), our study could not conclude that the correlation between antidepressants and the larger volumes is a sure sign of the recovery from depression. In terms of methods, we were limited by the fact that MRIs were susceptible to motion, and our resolution was also limited by the SNR and the time limit of the MRI. Also, our study design was cross-sectional, and prospective studies are needed to determine the direct effects of antidepressants on hippocampal volumes. A relationship between the reported volume differences and memory function or cortisol levels was not determined. Our study sample (n = 20 patients with MDD) was relatively small compared to our previous volumetric study (n = 39) (Malykhin et al., 2010b); however, it was

relatively big compared to the post-mortem studies (n = 12 for Boldrini et al. (2009), n = 15 for Lucassen et al. (2001), and n = 19 for Stockmeier et al. (2004)) reported in the literature, especially since we examined both hippocampi, while Stockmeier et al. (2004) only used the right HC. Our sample size also did not allow examination of sex differences due to small cell sizes. In addition, whether these neuroplastic changes in the HC occur remains to be determined. Previously we showed that long term (> 36 months) antidepressant treatment had an association with increased hippocampal body volume, but it remains unknown if those neuroplastic changes can occur earlier, to a prominent level after simply months or a year of continuous antidepressant treatment. It is still also unclear whether or not the way antidepressant treatments affect hippocampal neuroplasticity are related to the patients' clinical outcome or HPA axis regulation, or are an unrelated side effect. Understanding these mechanisms is very important to the development of novel approaches to MDD.

#### 7.6 Conclusions

Our study showed that lower volumes of the DG and CA subfields of the HC could be state changes of MDD, as they may decrease with depression and recover following antidepressant-assisted remission, or the absence of depression. We also found that long term antidepressant treatment may restore these structural changes in the HC to normal levels in patients with MDD. The higher volumes of the DG could be either trait or state changes depending on whether they remain higher following the cessation of antidepressant administration for a duration of years.

### References

- Abercrombie, H. C., Schaefer, S. M., Larson, C. L., Oakes, T. R., Lindgren, K. A., Holden, J. E., . . . Davidson, R. J. (1998). Metabolic rate in the right amygdala predicts negative affect in depressed patients. *Neuroreport*, 9(14), 3301-3307.
- Abler, B., Erk, S., Herwig, U., & Walter, H. (2007). Anticipation of aversive stimuli activates extended amygdala in unipolar depression. *J Psychiatr Res*, *41*(6), 511-522.
- Achten, E., Deblaere, K., De Wagter, C., van Damme, F., Boon, P., De Reuck, J., & Kunnen, M. (1998). Intra- and interobserver variability of MRI-based volume measurements of the hippocampus and amygdala using the manual ray-tracing method. *Neuroradiology*, 40(9), 558-566.
- Adriano, F., Caltagirone, C., & Spalletta, G. (2012). Hippocampal volume reduction in first-episode and chronic schizophrenia: a review and metaanalysis. *Neuroscientist*, 18(2), 180-200.
- Aggleton, J. P. (1992). The Amygdala : neurobiological aspects of emotion, memory, and mental dysfunction. New York, NY: Wiley-Liss.
- Aihara, M., Ida, I., Yuuki, N., Oshima, A., Kumano, H., Takahashi, K., . . . Mikuni, M. (2007). HPA axis dysfunction in unmedicated major depressive disorder and its normalization by pharmacotherapy correlates with alteration of neural activity in prefrontal cortex and limbic/paralimbic regions. *Psychiatry Res*, 155(3), 245-256.
- Airan, R. D., Meltzer, L. A., Roy, M., Gong, Y., Chen, H., & Deisseroth, K. (2007). High-speed imaging reveals neurophysiological links to behavior in an animal model of depression. *Science*, 317(5839), 819-823.
- Alfarez, D. N., Joels, M., & Krugers, H. J. (2003). Chronic unpredictable stress impairs long-term potentiation in rat hippocampal CA1 area and dentate gyrus in vitro. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 17(9), 1928-1934.
- Alfonso, J., Pollevick, G. D., van Der Hart, M. G., Flugge, G., Fuchs, E., & Frasch, A. C. (2004). Identification of genes regulated by chronic psychosocial stress and antidepressant treatment in the hippocampus. *Eur J Neurosci*, 19(3), 659-666.

- Amaral, D. G., Insausti, R., & Cowan, W. M. (1984). The commissural connections of the monkey hippocampal formation. *J Comp Neurol*, 224(3), 307-336.
- American Psychiatric Association., & American Psychiatric Association. Task Force on DSM-IV. (1994). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders: DSM-IV* (4th ed.). Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association.
- Amunts, K., Kedo, O., Kindler, M., Pieperhoff, P., Mohlberg, H., Shah, N. J., ... Zilles, K. (2005). Cytoarchitectonic mapping of the human amygdala, hippocampal region and entorhinal cortex: intersubject variability and probability maps. *Anat Embryol (Berl)*, 210(5-6), 343-352.
- Andersen, R. A., Asanuma, C., Essick, G., & Siegel, R. M. (1990). Corticocortical Connections of Anatomically and Physiologically Defined Subdivisions within the Inferior Parietal Lobule. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 296(1), 65-113.
- Andrade, L., Caraveo-Anduaga, J. J., Berglund, P., Bijl, R. V., De Graaf, R.,
  Vollebergh, W., . . . Wittchen, H. U. (2003). The epidemiology of major
  depressive episodes: results from the International Consortium of Psychiatric
  Epidemiology (ICPE) Surveys. *Int J Methods Psychiatr Res*, 12(1), 3-21.
- Andreasen, N. C. (1988). Brain imaging: applications in psychiatry. *Science*, 239(4846), 1381-1388.
- Arciniegas, D. B., Topkoff, J. L., Rojas, D. C., Sheeder, J., Teale, P., Young, D. A., . . . Adler, L. E. (2001). Reduced hippocampal volume in association with p50 nonsuppression following traumatic brain injury. *J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci*, 13(2), 213-221.
- Arndt, S., Cohen, G., Alliger, R. J., Swayze, V. W., 2nd, & Andreasen, N. C. (1991). Problems with ratio and proportion measures of imaged cerebral structures. *Psychiatry Res*, 40(1), 79-89.
- Arnone, D., McIntosh, A. M., Ebmeier, K. P., Munafo, M. R., & Anderson, I. M. (2012). Magnetic resonance imaging studies in unipolar depression: systematic review and meta-regression analyses. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol*, 22(1), 1-16.

- Ashtari, M., Barr, W. B., Schaul, N., & Bogerts, B. (1991). Three-dimensional fast low-angle shot imaging and computerized volume measurement of the hippocampus in patients with chronic epilepsy of the temporal lobe. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol*, *12*(5), 941-947.
- Atienza, M., Atalaia-Silva, K. C., Gonzalez-Escamilla, G., Gil-Neciga, E., Suarez-Gonzalez, A., & Cantero, J. L. (2011). Associative memory deficits in mild cognitive impairment: The role of hippocampal formation. *Neuroimage*, 57(4), 1331-1342.
- Bakker, A., Kirwan, C. B., Miller, M., & Stark, C. E. (2008). Pattern separation in the human hippocampal CA3 and dentate gyrus. *Science*, *319*(5870), 1640-1642.
- Balu, D. T., Hoshaw, B. A., Malberg, J. E., Rosenzweig-Lipson, S., Schechter, L. E., & Lucki, I. (2008). Differential regulation of central BDNF protein levels by antidepressant and non-antidepressant drug treatments. *Brain Res*, 1211, 37-43.
- Balu, D. T., & Lucki, I. (2009). Adult hippocampal neurogenesis: regulation, functional implications, and contribution to disease pathology. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev*, 33(3), 232-252.
- Banasr, M., Soumier, A., Hery, M., Mocaer, E., & Daszuta, A. (2006). Agomelatine, a new antidepressant, induces regional changes in hippocampal neurogenesis. *Biol Psychiatry*, 59(11), 1087-1096.
- Bannerman, D. M., Rawlins, J. N. P., McHugh, S. B., Deacon, R. M. J., Yee, B. K., Bast, T., . . . Feldon, J. (2004). Regional dissociations within the hippocampus memory and anxiety. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 28(3), 273-283.
- Barden, N. (1999). Regulation of corticosteroid receptor gene expression in depression and antidepressant action. *J Psychiatry Neurosci*, 24(1), 25-39.
- Barden, N. (2004). Implication of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis in the physiopathology of depression. *J Psychiatry Neurosci*, 29(3), 185-193.
- Barkataki, I., Kumari, V., Das, M., Taylor, P., & Sharma, T. (2006). Volumetric structural brain abnormalities in men with schizophrenia or antisocial personality disorder. *Behav Brain Res*, 169(2), 239-247.

- Bartzokis, G., Aravagiri, M., Oldendorf, W. H., Mintz, J., & Marder, S. R. (1993b). Field dependent transverse relaxation rate increase may be a specific measure of tissue iron stores. *Magn Reson Med*, 29(4), 459-464.
- Bartzokis, G., Mintz, J., Marx, P., Osborn, D., Gutkind, D., Chiang, F., . . . Marder, S. R. (1993a). Reliability of in vivo volume measures of hippocampus and other brain structures using MRI. *Magn Reson Imaging*, *11*(7), 993-1006.
- Bast, T. (2007). Toward an integrative perspective on hippocampal function: from the rapid encoding of experience to adaptive behavior. *Rev Neurosci, 18*(3-4), 253-281.
- Bell, M. A., & Ball, M. J. (1981). Morphometric comparison of hippocampal microvasculature in ageing and demented people: diameters and densities. *Acta Neuropathol*, *53*(4), 299-318.
- Berg, A. T., Pardoe, H. R., Fulbright, R. K., Schuele, S. U., & Jackson, G. D. (2011). Hippocampal size anomalies in a community-based cohort with childhood-onset epilepsy. *Neurology*, 76(16), 1415-1421.
- Bessa, J. M., Ferreira, D., Melo, I., Marques, F., Cerqueira, J. J., Palha, J. A., ... Sousa, N. (2009). The mood-improving actions of antidepressants do not depend on neurogenesis but are associated with neuronal remodeling. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 14(8), 764-773.
- Biegler, R., McGregor, A., Krebs, J. R., & Healy, S. D. (2001). A larger hippocampus is associated with longer-lasting spatial memory. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 98(12), 6941-6944.
- Blackstad, T. W. (1956). Commissural connections of the hippocampal region in the rat, with special reference to their mode of termination. *J Comp Neurol*, *105*(3), 417-537.
- Boldrini, M., & Arango, V. (2010). Antidepressants, age, and neuroprogenitors. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, *35*(1), 351-352.
- Boldrini, M., Underwood, M. D., Hen, R., Rosoklija, G. B., Dwork, A. J., John Mann, J., & Arango, V. (2009). Antidepressants increase neural progenitor cells in the human hippocampus. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 34(11), 2376-2389.

- Bossini, L., Tavanti, M., Lombardelli, A., Calossi, S., Polizzotto, N. R., Galli, R., . . . Castrogiovanni, P. (2007). Changes in hippocampal volume in patients with post-traumatic stress disorder after sertraline treatment. *J Clin Psychopharmacol*, 27(2), 233-235.
- Botteron, K. N., Raichle, M. E., Drevets, W. C., Heath, A. C., & Todd, R. D. (2002). Volumetric reduction in left subgenual prefrontal cortex in early onset depression. *Biol Psychiatry*, 51(4), 342-344.
- Braak, H., & Braak, E. (1983). Neuronal types in the basolateral amygdaloid nuclei of man. *Brain Res Bull*, 11(3), 349-365.
- Braitenberg, V., & Schuz, A. (1991). *Anatomy of the cortex: statistics and geometry*. Berlin New York: Springer-Verlag.
- Bralten, J., Arias-Vasquez, A., Makkinje, R., Veltman, J. A., Brunner, H. G., Fernandez, G., . . . Franke, B. (2011). Association of the Alzheimer's Gene SORL1 With Hippocampal Volume in Young, Healthy Adults. *Am J Psychiatry*, 168(10):1083-1089
- Bremner, J. D., Narayan, M., Anderson, E. R., Staib, L. H., Miller, H. L., & Charney, D. S. (2000). Hippocampal volume reduction in major depression. *Am J Psychiatry*, 157(1), 115-118.
- Bremner, J. D., Randall, P., Scott, T. M., Bronen, R. A., Seibyl, J. P., Southwick, S. M., . . . Innis, R. B. (1995). MRI-based measurement of hippocampal volume in patients with combat-related posttraumatic stress disorder. *Am J Psychiatry*, 152(7), 973-981.
- Brezun, J. M., & Daszuta, A. (2000). Serotonergic reinnervation reverses lesioninduced decreases in PSA-NCAM labeling and proliferation of hippocampal cells in adult rats. *Hippocampus*, 10(1), 37-46.
- Brummelte, S., & Galea, L. A. M. (2010). Chronic High Corticosterone Reduces Neurogenesis in the Dentate Gyrus of Adult Male and Female Rats. *Neuroscience*, 168(3), 680-690.
- Burgess, N., Maguire, E. A., & O'Keefe, J. (2002). The human hippocampus and spatial and episodic memory. *Neuron*, *35*(4), 625-641.
- Burghardt, N. S., Park, E. H., Hen, R., & Fenton, A. A. (2012). Adult-born hippocampal neurons promote cognitive flexibility in mice. *Hippocampus*, 22(9), 1795-1808.
- Byers, A. L., & Yaffe, K. (2011). Depression and risk of developing dementia. *Nat Rev Neurol*, 7(6), 323-331.
- Caetano, S. C., Hatch, J. P., Brambilla, P., Sassi, R. B., Nicoletti, M., Mallinger, A. G., . . . Soares, J. C. (2004). Anatomical MRI study of hippocampus and amygdala in patients with current and remitted major depression. *Psychiatry Res*, *132*(2), 141-147.
- Cameron, H. A., & Gould, E. (1994). Adult Neurogenesis Is Regulated by Adrenal-Steroids in the Dentate Gyrus. *Neuroscience*, *61*(2), 203-209.
- Cardenas, V. A., Du, A. T., Hardin, D., Ezekiel, F., Weber, P., Jagust, W. J., ... Weiner, M. W. (2003). Comparison of methods for measuring longitudinal brain change in cognitive impairment and dementia. *Neurobiol Aging*, 24(4), 537-544.
- Carola, V., & Gross, C. (2012). Mouse Models of the 5-HTTLPR x Stress Risk Factor for Depression. *Curr Top Behav Neurosci, 12*, 59-72.
- Carroll, B. J. (1982). Clinical applications of the dexamethasone suppression test for endogenous depression. *Pharmacopsychiatria*, 15(1), 19-25.
- Caspi, A., Sugden, K., Moffitt, T. E., Taylor, A., Craig, I. W., Harrington, H., . . . Poulton, R. (2003). Influence of life stress on depression: moderation by a polymorphism in the 5-HTT gene. *Science*, *301*(5631), 386-389.
- Cerbone, A., Patacchioli, F. R., & Sadile, A. G. (1993). A Neurogenetic and Morphogenetic Approach to Hippocampal Functions Based on Individual-Differences and Neurobehavioral Covariations. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 55(1), 1-16.
- Chakeres, D. W., Whitaker, C. D., Dashner, R. A., Scharre, D. W., Beversdorf, D. Q., Raychaudhury, A., & Schmalbrock, P. (2005). High-resolution 8 Tesla imaging of the formalin-fixed normal human hippocampus. *Clin Anat*, 18(2), 88-91.

- Chang, Y. C., Tzeng, S. F., Yu, L., Huang, A. M., Lee, H. T., Huang, C. C., & Ho, C. J. (2006). Early-life fluoxetine exposure reduced functional deficits after hypoxic-ischemia brain injury in rat pups. *Neurobiol Dis*, 24(1), 101-113.
- Chen, F., Madsen, T. M., Wegener, G., & Nyengaard, J. R. (2010b). Imipramine treatment increases the number of hippocampal synapses and neurons in a genetic animal model of depression. *Hippocampus*, 20(12), 1376-1384.
- Chen, K. H., Chuah, L. Y., Sim, S. K., & Chee, M. W. (2010a). Hippocampal region-specific contributions to memory performance in normal elderly. *Brain Cogn*, *72*(3), 400-407.
- Choi, J., Jeong, B., Rohan, M. L., Polcari, A. M., & Teicher, M. H. (2009). Preliminary evidence for white matter tract abnormalities in young adults exposed to parental verbal abuse. *Biol Psychiatry*, 65(3), 227-234.
- Colchester, A., Kingsley, D., Lasserson, D., Kendall, B., Bello, F., Rush, C., ... Kopelman, M. D. (2001). Structural MRI volumetric analysis in patients with organic amnesia, 1: methods and comparative findings across diagnostic groups. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, 71(1), 13-22.
- Cole, J., Toga, A. W., Hojatkashani, C., Thompson, P., Costafreda, S. G., Cleare, A. J., . . . Fu, C. H. Y. (2010). Subregional hippocampal deformations in major depressive disorder. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *126*(1-2), 272-277.
- Collins, R. C. (1986). Selective vulnerability of brain: new insights from the excitatory synapse. *Metab Brain Dis*, 1(4), 231-240.
- Cook, M. J., Fish, D. R., Shorvon, S. D., Straughan, K., & Stevens, J. M. (1992). Hippocampal volumetric and morphometric studies in frontal and temporal lobe epilepsy. *Brain*, 115 (Pt 4), 1001-1015.
- Couillard-Despres, S., Wuertinger, C., Kandasamy, M., Caioni, M., Stadler, K., Aigner, R., . . . Aigner, L. (2009). Ageing abolishes the effects of fluoxetine on neurogenesis. *Mol Psychiatry*, *14*(9), 856-864.
- Crayton, J. W., Joshi, I., Gulati, A., Arora, R. C., & Wolf, W. A. (1996). Effect of corticosterone on serotonin and catecholamine receptors and uptake sites in rat frontal cortex. *Brain Res*, 728(2), 260-262.

- Czeh, B., & Lucassen, P. J. (2007). What causes the hippocampal volume decrease in depression? *European Archives of Psychiatry and Clinical Neuroscience*, 257(5), 250-260.
- Czeh, B., Michaelis, T., Watanabe, T., Frahm, J., de Biurrun, G., van Kampen, M., . . . Fuchs, E. (2001). Stress-induced changes in cerebral metabolites, hippocampal volume, and cell proliferation are prevented by antidepressant treatment with tianeptine. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *98*(22), 12796-12801.
- Czeh, B., Simon, M., Schmelting, B., Hiemke, C., & Fuchs, E. (2006). Astroglial plasticity in the hippocampus is affected by chronic psychosocial stress and concomitant Fluoxetine treatment. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 31(8), 1616-1626.
- Czeh, B., Welt, T., Fischer, A. K., Erhardt, A., Schmitt, W., Muller, M. B., ... Keck, M. E. (2002). Chronic psychosocial stress and concomitant repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation: effects on stress hormone levels and adult hippocampal neurogenesis. *Biol Psychiatry*, *52*(11), 1057-1065.
- Dam, A. M. (1979). Density of Neurons in the Human Hippocampus. *Neuropathology and Applied Neurobiology*, 5(4), 249-264.
- Dannlowski, U., Stuhrmann, A., Beutelmann, V., Zwanzger, P., Lenzen, T., Grotegerd, D., . . . Kugel, H. (2012). Limbic Scars: Long-Term Consequences of Childhood Maltreatment Revealed by Functional and Structural Magnetic Resonance Imaging. *Biological Psychiatry*, 71(4), 286-293.
- Danzer, S. C. (2012). Depression, stress, epilepsy and adult neurogenesis. *Exp Neurol*, 233(1), 22-32.
- Das, S. R., Mechanic-Hamilton, D., Pluta, J., Korczykowski, M., Detre, J. A., & Yushkevich, P. A. (2011). Heterogeneity of functional activation during memory encoding across hippocampal subfields in temporal lobe epilepsy. *Neuroimage*, 58(4), 1121-1130.
- David, D. J., Samuels, B. A., Rainer, Q., Wang, J. W., Marsteller, D., Mendez, I., . . . Hen, R. (2009). Neurogenesis-dependent and -independent effects of fluoxetine in an animal model of anxiety/depression. *Neuron*, 62(4), 479-493.
- David, D. J., Wang, J., Samuels, B. A., Rainer, Q., David, I., Gardier, A. M., & Hen, R. (2010). Implications of the functional integration of adult-born hippocampal neurons in anxiety-depression disorders. *Neuroscientist*, 16(5), 578-591.

- De Kloet, E. R., Vreugdenhil, E., Oitzl, M. S., & Joels, M. (1998). Brain corticosteroid receptor balance in health and disease. *Endocr Rev*, 19(3), 269-301.
- DeCarolis, N. A., & Eisch, A. J. (2010). Hippocampal neurogenesis as a target for the treatment of mental illness: A critical evaluation. *Neuropharmacology*, *58*(6), 884-893.
- Deichmann, R., Good, C. D., Josephs, O., Ashburner, J., & Turner, R. (2000). Optimization of 3-D MP-RAGE sequences for structural brain imaging. *Neuroimage*, 12(1), 112-127.
- Diamond, D. M., Bennett, M. C., Fleshner, M., & Rose, G. M. (1992). Inverted-U relationship between the level of peripheral corticosterone and the magnitude of hippocampal primed burst potentiation. *Hippocampus*, *2*(4), 421-430.
- Diamond, D. M., Dunwiddie, T. V., & Rose, G. M. (1988). Characteristics of hippocampal primed burst potentiation in vitro and in the awake rat. J *Neurosci*, 8(11), 4079-4088.
- Doebler, J. A., Markesbery, W. R., Anthony, A., & Rhoads, R. E. (1987). Neuronal RNA in relation to neuronal loss and neurofibrillary pathology in the hippocampus in Alzheimer's disease. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol*, 46(1), 28-39.
- Doring, T. M., Kubo, T. T., Cruz, L. C., Jr., Juruena, M. F., Fainberg, J., Domingues, R. C., & Gasparetto, E. L. (2011). Evaluation of hippocampal volume based on MR imaging in patients with bipolar affective disorder applying manual and automatic segmentation techniques. *J Magn Reson Imaging*, 33(3), 565-572.
- Draganski, B., Gaser, C., Busch, V., Schuierer, G., Bogdahn, U., & May, A. (2004). Neuroplasticity: changes in grey matter induced by training. *Nature*, *427*(6972), 311-312.
- Draganski, B., Gaser, C., Kempermann, G., Kuhn, H. G., Winkler, J., Buchel, C., & May, A. (2006). Temporal and spatial dynamics of brain structure changes during extensive learning. *J Neurosci*, 26(23), 6314-6317.
- Dranovsky, A., & Hen, R. (2006). Hippocampal neurogenesis: regulation by stress and antidepressants. *Biol Psychiatry*, 59(12), 1136-1143.

- Drevets, W. C., Ongur, D., & Price, J. L. (1998). Neuroimaging abnormalities in the subgenual prefrontal cortex: implications for the pathophysiology of familial mood disorders. *Mol Psychiatry*, *3*(3), 220-226, 190-221.
- Drevets, W. C., Price, J. L., Bardgett, M. E., Reich, T., Todd, R. D., & Raichle, M. E. (2002). Glucose metabolism in the amygdala in depression: relationship to diagnostic subtype and plasma cortisol levels. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, 71(3), 431-447.
- Drevets, W. C., Price, J. L., Simpson, J. R., Jr., Todd, R. D., Reich, T., Vannier, M., & Raichle, M. E. (1997). Subgenual prefrontal cortex abnormalities in mood disorders. *Nature*, 386(6627), 824-827.
- Drevets, W. C., Thase, M. E., Moses-Kolko, E. L., Price, J., Frank, E., Kupfer, D. J., & Mathis, C. (2007). Serotonin-1A receptor imaging in recurrent depression: replication and literature review. *Nucl Med Biol*, 34(7), 865-877.
- Drew, M. R., & Hen, R. (2007). Adult hippocampal neurogenesis as target for the treatment of depression. *CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets*, 6(3), 205-218.
- Duman, R. S. (2004). Depression: a case of neuronal life and death? *Biol Psychiatry*, *56*(3), 140-145.
- Duman, R. S., & Monteggia, L. M. (2006). A neurotrophic model for stress-related mood disorders. *Biol Psychiatry*, 59(12), 1116-1127.
- Duric, V., Banasr, M., Stockmeier, C. A., Simen, A. A., Newton, S. S., Overholser, J. C., . . . Duman, R. S. (2012). Altered expression of synapse and glutamate related genes in post-mortem hippocampus of depressed subjects. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol*, 1-14.
- Duvernoy, H. M. (2005). The Human Hippocampus: Functional Anatomy, Vascularization and Serial Sections with MRI. Berlin Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag
- Eichenbaum, H., & Fortin, N. J. (2009). The neurobiology of memory based predictions. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci, 364*(1521), 1183-1191.
- Eker, C., Kitis, O., Taneli, F., Eker, O. D., Ozan, E., Yucel, K., . . . Gonul, A. S. (2010). Correlation of serum BDNF levels with hippocampal volumes in first episode, medication-free depressed patients. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci, 260*(7), 527-533.

- Eriksson, S. H., Thom, M., Bartlett, P. A., Symms, M. R., McEvoy, A. W., Sisodiya, S. M., & Duncan, J. S. (2008). PROPELLER MRI visualizes detailed pathology of hippocampal sclerosis. *Epilepsia*, 49(1), 33-39.
- Eritaia, J., Wood, S. J., Stuart, G. W., Bridle, N., Dudgeon, P., Maruff, P., ... Pantelis, C. (2000). An optimized method for estimating intracranial volume from magnetic resonance images. *Magnetic Resonance in Medicine*, 44(6), 973-977.
- Ernst, C., Olson, A. K., Pinel, J. P., Lam, R. W., & Christie, B. R. (2006). Antidepressant effects of exercise: evidence for an adult-neurogenesis hypothesis? *J Psychiatry Neurosci*, *31*(2), 84-92.
- Fatterpekar, G. M., Naidich, T. P., Delman, B. N., Aguinaldo, J. G., Gultekin, S. H., Sherwood, C. C., . . . Fayad, Z. A. (2002). Cytoarchitecture of the human cerebral cortex: MR microscopy of excised specimens at 9.4 Tesla. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol, 23(8), 1313-1321.
- Felitti, V. J. (2002). The relationship of adverse childhood experiences to adult health: Turning gold into lead. *Zeitschrift Fur Psychosomatische Medizin Und Psychotherapie*, 48(4), 359-369.
- First, M. B., Williams, B. W., & Spitzer, R. L. (1997). Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV Axis I Psychiatric Disorders. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Press.
- Fountoulakis, K. N., Gonda, X., Rihmer, Z., Fokas, C., & Iacovides, A. (2008). Revisiting the Dexamethasone Suppression Test in unipolar major depression: an exploratory study. *Ann Gen Psychiatry*, 7, 22.
- Frith, C. D., & Done, D. J. (1988). Towards a Neuropsychology of Schizophrenia. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 153, 437-443.
- Frodl, T., Jager, M., Smajstrlova, I., Born, C., Bottlender, R., Palladino, T., . . . Meisenzahl, E. M. (2008a). Effect of hippocampal and amygdala volumes on clinical outcomes in major depression: a 3-year prospective magnetic resonance imaging study. *J Psychiatry Neurosci*, 33(5), 423-430.
- Frodl, T., Meisenzahl, E. M., Zetzsche, T., Born, C., Groll, C., Jager, M., . . . Moller, H. J. (2002). Hippocampal changes in patients with a first episode of major depression. *Am J Psychiatry*, 159(7), 1112-1118.

- Frodl, T., Meisenzahl, E. M., Zill, P., Baghai, T., Rujescu, D., Leinsinger, G., ... Moller, H. J. (2004). Reduced hippocampal volumes associated with the long variant of the serotonin transporter polymorphism in major depression. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*, 61(2), 177-183.
- Frodl, T., Reinhold, E., Koutsouleris, N., Reiser, M., & Meisenzahl, E. M. (2010). Interaction of childhood stress with hippocampus and prefrontal cortex volume reduction in major depression. *J Psychiatr Res*, 44(13), 799-807.
- Frodl, T. S., Koutsouleris, N., Bottlender, R., Born, C., Jager, M., Scupin, I., ... Meisenzahl, E. M. (2008b). Depression-related variation in brain morphology over 3 years: effects of stress? *Arch Gen Psychiatry*, 65(10), 1156-1165.
- Fuchs, E., & Flugge, G. (1998). Stress, glucocorticoids and structural plasticity of the hippocampus. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 23(2), 295-300.
- Gazzaley, A. H., Weiland, N. G., McEwen, B. S., & Morrison, J. H. (1996). Differential regulation of NMDAR1 mRNA and protein by estradiol in the rat hippocampus. *J Neurosci*, 16(21), 6830-6838.
- Gemar, M. C., Segal, Z. V., Mayberg, H. S., Goldapple, K., & Carney, C. (2007). Changes in regional cerebral blood flow following mood challenge in drugfree, remitted patients with unipolar depression. *Depress Anxiety*, 24(8), 597-601.
- Geuze, E., Vermetten, E., & Bremner, J. D. (2005a). MR-based in vivo hippocampal volumetrics: 1. Review of methodologies currently employed. *Mol Psychiatry*, *10*(2), 147-159.
- Geuze, E., Vermetten, E., & Bremner, J. D. (2005b). MR-based in vivo hippocampal volumetrics: 2. Findings in neuropsychiatric disorders. *Mol Psychiatry*, *10*(2), 160-184.
- Gold, P. W., & Chrousos, G. P. (2002). Organization of the stress system and its dysregulation in melancholic and atypical depression: high vs low CRH/NE states. *Mol Psychiatry*, 7(3), 254-275.
- Gosche, K. M., Mortimer, J. A., Smith, C. D., Markesbery, W. R., & Snowdon, D. A. (2001). An automated technique for measuring hippocampal volumes from MR imaging studies. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol*, 22(9), 1686-1689.

- Gould, E., McEwen, B. S., Tanapat, P., Galea, L. A. M., & Fuchs, E. (1997). Neurogenesis in the dentate gyrus of the adult tree shrew is regulated by psychosocial stress and NMDA receptor activation. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 17(7), 2492-2498.
- Grunhaus, L., Pande, A. C., Brown, M. B., & Greden, J. F. (1994). Clinical characteristics of patients with concurrent major depressive disorder and panic disorder. *Am J Psychiatry*, 151(4), 541-546.
- Haigler, H. J., Cahill, L., Crager, M., & Charles, E. (1986). Acetylcholine, aging and anatomy: differential effects in the hippocampus. *Brain Res*, 362(1), 157-160.
- Hajek, T., Kopecek, M., Kozeny, J., Gunde, E., Alda, M., & Hoschl, C. (2009). Amygdala volumes in mood disorders--meta-analysis of magnetic resonance volumetry studies. J Affect Disord, 115(3), 395-410.
- Hajek, T., Kozeny, J., Kopecek, M., Alda, M., & Hoschl, C. (2008). Reduced subgenual cingulate volumes in mood disorders: a meta-analysis. *J Psychiatry Neurosci*, 33(2), 91-99.
- Hajszan, T., Dow, A., Warner-Schmidt, J. L., Szigeti-Buck, K., Sallam, N. L., Parducz, A., . . . Duman, R. S. (2009). Remodeling of hippocampal spine synapses in the rat learned helplessness model of depression. *Biol Psychiatry*, 65(5), 392-400.
- Hajszan, T., Szigeti-Buck, K., Sallam, N. L., Bober, J., Parducz, A., Maclusky, N. J., . . . Duman, R. S. (2010). Effects of estradiol on learned helplessness and associated remodeling of hippocampal spine synapses in female rats. *Biol Psychiatry*, 67(2), 168-174.
- Hamilton, J. P., Siemer, M., & Gotlib, I. H. (2008). Amygdala volume in major depressive disorder: a meta-analysis of magnetic resonance imaging studies. *Mol Psychiatry*, 13(11), 993-1000.
- Hamilton, M. (1960). A rating scale for depression. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, 23, 56-62.
  Hartley, T., Maguire, E. A., Spiers, H. J., & Burgess, N. (2003). The well-worn route and the path less traveled: distinct neural bases of route following and wayfinding in humans. *Neuron*, 37(5), 877-888.

- Hasboun, D., Chantome, M., Zouaoui, A., Sahel, M., Deladoeuille, M., Sourour, N., . . . Dormont, D. (1996). MR determination of hippocampal volume: comparison of three methods. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol*, *17*(6), 1091-1098.
- Hastings, R. S., Parsey, R. V., Oquendo, M. A., Arango, V., & Mann, J. J. (2004). Volumetric analysis of the prefrontal cortex, amygdala, and hippocampus in major depression. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 29(5), 952-959.
- Herman, J. P., & Mueller, N. K. (2006). Role of the ventral subiculum in stress integration. *Behav Brain Res*, 174(2), 215-224.
- Hickie, I., Naismith, S., Ward, P. B., Turner, K., Scott, E., Mitchell, P., . . . Parker, G. (2005). Reduced hippocampal volumes and memory loss in patients with early- and late-onset depression. *Br J Psychiatry*, 186, 197-202.
- Hirayasu, Y., Shenton, M. E., Salisbury, D. F., Kwon, J. S., Wible, C. G., Fischer, I. A., . . . McCarley, R. W. (1999). Subgenual cingulate cortex volume in firstepisode psychosis. *Am J Psychiatry*, 156(7), 1091-1093.
- Hirshhorn, M., Grady, C., Rosenbaum, R. S., Winocur, G., & Moscovitch, M. (2011). The hippocampus is involved in mental navigation for a recently learned, but not a highly familiar environment: A longitudinal fMRI study. *Hippocampus*, 22(4):842-52.
- Holick, K. A., Lee, D. C., Hen, R., & Dulawa, S. C. (2008). Behavioral effects of chronic fluoxetine in BALB/cJ mice do not require adult hippocampal neurogenesis or the serotonin 1A receptor. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 33(2), 406-417.
- Holsboer, F. (1988). Implications of Altered Limbic-Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Adrenocortical (Lhpa)-Function for Neurobiology of Depression. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 77, 72-111.
- Holsboer, F. (2000). The corticosteroid receptor hypothesis of depression. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 23(5), 477-501.
- Holsboer, F., & Ising, M. (2010). Stress Hormone Regulation: Biological Role and Translation into Therapy. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 61, 81-109.
- Hu, S. Y., Coupe, P., Pruessner, J. C., & Collins, D. L. (2011). Appearance-based modeling for segmentation of hippocampus and amygdala using multicontrast MR imaging. *Neuroimage*, 58(2), 549-559.

- Huang, G. J., & Herbert, J. (2006). Stimulation of neurogenesis in the hippocampus of the adult rat by fluoxetine requires rhythmic change in corticosterone. *Biol Psychiatry*, *59*(7), 619-624.
- Iaria, G., Petrides, M., Dagher, A., Pike, B., & Bohbot, V. D. (2003). Cognitive strategies dependent on the hippocampus and caudate nucleus in human navigation: variability and change with practice. *J Neurosci*, 23(13), 5945-5952.
- Irwin, W., Anderle, M. J., Abercrombie, H. C., Schaefer, S. M., Kalin, N. H., & Davidson, R. J. (2004). Amygdalar interhemispheric functional connectivity differs between the non-depressed and depressed human brain. *Neuroimage*, *21*(2), 674-686.
- Jack, C. R., Jr. (1994). MRI-based hippocampal volume measurements in epilepsy. *Epilepsia, 35 Suppl 6*, S21-29.
- Jack, C. R., Jr., Bentley, M. D., Twomey, C. K., & Zinsmeister, A. R. (1990). MR imaging-based volume measurements of the hippocampal formation and anterior temporal lobe: validation studies. *Radiology*, 176(1), 205-209.
- Jack, C. R., Jr., Petersen, R. C., O'Brien, P. C., & Tangalos, E. G. (1992). MRbased hippocampal volumetry in the diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease. *Neurology*, 42(1), 183-188.
- Jack, C. R., Jr., Twomey, C. K., Zinsmeister, A. R., Sharbrough, F. W., Petersen, R. C., & Cascino, G. D. (1989). Anterior temporal lobes and hippocampal formations: normative volumetric measurements from MR images in young adults. *Radiology*, 172(2), 549-554.
- Jackson, E. F., Ginsberg, L. E., Schomer, D. F., & Leeds, N. E. (1997). A review of MRI pulse sequences and techniques in neuroimaging. *Surg Neurol*, 47(2), 185-199.
- Jacobs, B. L., van Praag, H., & Gage, F. H. (2000). Adult brain neurogenesis and psychiatry: a novel theory of depression. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 5(3), 262-269.
- Jankord, R., & Herman, J. P. (2008). Limbic regulation of hypothalamo-pituitaryadrenocortical function during acute and chronic stress. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, *1148*, 64-73.

- Joels, M. (2008). Functional actions of corticosteroids in the hippocampus. *Eur J Pharmacol, 583*(2-3), 312-321.
- Joels, M., Karst, H., Alfarez, D., Heine, V. M., Qin, Y. J., van Riel, E., . . . Krugers, H. J. (2004). Effects of chronic stress on structure and cell function in rat hippocampus and hypothalamus. *Stress-the International Journal on the Biology of Stress*, 7(4), 221-231.
- Joels, M., Karst, H., Krugers, H. J., & Lucassen, P. J. (2007). Chronic stress: implications for neuronal morphology, function and neurogenesis. *Front Neuroendocrinol*, 28(2-3), 72-96.
- Kaye, J. A., Swihart, T., Howieson, D., Dame, A., Moore, M. M., Karnos, T., ... Sexton, G. (1997). Volume loss of the hippocampus and temporal lobe in healthy elderly persons destined to develop dementia. *Neurology*, 48(5), 1297-1304.
- Kempermann, G., & Kronenberg, G. (2003). Depressed new neurons Adult hippocampal neurogenesis and a cellular plasticity hypothesis of major depression. *Biological Psychiatry*, 54(5), 499-503.
- Kempton, M. J., Salvador, Z., Munafo, M. R., Geddes, J. R., Simmons, A., Frangou, S., & Williams, S. C. (2011). Structural neuroimaging studies in major depressive disorder. Meta-analysis and comparison with bipolar disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry, 68(7), 675-690.
- Kerchner, G. A., Hess, C. P., Hammond-Rosenbluth, K. E., Xu, D., Rabinovici, G. D., Kelley, D. A., . . . Miller, B. L. (2010). Hippocampal CA1 apical neuropil atrophy in mild Alzheimer disease visualized with 7-T MRI. *Neurology*, 75(15), 1381-1387.
- Kerr, D. S., Campbell, L. W., Applegate, M. D., Brodish, A., & Landfield, P. W. (1991). Chronic stress-induced acceleration of electrophysiologic and morphometric biomarkers of hippocampal aging. *J Neurosci*, 11(5), 1316-1324.
- Kessler, R. C., Chiu, W. T., Demler, O., Merikangas, K. R., & Walters, E. E. (2005a). Prevalence, severity, and comorbidity of 12-month DSM-IV disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. Arch Gen Psychiatry, 62(6), 617-627.

- Kessler, R. C., Demler, O., Frank, R. G., Olfson, M., Pincus, H. A., Walters, E. E., . . . Zaslavsky, A. M. (2005b). Prevalence and treatment of mental disorders, 1990 to 2003. *N Engl J Med*, 352(24), 2515-2523.
- Kiernan, J. A., & Barr, M. L. (2005). Barr's The human nervous system : an anatomical viewpoint (8th ed.). Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- Kim, J. H., Tien, R. D., Felsberg, G. J., Osumi, A. K., & Lee, N. (1994). MR measurements of the hippocampus for lateralization of temporal lobe epilepsy: value of measurements of the body vs the whole structure. *AJR Am J Roentgenol*, 163(6), 1453-1457.
- Klerman, E. B., Gershengorn, H. B., Duffy, J. F., & Kronauer, R. E. (2002). Comparisons of the variability of three markers of the human circadian pacemaker. *J Biol Rhythms*, 17(2), 181-193.
- Kong, Y., Bai, P. S., Sun, H., & Nan, K. J. (2012). Expression of the newly identified gene CAC1 in the hippocampus of Alzheimer's disease patients. J Mol Neurosci, 47(2), 207-218.
- Koolschijn, P. C., van Haren, N. E., Lensvelt-Mulders, G. J., Hulshoff Pol, H. E., & Kahn, R. S. (2009). Brain volume abnormalities in major depressive disorder: a meta-analysis of magnetic resonance imaging studies. *Hum Brain Mapp*, 30(11), 3719-3735.
- Kopelman, M. D., Lasserson, D., Kingsley, D., Bello, F., Rush, C., Stanhope, N., . . Colchester, A. (2001). Structural MRI volumetric analysis in patients with organic amnesia, 2: correlations with anterograde memory and executive tests in 40 patients. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, 71(1), 23-28.
- Kozorovitskiy, Y., & Gould, E. (2004). Dominance hierarchy influences adult neurogenesis in the dentate gyrus. *J Neurosci, 24*(30), 6755-6759.
- Kronenberg, G., Tebartz van Elst, L., Regen, F., Deuschle, M., Heuser, I., & Colla, M. (2009). Reduced amygdala volume in newly admitted psychiatric in-patients with unipolar major depression. *J Psychiatr Res*, 43(13), 1112-1117.
- Krugers, H. J., Maslam, S., Korf, J., Joels, M., & Holsboer, F. (2000). The corticosterone synthesis inhibitor metyrapone prevents hypoxia/ischemiainduced loss of synaptic function in the rat hippocampus. *Stroke*, 31(5), 1162-1172.

- Kulkarni, V. A., Jha, S., & Vaidya, V. A. (2002). Depletion of norepinephrine decreases the proliferation, but does not influence the survival and differentiation, of granule cell progenitors in the adult rat hippocampus. *Eur J Neurosci*, 16(10), 2008-2012.
- Kumaran, D., & Maguire, E. A. (2005). The human hippocampus: cognitive maps or relational memory? *J Neurosci*, 25(31), 7254-7259.
- Kwon, J. S., Shin, Y. W., Kim, C. W., Kim, Y. I., Youn, T., Han, M. H., ... Kim, J. J. (2003). Similarity and disparity of obsessive-compulsive disorder and schizophrenia in MR volumetric abnormalities of the hippocampus-amygdala complex. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 74(7), 962-964.
- Laakso, M. P., Juottonen, K., Partanen, K., Vainio, P., & Soininen, H. (1997). MRI volumetry of the hippocampus: the effect of slice thickness on volume formation. *Magn Reson Imaging*, 15(2), 263-265.
- Lagace, D. C., Donovan, M. H., DeCarolis, N. A., Farnbauch, L. A., Malhotra, S., Berton, O., . . . Eisch, A. J. (2010). Adult hippocampal neurogenesis is functionally important for stress-induced social avoidance. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 107(9), 4436-4441.
- Lai, C. H., & Wu, Y. T. (2011). Duloxetine's modest short-term influences in subcortical structures of first episode drug-naive patients with major depressive disorder and panic disorder. *Psychiatry Res*, 194(2), 157-162.
- Lange, C., & Irle, E. (2004). Enlarged amygdala volume and reduced hippocampal volume in young women with major depression. *Psychol Med*, *34*(6), 1059-1064.
- Lavenex, P., Lavenex, P. B., Bennett, J. L., & Amaral, D. G. (2009). Postmortem changes in the neuroanatomical characteristics of the primate brain: hippocampal formation. *J Comp Neurol*, 512(1), 27-51.
- Lebel, R. M., & Wilman, A. H. (2007). Intuitive design guidelines for fast spin echo imaging with variable flip angle echo trains. *Magn Reson Med*, 57(5), 972-975.
- Lebel, R. M., & Wilman, A. H. (2009). Time-Efficient Fast Spin Echo Imaging at 4.7 T with Low Refocusing Angles. *Magnetic Resonance in Medicine*, 62(1), 96-105.

- Lemaire, V., Koehl, M., Le Moal, M., & Abrous, D. N. (2000). Prenatal stress produces learning deficits associated with an inhibition of neurogenesis in the hippocampus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *97*(20), 11032-11037.
- Leuner, B., & Gould, E. (2010). Structural plasticity and hippocampal function. *Annual Review of Psychology*, *61*, 111-140, C111-113.
- Li, Y. F., Zhang, Y. Z., Liu, Y. Q., Wang, H. L., Yuan, L., & Luo, Z. P. (2004). Moclobemide up-regulates proliferation of hippocampal progenitor cells in chronically stressed mice. *Acta Pharmacol Sin*, 25(11), 1408-1412.
- Liotti, M., Mayberg, H. S., McGinnis, S., Brannan, S. L., & Jerabek, P. (2002). Unmasking disease-specific cerebral blood flow abnormalities: mood challenge in patients with remitted unipolar depression. *Am J Psychiatry*, 159(11), 1830-1840.
- Lorenzetti, V., Allen, N. B., Whittle, S., & Yucel, M. (2010). Amygdala volumes in a sample of current depressed and remitted depressed patients and healthy controls. *J Affect Disord*, *120*(1-3), 112-119.
- Lucassen, P. J., Bosch, O. J., Jousma, E., Kromer, S. A., Andrew, R., Seckl, J. R., & Neumann, I. D. (2009). Prenatal stress reduces postnatal neurogenesis in rats selectively bred for high, but not low, anxiety: possible key role of placental 11beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2. *Eur J Neurosci, 29*(1), 97-103.
- Lucassen, P. J., Muller, M. B., Holsboer, F., Bauer, J., Holtrop, A., Wouda, J., . . . Swaab, D. F. (2001). Hippocampal apoptosis in major depression is a minor event and absent from subareas at risk for glucocorticoid overexposure. *American Journal of Pathology*, 158(2), 453-468.
- Luine, V. N., Spencer, R. L., & McEwen, B. S. (1993). Effects of chronic corticosterone ingestion on spatial memory performance and hippocampal serotonergic function. *Brain Res*, 616(1-2), 65-70.
- MacQueen, G. M., Campbell, S., McEwen, B. S., Macdonald, K., Amano, S., Joffe, R. T., . . . Young, L. T. (2003). Course of illness, hippocampal function, and hippocampal volume in major depression. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *100*(3), 1387-1392.
- MacQueen, G. M., Yucel, K., Taylor, V. H., Macdonald, K., & Joffe, R. (2008). Posterior hippocampal volumes are associated with remission rates in patients with major depressive disorder. *Biol Psychiatry*, *64*(10), 880-883.

- Madsen, T. M., Treschow, A., Bengzon, J., Bolwig, T. G., Lindvall, O., & Tingstrom, A. (2000). Increased neurogenesis in a model of electroconvulsive therapy. *Biol Psychiatry*, 47(12), 1043-1049.
- Magarinos, A. M., Deslandes, A., & McEwen, B. S. (1999). Effects of antidepressants and benzodiazepine treatments on the dendritic structure of CA3 pyramidal neurons after chronic stress. *Eur J Pharmacol*, 371(2-3), 113-122.
- Magarinos, A. M., McEwen, B. S., Flugge, G., & Fuchs, E. (1996). Chronic psychosocial stress causes apical dendritic atrophy of hippocampal CA3 pyramidal neurons in subordinate tree shrews. *J Neurosci, 16*(10), 3534-3540.
- Maguire, E. A., Burgess, N., Donnett, J. G., Frackowiak, R. S. J., Frith, C. D., & O'Keefe, J. (1998). Knowing where and getting there: A human navigation network. *Science*, 280(5365), 921-924.
- Maguire, E. A., Frackowiak, R. S., & Frith, C. D. (1997). Recalling routes around london: activation of the right hippocampus in taxi drivers. *J Neurosci*, 17(18), 7103-7110.
- Maguire, E. A., Valentine, E. R., Wilding, J. M., & Kapur, N. (2003). Routes to remembering: the brains behind superior memory. *Nat Neurosci*, 6(1), 90-95.
- Malberg, J. E., & Duman, R. S. (2003). Cell proliferation in adult hippocampus is decreased by inescapable stress: Reversal by fluoxetine treatment. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 28(9), 1562-1571.
- Malberg, J. E., Eisch, A. J., Nestler, E. J., & Duman, R. S. (2000). Chronic antidepressant treatment increases neurogenesis in adult rat hippocampus. J *Neurosci*, 20(24), 9104-9110.
- Maller, J. J., Daskalakis, Z. J., & Fitzgerald, P. B. (2007). Hippocampal volumetrics in depression: the importance of the posterior tail. *Hippocampus*, *17*(11), 1023-1027.
- Maller, J. J., Daskalakis, Z. J., Thomson, R. H., Daigle, M., Barr, M. S., & Fitzgerald, P. B. (2012). Hippocampal volumetrics in treatment-resistant depression and schizophrenia: the devil's in de-tail. *Hippocampus*, 22(1), 9-16.

- Maller, J. J., Reglade-Meslin, C., Anstey, K. J., & Sachdev, P. (2006). Sex and symmetry differences in hippocampal volumetrics: before and beyond the opening of the crus of the fornix. *Hippocampus*, *16*(1), 80-90.
- Malykhin, N. V., Bouchard, T. P., Ogilvie, C. J., Coupland, N. J., Seres, P., & Camicioli, R. (2007). Three-dimensional volumetric analysis and reconstruction of amygdala and hippocampal head, body and tail. *Psychiatry Res*, 155(2), 155-165.
- Malykhin, N. V., Carter, R., Hegadoren, K. M., Seres, P., & Coupland, N. J. (2012). Fronto-limbic volumetric changes in major depressive disorder. J Affect Disord, 136(3), 1104-1113.
- Malykhin, N. V., Carter, R., Seres, P., & Coupland, N. J. (2010b). Structural changes in the hippocampus in major depressive disorder: contributions of disease and treatment. *J Psychiatry Neurosci*, 35(5), 337-343.
- Malykhin, N. V., Lebel, R. M., Coupland, N. J., Wilman, A. H., & Carter, R. (2010a). In vivo quantification of hippocampal subfields using 4.7 T fast spin echo imaging. *Neuroimage*, 49(2), 1224-1230.
- Mani, R. B., Lohr, J. B., & Jeste, D. V. (1986). Hippocampal pyramidal cells and aging in the human: a quantitative study of neuronal loss in sectors CA1 to CA4. *Exp Neurol*, *94*(1), 29-40.
- Mathalon, D. H., Sullivan, E. V., Rawles, J. M., & Pfefferbaum, A. (1993). Correction for head size in brain-imaging measurements. *Psychiatry Res*, 50(2), 121-139.
- Mayberg, H. S., Liotti, M., Brannan, S. K., McGinnis, S., Mahurin, R. K., Jerabek, P. A., . . . Fox, P. T. (1999). Reciprocal limbic-cortical function and negative mood: converging PET findings in depression and normal sadness. *Am J Psychiatry*, 156(5), 675-682.
- McEwen, B. S. (1999). Stress and hippocampal plasticity. *Annu Rev Neurosci*, 22, 105-122.
- McEwen, B. S. (2001). Plasticity of the hippocampus: adaptation to chronic stress and allostatic load. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, *933*, 265-277.
- McEwen, B. S. (2007). Physiology and neurobiology of stress and adaptation: Central role of the brain. *Physiological Reviews*, 87(3), 873-904.

- McEwen, B. S., & Gianaros, P. J. (2010). Central role of the brain in stress and adaptation: links to socioeconomic status, health, and disease. *Ann N Y Acad Sci, 1186*, 190-222.
- McEwen, B. S., Weiss, J. M., & Schwartz, L. S. (1968). Selective retention of corticosterone by limbic structures in rat brain. *Nature*, 220(5170), 911-912.
- McKinnon, M. C., Yucel, K., Nazarov, A., & MacQueen, G. M. (2009). A metaanalysis examining clinical predictors of hippocampal volume in patients with major depressive disorder. *J Psychiatry Neurosci*, *34*(1), 41-54.
- McLaughlin, K. J., Gomez, J. L., Baran, S. E., & Conrad, C. D. (2007). The effects of chronic stress on hippocampal morphology and function: An evaluation of chronic restraint paradigms. *Brain Research*, *1161*, 56-64.
- Meaney, M. J., & Aitken, D. H. (1985). [3H]Dexamethasone binding in rat frontal cortex. *Brain Res*, 328(1), 176-180.
- Mellet, E., Bricogne, S., Tzourio-Mazoyer, N., Ghaem, O., Petit, L., Zago, L., . . . Denis, M. (2000). Neural correlates of topographic mental exploration: The impact of route versus survey perspective learning. *Neuroimage*, 12(5), 588-600.
- Mervaala, E., Fohr, J., Kononen, M., Valkonen-Korhonen, M., Vainio, P., Partanen, K., . . . Lehtonen, J. (2000). Quantitative MRI of the hippocampus and amygdala in severe depression. *Psychol Med*, *30*(1), 117-125.
- Messina, D., Cerasa, A., Condino, F., Arabia, G., Novellino, F., Nicoletti, G., . . . Quattrone, A. (2011). Patterns of brain atrophy in Parkinson's disease, progressive supranuclear palsy and multiple system atrophy. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord*, 17(3), 172-176.
- Milne, A. M., MacQueen, G. M., & Hall, G. B. (2012). Abnormal hippocampal activation in patients with extensive history of major depression: an fMRI study. *J Psychiatry Neurosci*, *37*(1), 28-36.
- Mirescu, C., & Gould, E. (2006a). Stress and adult neurogenesis. *Hippocampus*, *16*(3), 233-238.
- Mirescu, C., Peters, J. D., & Gould, E. (2004). Early life experience alters response of adult neurogenesis to stress. *Nat Neurosci*, 7(8), 841-846.

- Mirescu, C., Peters, J. D., Noiman, L., & Gould, E. (2006b). Sleep deprivation inhibits adult neurogenesis in the hippocampus by elevating glucocorticoids. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 103(50), 19170-19175.
- Monkul, E. S., Hatch, J. P., Nicoletti, M. A., Spence, S., Brambilla, P., Lacerda, A. L., . . . Soares, J. C. (2007). Fronto-limbic brain structures in suicidal and non-suicidal female patients with major depressive disorder. *Mol Psychiatry*, 12(4), 360-366.
- Morris, R. G., Garrud, P., Rawlins, J. N., & O'Keefe, J. (1982). Place navigation impaired in rats with hippocampal lesions. *Nature*, 297(5868), 681-683.
- Mountcastle, V. B. (1995). The Parietal System and Some Higher Brain Functions. *Cerebral Cortex*, 5(5), 377-390.
- Mueller, S. G., Chao, L. L., Berman, B., & Weiner, M. W. (2011). Evidence for functional specialization of hippocampal subfields detected by MR subfield volumetry on high resolution images at 4 T. *Neuroimage*, 56(3), 851-857.
- Mueller, S. G., Schuff, N., Raptentsetsang, S., Elman, J., & Weiner, M. W. (2008). Selective effect of Apo e4 on CA3 and dentate in normal aging and Alzheimer's disease using high resolution MRI at 4 T. *Neuroimage*, 42(1), 42-48.
- Mueller, S. G., Stables, L., Du, A. T., Schuff, N., Truran, D., Cashdollar, N., & Weiner, M. W. (2007). Measurement of hippocampal subfields and agerelated changes with high resolution MRI at 4T. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 28(5), 719-726.
- Muller, M. B., Lucassen, P. J., Yassouridis, A., Hoogendijk, W. J. G., Holsboer, F., & Swaab, D. F. (2001). Neither major depression nor glucocorticoid treatment affects the cellular integrity of the human hippocampus. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 14(10), 1603-1612.
- Murray, C. J., & Lopez, A. D. (1996). Evidence-based health policy--lessons from the Global Burden of Disease Study. *Science*, 274(5288), 740-743.
  Nadel, L., & Moscovitch, M. (1997). Memory consolidation, retrograde amnesia and the hippocampal complex. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 7(2), 217-227.
- Nakada, T., Kwee, I. L., Fujii, Y., & Knight, R. T. (2005). High-field, T2 reversed MRI of the hippocampus in transient global amnesia. *Neurology*, 64(7), 1170-1174.

- Nakamura, H., Katayama, Y., & Kawakami, Y. (2010). Hippocampal CA1/subiculum-prefrontal cortical pathways induce plastic changes of nociceptive responses in cingulate and prelimbic areas. *BMC Neurosci*, *11*, 100.
- Nasrallah, H. A., Hopkins, T., & Pixley, S. K. (2010). Differential effects of antipsychotic and antidepressant drugs on neurogenic regions in rats. *Brain Res*, 1354, 23-29.
- Neumeister, A., Wood, S., Bonne, O., Nugent, A. C., Luckenbaugh, D. A., Young, T., . . . Drevets, W. C. (2005). Reduced hippocampal volume in unmedicated, remitted patients with major depression versus control subjects. *Biol Psychiatry*, 57(8), 935-937.
- Nilsson, M., Perfilieva, E., Johansson, U., Orwar, O., & Eriksson, P. S. (1999). Enriched environment increases neurogenesis in the adult rat dentate gyrus and improves spatial memory. *J Neurobiol*, *39*(4), 569-578.
- Norrholm, S. D., & Ouimet, C. C. (2001). Altered dendritic spine density in animal models of depression and in response to antidepressant treatment. *Synapse*, *42*(3), 151-163.
- O'Driscoll, G. A., Florencio, P. S., Gagnon, D., Wolff, A. V., Benkelfat, C., Mikula, L., . . . Evans, A. C. (2001). Amygdala-hippocampal volume and verbal memory in first-degree relatives of schizophrenic patients. *Psychiatry Res*, 107(2), 75-85.
- O'Keefe, J., & Dostrovsky, J. (1971). The hippocampus as a spatial map. Preliminary evidence from unit activity in the freely-moving rat. *Brain Res*, 34(1), 171-175.
- O'Mara, S. (2006). Controlling hippocampal output: the central role of subiculum in hippocampal information processing. *Behav Brain Res*, *174*(2), 304-312.
- Olbrich, H. G., & Braak, H. (1985). Ratio of pyramidal cells versus nonpyramidal cells in sector CA1 of the human Ammon's horn. *Anat Embryol* (*Berl*), 173(1), 105-110.
- Oomen, C. A., Mayer, J. L., de Kloet, E. R., Joels, M., & Lucassen, P. J. (2007). Brief treatment with the glucocorticoid receptor antagonist mifepristone normalizes the reduction in neurogenesis after chronic stress. *Eur J Neurosci*, 26(12), 3395-3401.

- Pan, J. W., Vaughan, J. T., Kuzniecky, R. I., Pohost, G. M., & Hetherington, H. P. (1995). High resolution neuroimaging at 4.1 T. *Magnetic Resonance Imaging*, 13(7), 915-921.
- Pantel, J., O'Leary, D. S., Cretsinger, K., Bockholt, H. J., Keefe, H., Magnotta, V. A., & Andreasen, N. C. (2000). A new method for the in vivo volumetric measurement of the human hippocampus with high neuroanatomical accuracy. *Hippocampus*, 10(6), 752-758.
- Patten, S. B., Williams, J. V., Lavorato, D., Li Wang, J., Khaled, S., & Bulloch, A. G. (2011). Mortality associated with major depression in a Canadian community cohort. *Can J Psychiatry*, 56(11), 658-666.
- Pavlides, C., Kimura, A., Magarinos, A. M., & Mcewen, B. S. (1994). Type-I Adrenal-Steroid Receptors Prolong Hippocampal Long-Term Potentiation. *Neuroreport*, 5(18), 2673-2677.
- Pavlides, C., Kimura, A., Magarinos, A. M., & Mcewen, B. S. (1995a). Hippocampal Homosynaptic Long-Term Depression Depotentiation Induced by Adrenal-Steroids. *Neuroscience*, 68(2), 379-385.
- Pavlides, C., Watanabe, Y., Magarinos, A. M., & McEwen, B. S. (1995b). Opposing roles of type I and type II adrenal steroid receptors in hippocampal long-term potentiation. *Neuroscience*, 68(2), 387-394.
- Pazos, A., Probst, A., & Palacios, J. M. (1987). Serotonin receptors in the human brain--III. Autoradiographic mapping of serotonin-1 receptors. *Neuroscience*, 21(1), 97-122.
- Perera, T. D., Coplan, J. D., Lisanby, S. H., Lipira, C. M., Arif, M., Carpio, C., . . Dwork, A. J. (2007). Antidepressant-induced neurogenesis in the hippocampus of adult nonhuman primates. *J Neurosci*, 27(18), 4894-4901.
- Pham, K., Nacher, J., Hof, P. R., & McEwen, B. S. (2003). Repeated restraint stress suppresses neurogenesis and induces biphasic PSA-NCAM expression in the adult rat dentate gyrus. *Eur J Neurosci*, *17*(4), 879-886.
- Picard, A. (2004, February 4). Ottawa warns of suicide risk for teens on antidepressants. *The Globe and Mail*.

- Poppenk, J., & Moscovitch, M. (2011). A Hippocampal Marker of Recollection Memory Ability among Healthy Young Adults: Contributions of Posterior and Anterior Segments. *Neuron*, 72(6), 931-937.
- Posener, J. A., Wang, L., Price, J. L., Gado, M. H., Province, M. A., Miller, M. I., . . . Csernansky, J. G. (2003). High-dimensional mapping of the hippocampus in depression. *Am J Psychiatry*, 160(1), 83-89.
- Preston, A. R., Bornstein, A. M., Hutchinson, J. B., Gaare, M. E., Glover, G. H., & Wagner, A. D. (2010). High-resolution fMRI of content-sensitive subsequent memory responses in human medial temporal lobe. *J Cogn Neurosci*, 22(1), 156-173.
- Price, J. L., & Drevets, W. C. (2010). Neurocircuitry of mood disorders. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, *35*(1), 192-216.
- Pruessner, J. C., Li, L. M., Serles, W., Pruessner, M., Collins, D. L., Kabani, N., . . Evans, A. C. (2000). Volumetry of hippocampus and amygdala with highresolution MRI and three-dimensional analysis software: minimizing the discrepancies between laboratories. *Cereb Cortex*, 10(4), 433-442.
- Radley, J. J., & Jacobs, B. L. (2002). 5-HT1A receptor antagonist administration decreases cell proliferation in the dentate gyrus. *Brain Res*, 955(1-2), 264-267.
- Rajah, M. N., Kromas, M., Han, J. E., & Pruessner, J. C. (2010). Group differences in anterior hippocampal volume and in the retrieval of spatial and temporal context memory in healthy young versus older adults. *Neuropsychologia*, 48(14), 4020-4030.
- Ramel, W., Goldin, P. R., Eyler, L. T., Brown, G. G., Gotlib, I. H., & McQuaid, J. R. (2007). Amygdala reactivity and mood-congruent memory in individuals at risk for depressive relapse. *Biological Psychiatry*, 61(2), 231-239.
- Ranabir, S., & Reetu, K. (2011). Stress and hormones. *Indian J Endocrinol Metab*, 15(1), 18-22.
- Reif, A., Fritzen, S., Finger, M., Strobel, A., Lauer, M., Schmitt, A., & Lesch, K. P. (2006). Neural stem cell proliferation is decreased in schizophrenia, but not in depression. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 11(5), 514-522.

- Revest, J. M., Dupret, D., Koehl, M., Funk-Reiter, C., Grosjean, N., Piazza, P. V., & Abrous, D. N. (2009). Adult hippocampal neurogenesis is involved in anxiety-related behaviors. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 14(10), 959-967.
- Rodrigue, K. M., & Raz, N. (2004). Shrinkage of the entorhinal cortex over five years predicts memory performance in healthy adults. *J Neurosci*, 24(4), 956-963.
- Roozendaal, B., Phillips, R. G., Power, A. E., Brooke, S. M., Sapolsky, R. M., & McGaugh, J. L. (2001). Memory retrieval impairment induced by hippocampal CA3 lesions is blocked by adrenocortical suppression. *Nature Neuroscience*, 4(12), 1169-1171.
- Saijo, T., Takano, A., Suhara, T., Arakawa, R., Okumura, M., Ichimiya, T., ... Okubo, Y. (2010). Effect of electroconvulsive therapy on 5-HT1A receptor binding in patients with depression: a PET study with [11C]WAY 100635. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol*, 13(6), 785-791.
- Santarelli, L., Saxe, M., Gross, C., Surget, A., Battaglia, F., Dulawa, S., . . . Hen, R. (2003). Requirement of hippocampal neurogenesis for the behavioral effects of antidepressants. *Science*, 301(5634), 805-809.
- Sapolsky, R. M. (1996). Stress, Glucocorticoids, and Damage to the Nervous System: The Current State of Confusion. *Stress*, *1*(1), 1-19.
- Sapolsky, R. M. (1997). McEwen-Induced Modulation of Endocrine History: A Partial Review. *Stress*, 2(1), 1-12.
- Sapolsky, R. M. (2000). Glucocorticoids and hippocampal atrophy in neuropsychiatric disorders. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*, *57*(10), 925-935.
- Sapolsky, R. M. (2004). Is impaired neurogenesis relevant to the affective symptoms of depression? *Biological Psychiatry*, *56*(3), 137-139.
- Sapolsky, R. M., Krey, L. C., & McEwen, B. S. (1985). Prolonged glucocorticoid exposure reduces hippocampal neuron number: implications for aging. J *Neurosci*, 5(5), 1222-1227.
- Savitz, J. B., & Drevets, W. C. (2009). Imaging phenotypes of major depressive disorder: genetic correlates. *Neuroscience*, *164*(1), 300-330.

- Saxe, M. D., Battaglia, F., Wang, J. W., Malleret, G., David, D. J., Monckton, J. E., . . . Drew, M. R. (2006). Ablation of hippocampal neurogenesis impairs contextual fear conditioning and synaptic plasticity in the dentate gyrus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 103(46), 17501-17506.
- Schermuly, I., Wolf, D., Lieb, K., Stoeter, P., & Fellgiebel, A. (2011). State dependent posterior hippocampal volume increases in patients with major depressive disorder. *J Affect Disord*, 135(1-3), 405-409.
- Scoville, W. B., & Milner, B. (1957). Loss of recent memory after bilateral hippocampal lesions. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, 20(1), 11-21.
- Sheline, Y. I., Barch, D. M., Donnelly, J. M., Ollinger, J. M., Snyder, A. Z., & Mintun, M. A. (2001). Increased amygdala response to masked emotional faces in depressed subjects resolves with antidepressant treatment: an fMRI study. *Biol Psychiatry*, 50(9), 651-658.
- Sheline, Y. I., Mintun, M. A., Barch, D. M., Wilkins, C., Snyder, A. Z., & Moerlein, S. M. (2004). Decreased hippocampal 5-HT2A receptor binding in older depressed patients using [F-18] altanserin positron emission tomography. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 29(12), 2235-2241.
- Sheline, Y. I., Price, J. L., Yan, Z. Z., & Mintun, M. A. (2010). Resting-state functional MRI in depression unmasks increased connectivity between networks via the dorsal nexus. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 107(24), 11020-11025.
- Sheline, Y. I., Sanghavi, M., Mintun, M. A., & Gado, M. H. (1999). Depression duration but not age predicts hippocampal volume loss in medically healthy women with recurrent major depression. *J Neurosci, 19*(12), 5034-5043.
- Shelton, A. L., & Gabrieli, J. D. (2002). Neural correlates of encoding space from route and survey perspectives. *J Neurosci*, 22(7), 2711-2717.
- Shen, J. Y., Ghai, K., Sompol, P., Liu, X., Cao, X. B., Iuvone, P. M., & Ye, K. Q. (2012). N-acetyl serotonin derivatives as potent neuroprotectants for retinas. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 109(9), 3540-3545.
- Shenton, M. E., Kikinis, R., Jolesz, F. A., Pollak, S. D., LeMay, M., Wible, C. G., . . . et al. (1992). Abnormalities of the left temporal lobe and thought disorder in schizophrenia. A quantitative magnetic resonance imaging study. *N Engl J Med*, 327(9), 604-612.

- Shepherd, T. M., Ozarslan, E., Yachnis, A. T., King, M. A., & Blackband, S. J. (2007). Diffusion tensor microscopy indicates the cytoarchitectural basis for diffusion anisotropy in the human hippocampus. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol*, 28(5), 958-964.
- Shing, Y. L., Rodrigue, K. M., Kennedy, K. M., Fandakova, Y., Bodammer, N., Werkle-Bergner, M., . . . Raz, N. (2011). Hippocampal subfield volumes: age, vascular risk, and correlation with associative memory. *Front Aging Neurosci*, 3, 2.
- Shors, T. J., Townsend, D. A., Zhao, M. R., Kozorovitskiy, Y., & Gould, E. (2002). Neurogenesis may relate to some but not all types of hippocampaldependent learning. *Hippocampus*, 12(5), 578-584.
- Siegle, G. J., Steinhauer, S. R., Thase, M. E., Stenger, V. A., & Carter, C. S. (2002). Can't Shake that feeling: Event-Related fMRI Assessment of Sustained Amygdala Activity in Response to Emotional Information in Depressed Individuals (vol 51, pg 693, 2001). *Biological Psychiatry*, 52(7), 772-772.
- Simic, G., Kostovic, I., Winblad, B., & Bogdanovic, N. (1997). Volume and number of neurons of the human hippocampal formation in normal aging and Alzheimer's disease. J Comp Neurol, 379(4), 482-494.
- Singer, B. H., Jutkiewicz, E. M., Fuller, C. L., Lichtenwalner, R. J., Zhang, H., Velander, A. J., . . . Parent, J. M. (2009). Conditional ablation and recovery of forebrain neurogenesis in the mouse. *J Comp Neurol*, 514(6), 567-582.
- Soininen, H. S., Partanen, K., Pitkanen, A., Vainio, P., Hanninen, T., Hallikainen, M., . . . Riekkinen, P. J., Sr. (1994). Volumetric MRI analysis of the amygdala and the hippocampus in subjects with age-associated memory impairment: correlation to visual and verbal memory. *Neurology*, 44(9), 1660-1668.
- Son, G. H., Chung, S., & Kim, K. (2011). The adrenal peripheral clock: glucocorticoid and the circadian timing system. *Front Neuroendocrinol*, 32(4), 451-465.
- Song, J., Christian, K. M., Ming, G. L., & Song, H. (2012). Modification of hippocampal circuitry by adult neurogenesis. *Dev Neurobiol*, 72(7), 1032-1043.

- Sousa, N., Lukoyanov, N. V., Madeira, M. D., Almeida, O. F., & Paula-Barbosa, M. M. (2000). Reorganization of the morphology of hippocampal neurites and synapses after stress-induced damage correlates with behavioral improvement. *Neuroscience*, 97(2), 253-266.
- Spielmeyer, W. (1927). The pathogenesis of epileptic convulsions. Histopathological part. Zeitschrift Fur Die Gesamte Neurologie Und Psychiatrie, 109, 501-520.
- Spiers, H. J., & Maguire, E. A. (2007). A navigational guidance system in the human brain. *Hippocampus*, *17*(8), 618-626.
- Squire, L. R. (2004). Memory systems of the brain: a brief history and current perspective. *Neurobiol Learn Mem*, 82(3), 171-177.
- Steingard, R. J., Renshaw, P. F., Hennen, J., Lenox, M., Cintron, C. B., Young, A. D., . . . Yurgelun-Todd, D. A. (2002). Smaller frontal lobe white matter volumes in depressed adolescents. *Biol Psychiatry*, 52(5), 413-417.
- Steingard, R. J., Renshaw, P. F., Yurgelun-Todd, D., Appelmans, K. E., Lyoo, I. K., Shorrock, K. L., . . . Barnes, P. (1996). Structural abnormalities in brain magnetic resonance images of depressed children. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry, 35(3), 307-311.
- Stockmeier, C. A., Mahajan, G. J., Konick, L. C., Overholser, J. C., Jurjus, G. J., Meltzer, H. Y., . . . Rajkowska, G. (2004). Cellular changes in the postmortem hippocampus in major depression. *Biol Psychiatry*, 56(9), 640-650.
- Stranahan, A. M., Khalil, D., & Gould, E. (2006). Social isolation delays the positive effects of running on adult neurogenesis. *Nature Neuroscience*, 9(4), 526-533.
- Strange, B. A., & Dolan, R. J. (1999). Functional segregation within the human hippocampus. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 4(6), 508-511.
- Sullivan, E. V., Marsh, L., Mathalon, D. H., Lim, K. O., & Pfefferbaum, A. (1995). Anterior hippocampal volume deficits in nonamnesic, aging chronic alcoholics. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, 19(1), 110-122.

- Surget, A., Saxe, M., Leman, S., Ibarguen-Vargas, Y., Chalon, S., Griebel, G., . . . Belzung, C. (2008). Drug-dependent requirement of hippocampal neurogenesis in a model of depression and of antidepressant reversal. *Biol Psychiatry*, 64(4), 293-301.
- Suthana, N., Ekstrom, A., Moshirvaziri, S., Knowlton, B., & Bookheimer, S. (2011). Dissociations Within Human Hippocampal Subregions During Encoding and Retrieval of Spatial Information. *Hippocampus*, 21(7), 694-701.
- Synek, V., & Reuben, J. R. (1976). The ventricular-brain ratio using planimetric measurement of EMI scans. *Br J Radiol*, 49(579), 233-237.
- Szeszko, P. R., Betensky, J. D., Mentschel, C., Gunduz-Bruce, H., Lencz, T., Ashtari, M., . . . Bilder, R. M. (2006). Increased stress and smaller anterior hippocampal volume. *Neuroreport*, 17(17), 1825-1828.
- Tae, W. S., Kim, S. S., Lee, K. U., Nam, E. C., Choi, J. W., & Park, J. I. (2011). Hippocampal shape deformation in female patients with unremitting major depressive disorder. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol*, 32(4), 671-676.
- Takao, K., Nagatani, T., Kitamura, Y., & Yamawaki, S. (1997). Effects of corticosterone on 5-HT1A and 5-HT2 receptor binding and on the receptormediated behavioral responses of rats. *Eur J Pharmacol*, 333(2-3), 123-128.
- Tanapat, P., Hastings, N. B., Rydel, T. A., Galea, L. A., & Gould, E. (2001). Exposure to fox odor inhibits cell proliferation in the hippocampus of adult rats via an adrenal hormone-dependent mechanism. *J Comp Neurol*, 437(4), 496-504.
- Tang, Y., Wang, F., Xie, G., Liu, J., Li, L., Su, L., . . . Blumberg, H. P. (2007). Reduced ventral anterior cingulate and amygdala volumes in medication-naive females with major depressive disorder: A voxel-based morphometric magnetic resonance imaging study. *Psychiatry Res*, 156(1), 83-86.
- Tata, D. A., & Anderson, B. J. (2010). The effects of chronic glucocorticoid exposure on dendritic length, synapse numbers and glial volume in animal models: Implications for hippocampal volume reductions in depression. *Physiology & Behavior*, 99(2), 186-193.
- Tebartz van Elst, L., Hesslinger, B., Thiel, T., Geiger, E., Haegele, K., Lemieux, L., . . . Ebert, D. (2003). Frontolimbic brain abnormalities in patients with borderline personality disorder: a volumetric magnetic resonance imaging study. *Biol Psychiatry*, *54*(2), 163-171.

- Teicher, M. H., Anderson, C. M., & Polcari, A. (2012). Childhood maltreatment is associated with reduced volume in the hippocampal subfields CA3, dentate gyrus, and subiculum. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 109(9), E563-E572.
- ter Horst, J. P., van der Mark, M. H., Arp, M., Berger, S., de Kloet, E. R., & Oitzl, M. S. (2012). Stress or no stress: mineralocorticoid receptors in the forebrain regulate behavioral adaptation. *Neurobiol Learn Mem*, 98(1), 33-40.
- Teyler, T. J., & DiScenna, P. (1984). The topological anatomy of the hippocampus: a clue to its function. *Brain Res Bull*, *12*(6), 711-719.
- Theysohn, J. M., Kraff, O., Maderwald, S., Schlamann, M. U., de Greiff, A., Forsting, M., . . . Gizewski, E. R. (2009). The Human Hippocampus at 7 T-In Vivo MRI. *Hippocampus*, 19(1), 1-7.
- Thomas, B. P., Welch, E. B., Niederhauser, B. D., Whetsell, W. O., Jr., Anderson, A. W., Gore, J. C., . . . Creasy, J. L. (2008). High-resolution 7T MRI of the human hippocampus in vivo. *J Magn Reson Imaging*, *28*(5), 1266-1272.
- Todd, R. D., Neuman, R., Geller, B., Fox, L. W., & Hickok, J. (1993). Genetic studies of affective disorders: should we be starting with childhood onset probands? *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry*, *32*(6), 1164-1171.
- Vakili, K., Pillay, S. S., Lafer, B., Fava, M., Renshaw, P. F., Bonello-Cintron, C. M., & Yurgelun-Todd, D. A. (2000). Hippocampal volume in primary unipolar major depression: a magnetic resonance imaging study. *Biol Psychiatry*, 47(12), 1087-1090.
- van den Bogaard, S. J., Dumas, E. M., Acharya, T. P., Johnson, H., Langbehn, D. R., Scahill, R. I., . . . Roos, R. A. (2011). Early atrophy of pallidum and accumbens nucleus in Huntington's disease. *J Neurol*, *258*(3), 412-420.
- van Eijndhoven, P., van Wingen, G., van Oijen, K., Rijpkema, M., Goraj, B., Jan Verkes, R., . . . Tendolkar, I. (2009). Amygdala volume marks the acute state in the early course of depression. *Biol Psychiatry*, *65*(9), 812-818.
- van Harmelen, A. L., van Tol, M. J., van der Wee, N. J., Veltman, D. J., Aleman, A., Spinhoven, P., . . . Elzinga, B. M. (2010). Reduced medial prefrontal cortex volume in adults reporting childhood emotional maltreatment. *Biol Psychiatry*, 68(9), 832-838.

- van Leemput, K., Bakkour, A., Benner, T., Wiggins, G., Wald, L. L., Augustinack, J., . . . Fischl, B. (2008). Model-based segmentation of hippocampal subfields in ultra-high resolution in vivo MRI. *Med Image Comput Comput Assist Interv*, 11(Pt 1), 235-243.
- van Petten, C. (2004b). Relationship between hippocampal volume and memory ability in healthy individuals across the lifespan: review and meta-analysis. *Neuropsychologia*, *42*(10), 1394-1413.
- van Petten, C., Plante, E., Davidson, P. S. R., Kuo, T. Y., Bajuscak, L., & Glisky, E. L. (2004a). Memory and executive function in older adults: relationships with temporal and prefrontal gray matter volumes and white matter hyperintensities. *Neuropsychologia*, 42(10), 1313-1335.
- Vermetten, E., Vythilingam, M., Southwick, S. M., Charney, D. S., & Bremner, J. D. (2003). Long-term treatment with paroxetine increases verbal declarative memory and hippocampal volume in posttraumatic stress disorder. *Biol Psychiatry*, 54(7), 693-702.
- Videbech, P., & Ravnkilde, B. (2004). Hippocampal volume and depression: a meta-analysis of MRI studies. *Am J Psychiatry*, *161*(11), 1957-1966.
- Videbech, P., Ravnkilde, B., Pedersen, T. H., Hartvig, H., Egander, A., Clemmensen, K., . . . Rosenberg, R. (2002). The Danish PET/depression project: clinical symptoms and cerebral blood flow. A regions-of-interest analysis. *Acta Psychiatr Scand*, 106(1), 35-44.
- Vollmann-Honsdorf, G. K., Flugge, G., & Fuchs, E. (1997). Chronic psychosocial stress does not affect the number of pyramidal neurons in tree shrew hippocampus. *Neurosci Lett*, 233(2-3), 121-124.
- Volman, S. F., Grubb, T. C., Jr., & Schuett, K. C. (1997). Relative hippocampal volume in relation to food-storing behavior in four species of woodpeckers. *Brain Behav Evol*, 49(2), 110-120.
- von Gunten, A., Fox, N. C., Cipolotti, L., & Ron, M. A. (2000). A volumetric study of hippocampus and amygdala in depressed patients with subjective memory problems. *J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci*, *12*(4), 493-498.
- Vythilingam, M., Heim, C., Newport, J., Miller, A. H., Anderson, E., Bronen, R., . . . Bremner, J. D. (2002). Childhood trauma associated with smaller hippocampal volume in women with major depression. *Am J Psychiatry*, 159(12), 2072-2080.

- Vythilingam, M., Vermetten, E., Anderson, G. M., Luckenbaugh, D., Anderson, E. R., Snow, J., . . . Bremner, J. D. (2004). Hippocampal volume, memory, and cortisol status in major depressive disorder: effects of treatment. *Biol Psychiatry*, 56(2), 101-112.
- Walther, S., Hofle, O., Federspiel, A., Horn, H., Hugli, S., Wiest, R., . . . Muller, T. J. (2012). Neural correlates of disbalanced motor control in major depression. J Affect Disord, 136(1-2), 124-133.
- Wang, J. W., David, D. J., Monckton, J. E., Battaglia, F., & Hen, R. (2008). Chronic fluoxetine stimulates maturation and synaptic plasticity of adult-born hippocampal granule cells. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 28(6), 1374-1384.
- Warden, D., Rush, A. J., Trivedi, M. H., Fava, M., & Wisniewski, S. R. (2007). The STAR\*D Project results: a comprehensive review of findings. *Curr Psychiatry Rep*, 9(6), 449-459.
- Watanabe, Y., Gould, E., & McEwen, B. S. (1992). Stress induces atrophy of apical dendrites of hippocampal CA3 pyramidal neurons. *Brain Res*, 588(2), 341-345.
- Watson, C., Andermann, F., Gloor, P., Jones-Gotman, M., Peters, T., Evans, A., . . . Leroux, G. (1992). Anatomic basis of amygdaloid and hippocampal volume measurement by magnetic resonance imaging. *Neurology*, 42(9), 1743-1750.
- Watson, D., Clark, L. A., Weber, K., Assenheimer, J. S., Strauss, M. E., & McCormick, R. A. (1995b). Testing a tripartite model: II. Exploring the symptom structure of anxiety and depression in student, adult, and patient samples. *J Abnorm Psychol*, 104(1), 15-25.
- Watson, D., Weber, K., Assenheimer, J. S., Clark, L. A., Strauss, M. E., & McCormick, R. A. (1995a). Testing a tripartite model: I. Evaluating the convergent and discriminant validity of anxiety and depression symptom scales. J Abnorm Psychol, 104(1), 3-14.
- Weiland, N. G. (1992). Estradiol selectively regulates agonist binding sites on the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor complex in the CA1 region of the hippocampus. *Endocrinology*, 131(2), 662-668.
- Weniger, G., Lange, C., & Irle, E. (2006). Abnormal size of the amygdala predicts impaired emotional memory in major depressive disorder. J Affect Disord, 94(1-3), 219-229.

- West, M. J. (1993). Regionally specific loss of neurons in the aging human hippocampus. *Neurobiol Aging*, 14(4), 287-293.
- Widom, C. S., DuMont, K., & Czaja, S. J. (2007). A prospective investigation of major depressive disorder and comorbidity in abused and neglected children grown up. Arch Gen Psychiatry, 64(1), 49-56.
- Wieshmann, U. C., Symms, M. R., Mottershead, J. P., MacManus, D. G., Barker, G. J., Tofts, P. S., . . . Shorvon, S. D. (1999). Hippocampal layers on high resolution magnetic resonance images: real or imaginary? *J Anat, 195 ( Pt 1)*, 131-135.
- Wilber, A. A., Walker, A. G., Southwood, C. J., Farrell, M. R., Lin, G. L., Rebec, G. V., & Wellman, C. L. (2011). Chronic Stress Alters Neural Activity in Medial Prefrontal Cortex during Retrieval of Extinction. *Neuroscience*, 174, 115-131.
- Wong, D. T., Perry, K. W., & Bymaster, F. P. (2005). Case history: the discovery of fluoxetine hydrochloride (Prozac). *Nat Rev Drug Discov*, 4(9), 764-774.
- Wongpakaran, N., & Wongpakaran, T. (2012). Prevalence of major depressive disorders and suicide in long-term care facilities: a report from northern Thailand. *Psychogeriatrics*, 12(1), 11-17.
- Woollett, K., Glensman, J., & Maguire, E. A. (2008). Non-spatial expertise and hippocampal gray matter volume in humans. *Hippocampus*, 18(10), 981-984.
- Woollett, K., Spiers, H. J., & Maguire, E. A. (2009). Talent in the taxi: a model system for exploring expertise. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences*, 364(1522), 1407-1416.
- Yassa, M. A., Mattfeld, A. T., Stark, S. M., & Stark, C. E. L. (2011). Age-related memory deficits linked to circuit-specific disruptions in the hippocampus. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 108(21), 8873-8878.
- Yin, J. X., Turner, G. H., Lin, H. J., Coons, S. W., & Shi, J. (2011). Deficits in Spatial Learning and Memory is Associated with Hippocampal Volume Loss in Aged Apolipoprotein E4 Mice. *Journal of Alzheimers Disease*, 27(1), 89-98.

- Young, E. A., Carlson, N. E., & Brown, M. B. (2001). Twenty-four-hour ACTH and cortisol pulsatility in depressed women. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 25(2), 267-276.
- Young, K. D., Erickson, K., Nugent, A. C., Fromm, S. J., Mallinger, A. G., Furey, M. L., & Drevets, W. C. (2011). Functional anatomy of autobiographical memory recall deficits in depression. *Psychol Med*, 1-13.
- Yushkevich, P. A., Avants, B. B., Pluta, J., Das, S., Minkoff, D., Mechanic-Hamilton, D., . . . Detre, J. A. (2009). A high-resolution computational atlas of the human hippocampus from postmortem magnetic resonance imaging at 9.4 T. *Neuroimage*, 44(2), 385-398.
- Yushkevich, P. A., Wang, H. Z., Pluta, J., Das, S. R., Craige, C., Avants, B. B., . . . Mueller, S. (2010). Nearly automatic segmentation of hippocampal subfields in in vivo focal T2-weighted MRI. *Neuroimage*, 53(4), 1208-1224.
- Zatz, L. M., & Jernigan, T. L. (1983). The ventricular-brain ratio on computed tomography scans: validity and proper use. *Psychiatry Res*, 8(3), 207-214.
- Zhang, J., Tan, Q., Yin, H., Zhang, X., Huan, Y., Tang, L., ... Li, L. (2011). Decreased gray matter volume in the left hippocampus and bilateral calcarine cortex in coal mine flood disaster survivors with recent onset PTSD. *Psychiatry Res*, 192(2), 84-90.
- Zhong, M., Wang, X., Xiao, J., Yi, J., Zhu, X., Liao, J., . . . Yao, S. (2011). Amygdala hyperactivation and prefrontal hypoactivation in subjects with cognitive vulnerability to depression. *Biol Psychol*, 88(2-3), 233-242.

# Appendix A

More Images Illustrating Hippocampal Anatomy



Figure A.1: Differences between the rat (RAT, above) and human (MAN, below) hippocampi (Duvernoy, 2005) (Appendix B)



Figure A.2: Layers of the HC; see next page

Figure A.2: Layers of the HC; see previous page

Cornu Ammonis (CA) (top):

- A: Pyramidal soma
- 1. Basal axon
- 2. Schaffer collateral
- 3. Basket cell (GABA / inhibitory)
- 4. Basal dendrite
- 5. Apical dendrite
- 8. Connections between basal dendrite of pyramidal neuron and other pyramidal neurons with septal and commissural fibres.
- 9. Mossy fibres
- 10. Septal and commissural fibres
- 11,12. Schaffer collaterals (of other neurons)
- 13 Perforant path (from entorhinal cortex)
- HIP. SUL. Hippocampal sulcus (vestigial)

Dentate Gyrus (DG) (bottom):

- B: Granular soma
- 6. Apical dendrite of granular neuron
- 7. Basal of granular neuron (mossy fibre, to CA3/4)
- 14. Perforant path (from entorhinal cortex)
- 15. Commissural fibres
- 16. Septal fibres

(Duvernoy, 2005) (Appendix B)

Layers of the CA: ALVEUS STR. ORIENS– Stratum oriens STR. PYR. – Stratum pyramidale STR. LUC. – Stratum lucidum STR. RAD. – Stratum radiatum STR. LAC. – Stratum lacunosum STR. MOL. (above HIP. SUL.) –

Stratum moleculare of CA

Layers of the DG: STR. MOL. (2/3 & 1/3) – Stratum moleculare of DG STR. GR. – Stratum granulosum POLY. LAY. – Polymorphic layer



Figure A.3: The direct intrahippocampal pathway A – Inputs through the perirhinal cortex (also see Figure A.4) ENT – entorhinal area, layer III SUB – Sub

- 1. Entorhinal area directly projecting to CA1 pyramidal neurons
- 2. CA1 pyramidal neurons' basal axons innervate Sub
- 3. Axons in the Sub return the projections to the deep layers of the entorhinal cortex

4. These neurons send signals to the association cortex (also see Figure A.4) (Duvernoy, 2005) (Appendix B)



Figure A.4: Cortical connections to and from the direct intrahippocampal pathway 1. Intrahippocampal circuitry (also see Figure A.3)

INPUT:

6. Fibres from the inferior visual system to inferior temporal association cortex (area 37), connecting via the perirhinal cortex (areas 35, 36) to the entorhinal cortex

OUTPUT:

- 2. Fibres from the deep layers of the entorhinal cortex reach:
  - 3. The temporal association cortex
  - 4. The temporal pole
  - 5. The prefrontal cortex

(Duvernoy, 2005) (Appendix B)



Figure A.5: The polysynaptic intrahippocampal pathway

- 1. Alveus; 2. Stratum pyramidale; 3. Schaffer collaterals;
  - 4. Axons of pyramidal neurons; 5. Strata lacunosum and radiatum;
  - 6, 8. Stratum moleculare; 7. Hippocampal sulcus (vestigial);
  - 9. Stratum granulosum

ENT – Layer II of entorhinal area; DG; CA1, CA3 – CA fields 1,3; SUB – Sub

- A. Entorhinal cortex projects to the dentate gyrus (DG) through the Sub
- B. The fibres from the DG cross over to stimulate the CA3 and CA4
- C. In the CA3 and CA4, pyramidal neurons' Schaffer collaterals project to pyramidal neurons' apical dendrites in the CA1\*
- D. The CA1's pyramidal neurons send projections to the Sub\*
- E. The Sub's pyramidal neurons send the remainder of signals into the fimbria (also see Figure A.6)
- \* Note: the CA fields also have some direct projections to the fimbria via the alveus

(Duvernoy, 2005) (Appendix B)



Figure A.6: Cortical connections to and from the polysynaptic intrahippocampal pathway

### **INPUTS**:

- 8. Fibres originate from the superior visual system
- 7. Fibres project the posterior parietal association cortex
- 9. These fibres run through the parahippocampal gyrus
- 10. Fibres end up projecting to the entorhinal area via the perforant pathway (10')

(also see Figure A.5)

### OUTPUTS:

- 1-3 Fibres reach and cross the fornix (just posterior to the anterior commissure (3')
- 4-6 Then, fibres run through the mamillothalamic tract (or directly) to the thalamus (6')

Then, from the anterior thalamic tract, they project mainly to: Area 23: The posterior cingulate Area 29, 30: The retrosplenial cortices

Area 24: The anterior cingulate cortex

(Duvernoy, 2005) (Appendix B)

## Appendix B

### Permission for the Use of Copyrighted Material

This thesis contains images from *The Human Hippocampus: Functional Anatomy, Vascularization and Serial Sections with MRI*, Third Edition (2005) by Henry M. Duvernoy, included with kind permission from Springer Science+Business Media.

Images were used from:

### **Chapter 3: Structure, Functions, and Connections**

Section 3.2: Figure 6 (page 19); Figure 7 (page 20); Figure 8 (page 21); Figures 11 & 12 (page 20); Figure 13 (page 25); Figures 15 & 16 (page 34) Section 3.3: Figures 17, 18 (page 35); Figure 32 (page 58)

### Chapter 4: Anatomy

Section 4.4: Figure 101 (page 130)

**Chapter 7: Sectional Anatomy and Magnetic Resonance Imaging** 

Section 7.1: Figure 102B (page 132); Figure 102B' (page 133);

Figure 102D (page 135); Figure 103B (page 136);

Figure 103B' (page 137); Figure 106B (page 148);

Figure 106B' (page 149); Figure 107B (page 153)

#### Original copyright notice from Duvernoy (2005):

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilm or in any other way, and storage in data banks. Duplication of this publication or parts thereof is permitted only under the provisions of the German Copyright Law of September 9, 1965, in its current version, and permission for use must always be obtained from Springer-Verlag. Violations are liable to prosecution under the German Copyright Law.

Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg New York Springer is a part of Springer Science+Business Media http://www.springeronline.com

© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2005 Printed in Germany

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use. Product liability: The publishers cannot guarantee the accuracy of any information about the application of operative techniques and medications contained in this book. In every individual case the user must check such information by consulting the relevant literature.